In vitro studies on the effect of red wine polyphenols and cyclic guanosine monophosphate export in the regulation of vascular and erectile tone

Charlotte Boydens

Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Apr. J. Van de Voorde

Heymans Institute of Pharmacology – Vascular Research Unit

Thesis submitted in the fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of 'Doctor of Health Sciences'

2017

Supervisor:

Prof. Dr. Apr. Johan Van de Voorde

Heymans Institute of Pharmacology

Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences – Ghent University, Belgium

Members of the Doctoral Examination Committee:

Prof. Dr. Johan Vande Walle

Department of Pediatrics and medical genetics

Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences – Ghent University, Belgium

Prof. Dr. Romain Lefebvre

Heymans Institute of Pharmacology

Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences – Ghent University, Belgium

Prof. Dr. Mirko Petrovic

Department of Internal Medicine, Geriatrics

Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences – Ghent University, Belgium

Prof. Dr. Isabelle Colle

Department of Internal Medicine, Gastroenterology

Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences – Ghent University, Belgium

Prof. Dr. Maarten Albersen

Department of Urology

University Hospitals Leuven, Gasthuisberg – Leuven, Belgium

Prof. Dr. Dolores Prieto

Department of Physiology

Faculty of Pharmacy – Complutense University of Madrid – Madrid, Spain

Table of contents

List of abbreviationsi
Chapter I Introduction
I.1 Vascular function
I.1.1 Mechanism of vasoconstriction (Fig. I.1)7
I.1.2 Mechanism of vasorelaxation (Fig. I.2)10
I.2 Paracrine modulation of vascular tone
I.2.1 Endothelium15
I.2.2 Perivascular adipose tissue
I.3 Erectile function
I.3.1 Anatomy of the penis (Fig. I.8)20
I.3.2 Regulation of penile erection21
I.3.3 Erectile dysfunction23
I.4 Polyphenols 24
I.4.1 Resveratrol and quercetin26
I.4.2 Resveratrol and quercetin as therapeutic agents
Chapter II Aims and main research questions 49
II.1 General aims
II.2 Main research questions
II.2.1 Chapter IV - Can the relaxing influence of PVAT be positively or negatively modulated by resveratrol treatment and/or testosterone depletion?
II.2.2 Chapter V & VI - Do resveratrol and/or quercetin exert positive effects on corpora cavernosa? How do they work? Do they work under in vitro-diabetic conditions?52
II.2.3 Chapter VII - Does inhibition of cGMP export elicit positive relaxant responses in mouse corpora cavernosa?
Chapter III Adipose tissue as regulator of vascular tone
III.1 Abstract
III.2 Introduction
III.3 Sources of vasoactive adipokines 58

III.4 Adipocytes in obesity	. 58
III.5 Vasoactive adipokines (Fig.III.1)	. 59
III.5.1 Leptin	60
III.5.2 Adiponectin	60
III.5.3 Omentin	62
III.5.4 Visfatin	63
III.5.5 Angiotensinogen/Angiotensin II	63
III.5.6 Resistin	64
III.5.7 Tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF $_{lpha}$)	64
III.5.8 Interleukin-6 (IL-6)	64
III.5.9 Apelin	65
III.5.10 Perivascular adipocyte-derived relaxing and contractile factors (PVADRF and	
PVADCF)	65
III.6 Conclusions	. 68
III.7 Acknowledgements and funding	. 69
III.9 References	. 70

Chapter IV Effect of resveratrol and orchidectomy on the vasorelaxing influence of	
perivascular adipose tissue	75
IV.1 Abstract	77
IV.2 Introduction	78
IV.3 Materials and methods	79
IV.3.1 Animals and orchidectomy	79
IV.3.2 Tissue preparation	79
IV.3.3 Experimental protocol	81
IV.3.4 Drugs and chemicals	81
IV.3.5 Statistics	81
IV.4 Results	81
IV.4.1 Influence of resveratrol on PVAT modulated contractility	81
IV.4.2 Concentration-response curves of resveratrol in (-)PVAT and (+)PVAT preparatio	ons 84
IV.4.3 Influence of orchidectomy on PVAT modulated contractility.	84
IV.5 Discussion	86
IV.6 Acknowledgments	89

	90
Chapter V Relaxant and antioxidant capacity of the red wine polyphenols, res	veratrol and
V 1 Abstract	
V.2 Introduction	
V 3 Aim	97
V 4 Materials and methods	97
V 4 1 Animals	
$\sqrt{4}$	رو
V.4.2 Experimental protocol	۵۵
V.4.5 Experimental protocol	
V.4.5 Statistics	100
	100
V.5 Main outcome measures	100
V.6 Results	101
V.6.1 Effect of resveratrol and quercetin on precontracted mice aorta and	corpora
cavernosa	
V.6.2 Involvement of NO/sGC pathway	
V.6.3 Involvement of other possible mediators	104
V.6.4 Effect of resveratrol and quercetin on NO-mediated relaxation of con	pora
cavernosa	105
V 7 Discussion	109
V.8 Conclusions	112
V.9 Acknowledgements	112 112

Chapter VI Protective effect of resveratrol and quercetin on in vitro-induced diabetic	
VI 1 Abstract	.119
VI.2 Introduction	120
VI.3 Materials and methods	120
VI.3.1 Animals	120
VI.3.2 Tissue preparation	121
VI.3.3 Experimental protocol	121

VI.3.4 Drugs and chemicals122
VI.3.5 Statistics
VI.4 Results122
VI.4.1 Relaxant capacity of resveratrol and quercetin in presence of high glucose and MGO
VI.4.2 High glucose and MGO impair Ach- and EFS-relaxations
VI.4.3 Role of oxidative stress in glucose and MGO-impaired relaxations
VI.4.4 Effect of resveratrol and quercetin on glucose and MGO-impaired relaxations. 130
VI.5 Discussion133
VI.5.1 Diabetic (neuro)vascular damage induced by in vitro high glucose and MGO treatment
VI.5.2 Aorta versus mesenteric arteries134
VI.5.3 Corpora cavernosa134
VI.5.4 Oxidative stress as underlying cause of in vitro-diabetic damage
VI.5.5 Resveratrol and quercetin in diabetic conditions136
VI.5.6 Limitations137
VI.6 Conclusions137
VI.7. Acknowledgements138
VI.8 References139

Chapter VII Inhibition of cyclic GMP export by multidrug resistance protein 4: a new	
strategy to treat erectile dysfunction?	143
VII.1 Abstract	145
VII.2 Introduction	147
VII.3 Aim	147
VII.4 Methods	148
VII.4.1 Animals	148
VII.4.2 In vitro tension measurements	148
VII.3 In vivo study	149
VII.4 cGMP analysis	149
VII.5 Results	151
VII.5.1 In vitro experiments	151
VII.5.2 In vivo experiments	155
VII.5.3 cGMP analysis	156

Discussion157	VII.6 Di
Conclusion160	VII.7 Co
Acknowledgements160	VII.8 Ac
References	VII.9 Re

Chapter VIII Discussion and future perspectives	163
VIII.1 Modulation of vascular tone by perivascular adipose tissue	165
VIII.1.1 Can the relaxing influence of PVAT be positively or negatively modulated by resveratrol treatment and/or testosterone depletion?	166
VIII.2 New strategies to treat erectile dysfunction	169
VIII.2.1 Do resveratrol and/or quercetin exert positive effects on corpora cavernosa? How do they work?	169
VIII.2.2 Do resveratrol and/or quercetin exert positive effects on corpora cavernosa under in vitro-diabetic conditions?	172
VIII.2.3 Does inhibition of cGMP export elicit positive relaxant responses in mouse corpora cavernosa?	175
VIII.2.4 General future considerations	176

Chapter IX Supplementary data187
IX.1 Supplementary data of the effect of PVAT in mesenteric arteries189
IX.2 Supplementary data of the effect of resveratrol on corpora cavernosa from sGCβ ₁ knock-in mice
IX.3 Supplementary data of the involvement of adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase in the relaxant effect of resveratrol on mouse corpora cavernosa191
IX.4 Supplementary data of the effect of MK-571 on mouse aorta192
Chapter X Summary193
Chapter XI Samenvatting197
Curriculum vitae

List of abbreviations

4-AP	4-aminopyridine
8-SPT	8-(p-sulfophenyl)-theophylline
All	angiotensin II
AA	ascorbic acid
AC	adenylyl cyclase
Ach	acetylcholine
ADRF	adipocyte-derived relaxing factor
AMP	adenosine monophosphate
ароЕ	apolipoprotein E
BH ₄	tetrahydrobiopterin
CaM	calcium/calmodulin complex
cAMP	cyclic adenosine monophosphate
cGMP	cyclic guanosine monophosphate
СОХ	cyclooxygenase
CSE	cystathionine gamma-lyase
DAG	diacylglycerol
DMSO	dimethylsulfoxide
EAT	epicardial adipose tissue
ED	erectile dysfunction
EDCFs	endothelium-derived contracting factors
EDHF	endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor
EDRFs	endothelium-derived relaxing factors
EFS	electrical field stimulation
eNOS	endothelial nitric oxide synthase
ER	estrogen receptor
ET-1	endothelin 1
FFA	free fatty acid
GDP	guanosine diphosphate
Glib	glibenclamide

GMP	guanosine monophosphate
GPx	glutathione peroxidases
GS-NO	S-nitroso-L-glutathione
GTP	guanosine triphosphate
H ₂ O ₂	hydrogen peroxide
H-89	dihydrochloride hydrate
HDL	high-density lipoprotein
HG	high glucose
HGF	hepatocyte growth factor
ICAM	intercellular adhesion molecule 1
IL-6	interleukin 6
Indo	indomethacin
iNOS	inducible nitric oxide synthase
IP ₃	inositol triphosphate
K _{ATP}	ATP-sensitive potassium channel
KRB	Krebs-Ringer bicarbonate
Kv	voltage dependent potassium channel
L-NAME	N_{ω} -nitro-L-arginine methyl ester hydrochloride
MGO	methylglyoxal
MLCK	myosin light chain kinase
MLCP	myosin light chain phosphatase
MRP	multidrug resistance protein
NADPH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphatase
NANC	non-adrenergic non-cholinergic
NCX	sodium/calcium exchanger
NHE1	sodium/hydrogen exchanger
nNOS	neuronal nitric oxide synthase
NO	nitric oxide
NOR	norepinephrine
NOS	nitric oxide synthase
NOX	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase

0 ₂ •-	superoxide anion
ODQ	1 H–[1,2,4]oxadiazolo[4,3-A]quinoxalin-1-one
он•	hydroxyl
ONOO"	peroxynitrite
Orx	orchidectomized
РА	palmitic acid
PAI-1	plasminogen activator inhibitor-1
PDEs	phosphodiesterases
pGC	particulate guanylyl cyclase
Phe	phenylephrine
PIP2	phosphatidyl-inositol-4,5-biphosphate
РКА	cyclic adenosine monophosphate-dependent protein kinase
РКС	protein kinase C
PKG	cyclic guanosine monophosphate-dependent protein kinase
PLC	phospholipase C
РМСА	plasma membrane calcium ATPase
ΡΡΑRγ	peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor y
PVADCF	perivascular adipocyte-derived contractile factor
PVADRF	perivascular adipocyte derived relaxing factor
PVAT	perivascular adipose tissue
RhoGAP	RhoA GTPase activating proteins
RhoGDI	RhoA guanosine dissociation inhibitor
RhoGEF	RhoA guanosine exchange factor
ROS	reactive oxygen species
SERCA	sarco/endoplasmic reticulum calcium ATPase
sGC	soluble guanylyl cylase
SIRT1	sirtuin 1
SNEDDS	self-nano-emulsifying drug delivery systems
SNP	sodium nitroprusside
SOD	superoxide dismutase
TEA	tetraethylammoniumchloride

Temp	tempol
ТСА	trichloroacetic acid
TNF_{α}	tumor necrosis factor alpha
TXA ₂	thromboxane A ₂
VCAM	vascular cell adhesion molecule
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
VOCs	voltage-dependent calcium channels
VSMCs	vascular smooth muscle cells
хо	xanthine oxidase
ZnPPIX	zinc protoporphyrin IX

Chapter I

Introduction

Chapter I Introduction

I.1 Vascular function

Blood flow to different organs and tissues is continuously adapted according to their metabolic needs. This is ensured by the pumping heart, which creates an appropriate blood pressure at the entrance of the tissues. Subsequently, local blood flow within the tissues is regulated by intrinsic contractile and relaxing factors that originate from the blood vessel itself or from surrounding tissues. Intrinsic factors include myogenic (i.e. changes in transmural pressure), neurogenic and metabolic (i.e. changes in the concentration of local metabolites) mechanisms. Ultimately these mechanisms will regulate the tone of the vascular smooth muscle cells, mainly by interfering with the intracellular Ca²⁺ levels. Impaired regulation of the vascular tone is an important factor in the pathogenesis of vascular diseases such as hypertension, atherosclerosis, erectile dysfunction and others.

I.1.1 Mechanism of vasoconstriction (Fig. I.1)

Several stimuli can evoke contraction of vascular smooth muscle cells. Regardless of the stimulus, smooth muscle cells use cross-bridge cycling between actin and myosin to develop force which is initiated by an increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration.

In the smooth muscle, stimuli can increase intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration and thus elicit contraction through two processes. The first process is called 'electromechanical coupling' and refers to stimuli (for example KCl or cell stretch) that elicit a contraction by directly initiating depolarization of the smooth muscle membrane. This membrane depolarization leads to opening of voltage-dependent Ca²⁺ channels (VOCs), allowing Ca²⁺ to diffuse into the cell down its concentration gradient. The second process by which intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration can be elevated is called 'pharmacomechanical coupling'. Here, instead of evoking contraction by changing the membrane potential, contractions are induced by the binding of an agonist to a membrane receptor. Subsequently, intracellular molecules or second messengers are produced which elicit the release of Ca²⁺ [1, 2].

Vascular contractile tone is mainly regulated by sympathetic neurons that innervate the arterial wall. One of the key pathways modulating vessel tone is the release of norepinephrine (NOR) from these nerve endings. Upon arrival of the action potential at the

terminal axon, the open probability of plasma membrane Ca^{2+} channels increases resulting in elevated intraneuronal Ca^{2+} concentration [3]. This in turn will trigger the release of NOR, which will diffuse across the neuromuscular junction and will bind predominantly to α_1 adrenergic receptors on the smooth muscle membrane. Binding of the α_1 -receptors, which are coupled to a heterotrimeric G protein, stimulates the activity of phospholipase C (PLC). This enzyme is specific for the membrane phospholipid phosphatidyl-inositol-4,5biphosphate (PIP₂) which catalyzes the formation of two potent second messengers: inositol triphosphate (IP₃) and diacylglycerol (DAG). The binding of IP₃ to IP₃ receptors on the sarcoplasmatic reticulum stimulates the release of Ca^{2+} into the cytosol. DAG also increase intracellular Ca^{2+} content by activating protein kinase C (PKC), which phosphorylates specific target proteins such as VOCs or other proteins that regulate cross-bridge cycling [1, 2, 4-6]. Besides NOR, other agonists such as endothelins, prostaglandins, neuropeptide Y and angiotensin II can also elicit vascular contraction through the aforementioned PIP₂ pathway when binding to their respective G-protein coupled receptors [4, 7].

Elevation of free intracellular Ca²⁺ does not directly stimulate smooth muscle cell contraction. Instead Ca²⁺ acts indirectly by binding to a cytoplasmatic protein, calmodulin, to form a Ca²⁺/calmodulin complex (CaM). This complex then activates the myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) to phosphorylate the light chains on the myosin heads. This phosphorylation enables the molecular interaction of myosin with actin. In addition, actin activates myosin's magnesium-dependent ATPase activity. This ATPase cleaves high-energy phosphate bonds in ATP thus providing the energy needed for the actin-myosin cross-bridge cycling that shortens the muscle cell and produces force [1, 2, 4-6].

Initially smooth muscle contraction is thus induced by the elevation of intracellular Ca²⁺. This results in a phasic (rapid) contraction. However, contractile responses also involve a tonic (slow) contraction phase allowing further force generation and is independent of a rise in intracellular Ca²⁺ levels [2, 5, 6, 8-10]. This pathway, called the Ca²⁺ sensitization mechanism, allows vascular smooth muscle cells to maintain contractile force for a longer period of time at a low cost of energy [2, 5, 6, 8-10]. The Ca²⁺ sensitizing pathway is dependent on the activation of the small G-protein RhoA and its downstream target, Rho kinase. RhoA is a small GTPase that acts as a switch by cycling between an active (guanosine triphosphate (GTP)-bound) and an inactive (guanosine diphosphate (GDP)-bound) conformation. The

activity of RhoA is tightly regulated by three proteins; RhoA guanosine exchange factor (RhoGEF), RhoA GTPase activating proteins (RhoGAP) and RhoA guanosine dissociation inhibitor (RhoGDI) [8, 10-14]. In resting cells, RhoA-GDP is generally trapped in the cytosol by GDIs, which binds to RhoA-GDP and extracts it from the membrane to the cytosol. Activation of RhoGEF, by binding of various agonists to their G-protein coupled receptors, promotes the exchange of GTP for GDP on RhoA and the dissociation from RhoGDI. The activated RhoA-GTP is than able to translocate from the cytosol to the plasma membrane, where it can initiate signal transduction by interacting with Rho kinase. RhoA is inactivated by RhoGAP, which enhances the intrinsic GTPase activity of RhoA, leading to the hydrolysis of GTP to GDP and subsequent inactivation of RhoA. RhoA then re-associates with RhoGDI and relocates to the cytosol [8, 10-14]. In addition inhibition of RhoA-mediated functions can also occur by phosphorylation of RhoA which increases its association with GDIs [15]. Binding of RhoA-GTP with Rho kinase, a serine/threonine kinase, induces a conformational change leading to activation of Rho kinase towards specific substrates. In smooth muscle cells, Rho kinase induces vasoconstriction through the phosphorylation and subsequent inhibition of myosin light chain phosphatase (MLCP), an enzyme that dephosphorylates the myosin light chains and thus promotes smooth muscle relaxation. Due to the Rho kinase inhibition of MLCP, myosin light chains remain phosphorylated and interaction between actin and myosin is favored [16, 17]. In addition, Rho kinase has been shown to directly phosphorylate the myosin light chains [18], allowing interaction with actin. Taken together, the RhoA-Rho kinase pathway results in MLC phosphorylation to promote smooth muscle contraction independent of changes in intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration or MLCK activity but by increasing Ca²⁺ sensitivity.



Figure 1.1 Regulation of smooth muscle contraction. Various agonists bind to their specific receptors to initiate smooth muscle contraction. Activation of these G protein-coupled receptors increases PLC activity which catalyzes the hydrolysis of PIP₂ to produce two potent second messengers: DAG and IP₃. IP₃ binds to specific receptors on the sarcoplasmatic reticulum, yielding the release of Ca²⁺. DAG together with Ca²⁺ activates PKC, which phosphorylates different target proteins in order to further sustain the increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ levels. Free Ca²⁺ binds to calmodulin, resulting in the activation of MLC kinase and subsequent phosphorylation of the light chain of myosin. Subsequently cross-bridge cycling between actin and myosin occurs and the shortening of the smooth muscle cell is initiated. As the elevation in Ca²⁺ levels within the cell is transient, contractile response is maintained by a Ca²⁺ sensitizing mechanism. This Ca²⁺-sensitizing mechanism is initiated at the same time that PLC is activated, and it involves the activation of the small GTP-binding protein RhoA by RhoGEF. Upon activation RhoA enhances Rho kinase activity. This will lead to phosphorylation and inhibition of MLCP, favoring the maintenance of phosphorylated myosin light chain. (Webb et al. [6].)

I.1.2 Mechanism of vasorelaxation (Fig. I.2)

Smooth muscle relaxation occurs when the contractile stimulus is removed or by direct action of a substance that inhibits the contractile mechanism. In all cases, the process of relaxation requires a decrease in intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration and/or increased MLCP activity.



Figure 1.2 Regulation of smooth muscle relaxation. Removal of the contractile stimulus or direct action of a substance stimulates inhibition of the contractile mechanism elicit vasorelaxation. A decrease in intracellular Ca^{2+} levels and/or increased MLCP activity is needed to initiate the relaxation process. Ca,Mg-ATPases in the sarcoplasmatic reticulum and the plasma membrane and Na⁺/ Ca²⁺ exchangers in the plasma membrane all reduce intracellular Ca²⁺ levels by removing Ca²⁺ from the cytosol. Receptor- and voltage-operated Ca²⁺ channels in plasma membrane close during relaxation, leading to a decreased Ca²⁺ entry into the cell. (Webb et al.[6])

There are several ways to lower intracellular Ca^{2+} concentrations and thus elicit vasorelaxation. The first way is removal of the stimulus that is responsible for the increased intracellular Ca^{2+} levels. For example, if the stimulus for contraction is an agonist that binds to its specific membrane receptor, such as NOR, then dissociation of the agonist will end the production of second messengers such as IP₃ and DAG that led to increased intracellular Ca^{2+} levels [1, 2, 4, 6]. If contraction is initiated by an agonist that induces membrane depolarization, such as elevated extracellular K⁺ levels, then removal of this agonist will result in membrane repolarization. As this repolarization is accompanied with the closure of VOCs, influx of extracellular Ca^{2+} will stop. Similarly hyperpolarization of the smooth muscle membrane, due to activation of K⁺ channels and subsequent K⁺ efflux, results in the closure

of VOCs and thus reduced Ca²⁺ influx. As a consequence both repolarization and hyperpolarization of the smooth muscle membrane are associated with vascular smooth muscle relaxation [2].

Another way to lower intracellular Ca²⁺ concentrations involves activation of ATP-dependent Ca²⁺ pumps which are located in the membrane of sarcoplasmatic reticulum as well as in the plasma membrane. In both cases, the pump has an ATPase activity providing the energy needed for moving Ca²⁺ against a concentration gradient. When phosphorylated the Ca,Mg-ATPase in the sarcoplasmatic reticulum (SERCA), binds two Ca²⁺ ions, which are then translocated to the luminal side of the sarcoplasmatic reticulum where they are stored until they are released again. Mg²⁺ is required for the activity of the ATPases as it binds to the catalytic site of ATPase to mediate the reaction. This Ca²⁺ uptake into the sarcoplasmic reticulum is reversibly inhibited by phospholamban. Phosphorylation of phospholamban relieves its inhibitory effect, therefore increasing SERCA activity and the rate of Ca²⁺ uptake [2, 4, 9]. The plasma membrane also contains Ca,Mg-ATPases (PMCA) which provide an additional way to reduce the intracellular Ca^{2+} levels as it will transport Ca^{2+} out of the cell. This Ca,Mg-ATPase differs from the ATPase in the sarcoplasmatic reticulum in that it has an autoinhibitory domain that can be bound by calmodulin, causing stimulation of the plasma membrane Ca^{2+} pump. In addition, Na^+/Ca^{2+} exchangers (NCX) are also located on the plasma membrane. This exchanger transports one Ca²⁺ ion out of the cell in exchange for two sodium ions brought into the cell [1, 2, 4, 6].

A third way by which smooth muscle relaxation can occur is by elevation of levels of the second messengers, cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cGMP) or cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) within the smooth muscle cell. cAMP is synthesized from intracellular ATP by adenylyl cyclase (AC), which can be activated by several agonists that bind to their G-protein-coupled receptor. cGMP may be synthesized in the vascular smooth muscle cells from GTP by a particulate guanylyl cyclase (pGC), located at the plasma membrane and activated by natriuretic peptides, or by soluble guanylyl cyclase (sGC), located in the cytosol and mainly activated by NO and NO donors [1, 19] (Fig. I.3). Upon formation, cAMP activates cAMP-dependent protein kinase (PKA), while cGMP activates both protein kinases. For instance, cAMP can also activate PKG, but it requires nearly a 10-fold

higher cAMP concentration compared to the cGMP levels that activate this kinase [1, 2, 19]. The signals evoked by cAMP and cGMP are mainly ceased and controlled by phosphodiesterases (PDEs). These enzymes catalyze the hydrolysis of cAMP and cGMP to their inactive metabolites adenosine monophosphate (AMP) and guanosine monophosphate (GMP) respectively [1, 19].



Figure 1.3 Regulation of levels of cyclic nucleotides and activation of kinases. Green arrows indicate stimulation. (Morgado et al. [1])

Both PKA and PKG will phosphorylate numbers of targets which all lead to a decrease in intracellular Ca²⁺ concentrations and thus smooth muscle relaxation (Fig. I.4). Several targets for PKA and PKG have been suggested, including K⁺ channels, different types of Ca²⁺ channels (such as those located on the sarcoplasmatic reticulum and VOCs), SERCA, PMCA, NCX, phospholamban, IP₃, RhoA and many others. The net result of all of these PKA- and PKG-mediated effects is a decrease of intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration, leading to a decrease in MLCK activity and/or increase in the MLCP activity through inhibition of RhoA. Subsequently dephosphorylation of the myosin light chains is favored and thus smooth muscle relaxation occurs [1, 4, 19].



Figure 1.4 Mechanisms involved in the decrease of intracellular Ca²⁺ concentrations induced by cyclic nucleotide-dependent protein kinases. Green arrows indicate stimulation, red arrows indicate inhibition. (Morgado et al. [1])

Nitric oxide

Although many endogenous vasodilators have been shown to exert relaxant effects on different vascular beds, nitric oxide (NO) is believed to be the principal mediator of vascular relaxation. NO is a gaseous messenger molecule with a short life-time, that is enzymatically formed together with L-citrulline from L-arginine, molecular oxygen and reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) by NO synthases (NOS) [20, 21]. Constitutive NOS enzymes are present in endothelial cells (eNOS) and in non-adrenergic noncholinergic (NANC) neurons (nNOS). In addition, an inducible NOS (iNOS) isoform exists, which is up-regulated in response to various stimuli [21]. eNOS and nNOS are activated in response to receptor stimulation (e.g. acetylcholine) causing intracellular Ca²⁺ increase and subsequent formation of CaM complexes, which will activate eNOS or nNOS. Subsequent increase in blood flow causes shear stress, which further stimulates eNOS through phosphorylation at the serine 1177 residue, resulting in sustained activation of eNOS [20, 21]. Upon release, from neurons and endothelial cells, NO diffuses to the smooth muscle cell and activates sGC, resulting in an increase of cGMP concentration and thus smooth muscle relaxation. Apart from NO, other vasodilators such as vasoactive intestinal peptide, prostaglandin E₁, prostaglandin I₂ (prostacyclin), substance P, calcitonin gene related peptide, H₂S have been shown to influence smooth muscle tone [4, 22-27]. However their contribution in vessel tone regulation remains rather vague.

I.2 Paracrine modulation of vascular tone

Tissues or cells surrounding arteries can influence the contractile degree of the vascular smooth muscle cells through the release of vasoactive substances. These factors that are released by neighboring cells are often called 'paracrine modulators'. The term 'paracrine' refers to a kind of hormone function in which the effects of the hormone are restricted to the local environment. Nowadays, besides the nervous system, the vascular endothelium is a well-known paracrine regulator of vascular smooth muscle tone. More recently it was discovered that also the perivascular adipose tissue (PVAT) functions as a paracrine organ in the regulation of vascular tone.

I.2.1 Endothelium

In the past the endothelium was believed to be just a simple semipermeable membrane lining the luminal surface of all blood vessels. However, from the 1980s it has become clear that the vascular endothelium is a fundamental regulator for the homeostasis of the underlying layer of smooth muscle cells by controlling the balance between vasoconstriction and vasorelaxation [28]. This is accomplished through the release of several relaxing and contracting factors under basal conditions and in response to many substances (drugs, circulating hormones and cytokines) as well as to physical and chemical stimuli (e.g. changes in pressure, shear stress and pH) [29]. Endothelium-derived factors with vasodilatory effects, collectively called 'endothelium derived relaxing factors (EDRFs)', include NO, prostacyclin and endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factors (EDHF). These latter refer to molecules causing endothelium-dependent relaxations that are resistant to NOS and cyclooxygenase (COX) inhibitors and that result in endothelium-dependent hyperpolarization of the vascular smooth muscle cells [30, 31]. Hyperpolarization of the vascular smooth muscle cells leads to a decrease in intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration and in this way EDHF can promote vasorelaxation. The contribution of EDHF to endothelium-dependent relaxations appears to be inversely related to vessel diameter since EDHF seems to play a more prominent role in smaller (resistance) arteries compared to larger (conduit) arteries [32]. From its discovery in the late 1980s it has become clear that EDHF is likely not a single diffusible 'factor'. Numerous identified putative EDHFs have been reported and the acronym 'EDHF' has become an overall term applied to the various endothelium-derived mechanisms that mediate hyperpolarization and relaxation of the vascular smooth muscle cells [30, 31, 33]. Of the most frequently reported mechanisms underlying EDHF activity are that of K⁺-efflux from the endothelial cells, generation of diffusible epoxyeicosatrienoic acids, hydrogen peroxide and electrical coupling between endothelial cells and vascular smooth muscle cells through myoendothelial gap junctions [30, 31, 33].

Endothelin-1 (ET-1), angiotensin II (AII), thromboxane A_2 (TXA₂) and reactive oxygen species (ROS) are among the factors that exert vasoconstrictor effects and are collectively known as 'endothelium-derived contracting factors (EDCFs)'[7, 29, 31, 33] (Fig. I.5).



Figure 1.5 Endothelial cells release various vasoactive factors and therefore maintain the balance between vasodilation and vasoconstriction.

Endothelial dysfunction and oxidative stress

Normal endothelial function regulates the balance between the release of EDRFs and EDCFs which is vital for maintaining vascular smooth muscle relaxation, blood pressure and blood flow. Disturbance of this tightly regulated balance leads to endothelial dysfunction [29, 34]. There is considerable evidence showing that endothelial dysfunction is an early event in the development of cardiovascular diseases such as diabetes, hypertension, hypercholesterolemia, atherosclerosis and heart failure [35-38]. Although the pathogenesis

Chapter I Introduction

of endothelial dysfunction is multifactorial, the hallmark seems to be impaired NO bioavailability which is functionally reflected in decreased endothelium-dependent relaxation [39, 40]. Impaired NO bioavailability can be the result of either decreased NO production or accelerated NO degradation. However in both cases oxidative stress seems to play a pivotal causative role, limiting NO to exert its effect [29]. Oxidative stress refers to a condition in which cells are exposed to excessive amounts of chemical oxygen derivatives, the so called ROS [41, 42]. ROS include free radicals such as superoxide anion (O2^{•-}), peroxynitrite (ONOO^{•-}), and hydroxyl (OH[•]), and non-radicals such as hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂). O₂^{•-} is considered as the 'primary' ROS and is formed after addition of one electron to molecular oxygen (dioxygen) [43]. Within mammalian cells, several enzyme systems are capable of transferring electrons to molecular oxygen producing $O_2^{\bullet-}$, the four most important being nicotinamide-adenine-dinucleotide phosphate oxidases (NOX), the mitochondrial electron transport chain, xanthine oxidase (XO) and uncoupled NOS [41]. O2 •can further interact with other molecules to generate 'secondary' ROS such as H₂O₂ and $ONOO^{\bullet-}$. $O_2^{\bullet-}$ is rapidly converted into H_2O_2 either spontaneously or via the catalytic intervention of superoxide dismutase (SOD). OH[•] is generated from H₂O₂ in the presence of ferrous iron (Fe²⁺) by the Fenton reaction, but is also formed by the interaction between $O_2^{\bullet-}$ and H₂O₂ [41, 42] (Fig. I.6).

Oxidative stress contributes markedly to endothelial dysfunction, primarily due to rapid oxidative inactivation of NO by excess $O_2^{\bullet-}$ resulting in the highly reactive ONOO^{•-} and thereby reducing NO bioavailability. In a second step, persisting oxidative stress renders eNOS dysfunctional (eNOS uncoupling), a process whereby eNOS switches from a NO-producing enzyme to a $O_2^{\bullet-}$ -generating molecule [44, 45]. Mechanistically, the major cause for eNOS uncoupling and endothelial dysfunction could be found in the oxidation of tetrahydrobiopterin (BH₄, a critical eNOS cofactor) by ONOO^{•-} or $O_2^{\bullet-}$ which makes BH₄ unavailable for eNOS generation of NO [20, 21, 41, 45, 46]. In addition depletion of the enzyme substrate L-arginine can also be implicated [20, 21, 41]. Thus uncoupled eNOS not only reduces NO production, but also potentiates the pre-existence of oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction.



Figure 1.6 Enzymes involved in the generation and inactivation of reactive oxygen species (ROS). The superoxide anion $(O_2^{\bullet-})$ can be produced by NADPH oxidase (NOX), xanthine oxidase (XO), uncoupled endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) and the leakage of activated oxygen (O_2) from mitochondria during respiration. $O_2^{\bullet-}$ can be converted to hydrogen peroxide H_2O_2 by the enzyme superoxide dismutase (SOD). H_2O_2 can undergo spontaneous conversion to the hydroxyl radical (OH[•]) via the Fenton reaction. H_2O_2 can be detoxified by glutathione (GSH) peroxidase and catalase to H_2O and O_2 . (Adapted from Li et al. [41])

I.2.2 Perivascular adipose tissue

Historically adipose tissue was thought to be simply lipid-rich connective tissue [47]. Similarly, perivascular adipose tissue (PVAT), which is the adipose tissue surrounding nearly all blood vessels, was long considered as a mechanical support and protection to the vessels during contraction of neighboring tissues [48]. Therefore PVAT was routinely removed for isolated blood vessel studies. Soltis and Cassis [49] demonstrated for the first time that PVAT decreases NOR-induced contractions of rat aorta. From then on, it became clear that besides structural support, PVAT also act as an active endocrine organ that releases various substances, called adipo(cyto)kines, which affect the underlying vascular cells[50-53]. Among the plethora of adipo(cyto)kines are pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines and an adipocyte-derived releasing factor (ADRF), which can influence vascular tone in a paracrine way. These are discussed in a review in **chapter III** (published in Curr Hypertens Rep 2012;14:270-278). Under physiological conditions, the release of these vasoactive adipo(cyto)kines results in a net beneficial anticontractile effect on vascular function and this is essential for the maintenance of vascular resistance [49, 54-57]. The anticontractile effect of PVAT is directly dependent on its amount [54, 57, 58]. Therefore it would be conceivable to assume that in

obesity, where the amount of PVAT is increased throughout the vasculature, the anticontractile effect of PVAT is increased. However, the opposite occurs and the anticontractile effect of PVAT is lost in obesity [54, 59-61] (Fig. I.7). Various explanations have been proposed for this surprisingly finding, mostly focusing on the fact that, besides structural changes, functional changes in PVAT are triggered in obesity, which render the adipose tissue dysfunctional. These functional changes imply a dysregulated synthesis of vasoactive adipo(cyto)kines by the adipose tissue in favor of harmful vasoconstrictor and pro-inflammatory substances [62]. Due to this imbalanced pro-inflammatory adipo(cyto)kine production, obesity is characterized as a state of chronic low-grade inflammation [63]. It has been proposed that hypoxia underlies this inflammatory response, as hypoxia occurs in areas of fat depots when the vascular oxygen supply is compromised due to tissue mass expansion [64]. Interestingly, adipose tissue dysfunction is not restricted to obesity, where PVAT mass and adipocyte size increase. In several hypertensive animals models, where PVAT mass and adipocyte size decreases, a similar 'obesity-like' impairment of PVAT function was reported [58, 65, 66] (Fig. I.7).

Taken together, in addition to endothelial dysfunction, adipose tissue dysfunction might create an environment for the development of vascular inflammation and dysfunction [53, 67-69].



decreased anticontractile effect of PVAT

Figure 1.7 Alterations of PVAT structure and function during obesity and hypertension lead to decreased anticontractile effects of PVAT. (Adapted from [48]).

I.3 Erectile function

I.3.1 Anatomy of the penis (Fig. I.8)

The penis in man and in most other mammalian species consists of three corpora: dorsally paired corpora cavernosa, which comprise the erectile tissue and the ventral corpus spongiosum that surrounds the urethra and expands distally to form the glans penis. A thick fibrous sheath, the tunica albuginea, surrounds each of the corpora cavernosa and fuses in the midline to form a perforated septum.

The corpora cavernosa resemble a sponge as it is composed of a meshwork of interconnected hollow cavernous spaces or sinusoids, which are lined with endothelial cells and are separated by trabeculae. The trabeculae contain bundles of smooth muscle cells in a framework of elastic fibers and connective tissue. The arterial blood supply is ensured by the resistance helicine arteries which branch from the deep penile cavernosal artery. Subtunical veins drain the sinusoidal spaces and pierce the tunica to drain into the circumflex veins, and then join the deep dorsal vein of the penis. The cavernosal arteries and the trabecular smooth muscles are under control of sympathetic and parasympathetic innervation [70, 71].



Figure 1.8 Anatomy and hemodynamics of the corpora cavernosa. The figure is adapted from Kandeel et al. [71].

I.3.2 Regulation of penile erection

Penile erection is basically a spinal reflex that involves central nervous processing and integration of tactile, olfactory, auditory, and mental stimuli [72]. The generated nervous signals will influence the balance between the contracting and relaxing factors, which determine the contractile tone of the cavernosal and arterial smooth muscle cells and thus the functional state of the penis. As with vascular smooth muscle contraction and relaxation, penile smooth muscle tone is determined by the levels of intracellular free Ca²⁺ as well as by the Rho kinase pathway.

Under basal conditions, NOR is released from adrenergic neurons and binds to α_1 adrenoceptors on the smooth muscle membrane eliciting contraction of arterial and cavernosal smooth muscle. In addition, the RhoA/RhoA kinase signaling pathway has been suggested to be involved in the maintenance of contraction of the cavernosal smooth muscle cells [70, 73, 74]. Subsequently only a small blood volume is delivered to the sinuses and this volume is readily drained out through subtunical veins. As a consequence intracavernosal pressure remains low and the penis maintains a flaccid state.

 79]. Degradation of cGMP by PDE 5, the predominantly form present in penile tissue, is primarily responsible for detumescence and returning the penis to the flaccid state [71, 74, 80].

Although NO/cGMP is considered the most important agent responsible for penile erection, other regulatory mechanisms such as VIP/cAMP may also be involved [70, 75, 76, 78, 79].



Figure 1.9 Regulation of cavernosal smooth muscle relaxation by NO released from the non-adrenergic noncholinergic (NANC) nerves and sinusoidal endothelium. Stimulation of the NANC nerves and the endothelial cells in the penis cause Ca^{2+} influx which promotes the production of NO. Binding of NO on sGC in the cavernous smooth muscle catalyzes the conversion of GTP to cGMP. Due to activation of PKG and PKA, increased levels of cGMP and cAMP induce relaxation of the arterial and cavernosal smooth muscle cells by decreasing intracellular levels of Ca^{2+} , which eventually results in the expansion of the cavernosal sinusoids and thus in penile erection (adapted from [81]).

I.3.3 Erectile dysfunction

Normal erectile function is a complex neurovascular process which depends on a tightly regulated balance between vasoconstrictor agents, causing limited blood inflow, and vasodilators, allowing increased blood inflow and erection. Hence, alterations favoring contractile responses and/or impeding relaxant responses of the cavernosal smooth muscle may lead to erectile dysfunction (ED). ED is generally defined as the inability to achieve and maintain an erection sufficient to permit satisfactory sexual intercourse [82]. It is estimated that ED affects approximately 20 % of adult males over the age of 20 [83], and by 2025 it is thought that ED will affect 332 million men worldwide [84]. Although ED is not a life threatening dysfunction, it seriously affects man's quality of life as well as interpersonal well-being.

The cause of ED can be psychological or organic (vascular, neurologic, hormonal, structural or drug-induced) or mixed psychological and organic. Vascular disease is however by far the most common cause of ED [72, 85]. Several conditions such as type II diabetes and hypertension as well as lifestyle factors such as tobacco use, obesity, frequency of exercise are highly associated with ED [86, 87]. The common characteristic of many of these vascular risk factors is the presence of (oxidative stress-induced) endothelial dysfunction [88, 89]. As the endothelium is a major source of NO, the main mediator of penile erection, impaired NO release and subsequent decreased corporal smooth muscle relaxation inevitably results in ED [85, 90]. However, besides NO several other mediators might also be involved in endothelial and erectile dysfunction. For instance, changes in prostaglandin synthesis and signaling may contribute to imbalanced penile eicosanoid homeostasis which can result in contraction of penile arteries and corporal smooth muscles. In addition, elevated levels of AII or ET-1 can further promote (vaso)constriction and thus ED [90].

I.4 Polyphenols

Hippocrates, the father of modern medicine, said many centuries ago: "let food be thy medicine". Today this ancient quote still shows its value as the popular thought "you are what you eat" is nowadays a well-established fact. Indeed it is known that diet is one of the most important lifestyle risk factors and that it can strongly influence the incidence of cardiovascular disease [91, 92]. In search for understanding how increased intake of certain foods can lead to a better health, polyphenols have gained a lot of interest. Polyphenols are naturally occurring compounds found in diverse plant-derived foods that are synthesized as secondary metabolites as defensive responses against stress due to UV radiation, pathogens and physical damage [93, 94]. According to the number of phenolic rings and on the basis of the structural elements that bind these rings to one another, polyphenols are classified into four categories: phenolic acids, flavonoids, stilbenes and lignans (Table I.1). Flavonoids are further classified into six subclasses: flavonols, flavones, isoflavones, flavanones, anthocyanidins and flavanols [93].



Table I.1. Chemical structures of the main classes of polyphenols

The diversity of the chemical structures of dietary polyphenols makes it difficult to estimate their total content in foods. A typical diet rich in fruits, vegetables and plant beverages has been estimated to provide about 1 g of polyphenols/day, with significant variations depending on the amount of consumption of drinks rich in polyphenols [95]. Fruits like grapes, apple, pear, cherries and berries contain up to 200-300 mg polyphenols per 100 grams fresh weight [96]. The manufactured products of these fruits, also contain polyphenols in significant amounts. Typically a glass of red wine contains about 100 mg polyphenols [94].

From some decades, these polyphenols have been the focal point of extensive research on their capacity to improve health. This research includes a wide variety of clinical and nutritional epidemiological studies that indicate that for instance populations who consume a diet rich in polyphenols are less susceptible to cardiovascular diseases and their complications [91, 97].

I.4.1 Resveratrol and quercetin

In 1992 the concept of the 'French paradox' was first introduced based on the observation that the French population had the lowest mortality and a low risk of cardiovascular disease despite a high consumption of saturated fat and prevalence of other risk factors [97]. Moderate red wine consumption was thought to explain this paradoxical finding [97]. Moreover, the polyphenolic content of red wine has been assumed to be responsible for cardiovascular benefits associated with moderate red wine consumption. The polyphenols present in red wine vary extremely due to differences in variety and grape sources as well as due to the grape processing. Red wine contains a higher concentration of polyphenols than white wine, because red wine is maturated with the skin and seeds during the wine-making process and these contain most of the polyphenols [98-100].

The main polyphenols present in red wine are resveratrol (a stilbene) and to a lower extent quercetin (a flavonol) [100-103] (Fig. I.10). Concentrations of resveratrol in red wine vary depending upon grape variety and geographic cultivation sites but concentrations up to 9 mg/L have been found, making red wine the major source of resveratrol in human diet [100, 101, 103]. Besides the skin of grapes, resveratrol and quercetin are found in high abundance

in many fruits and vegetables that are components of the human diet such as mulberries, cranberries, blueberries, onions and peanuts [93, 102]. As a consequence daily intake of quercetin is in the range of <5 mg to about 40 mg quercetin/day [104-107]. However daily amounts of quercetin as 200-500 mg may be reached by high-end consumers of fruits and vegetables, notably when individuals ingest the peel of quercetin-rich fruits and vegetables such as apples and onions [108]. For resveratrol, daily intake, including safe wine drinking, is estimated between 6 and 8 mg resveratrol/day [109].



Figure 1.10 Chemical structure of resveratrol (left) and quercetin (right)

Both polyphenols have gained a lot of attention for their plethora of beneficial effects against cardiovascular disease, neurodegenerative disease, obesity, diabetes and cancer [110-114]. The beneficial effects of resveratrol and quercetin on the cardiovascular system have been attributed to their ability to improve endothelial function as well as their ability to reduce vascular oxidative stress and their anti-inflammatory properties [110-112, 114-116] (Fig. I.11).



Figure I.11 Potential mechanism(s) in the cardiovascular effects of resveratrol and quercetin.

Vascular activities

Hypertension is one of the major risk factors of cardiovascular disease, which is associated with an increased risk of stroke, myocardial infarction, heart failure, etc. [117]. Adequate management of blood pressure helps to reduce the risk of cardiovascular disease. Several in vitro and in vivo studies in different animals suggested that resveratrol or quercetin may provide an alternative therapeutic option for managing blood pressure as both polyphenols have been demonstrated to exert acute and chronic effects on the cardiovascular system. First of all, resveratrol and quercetin acutely cause endothelium-dependent relaxations in different vascular beds [118-125]. It should however be noted that a part of the relaxant effect of resveratrol and quercetin occurs independently of the endothelium. Activation of different types of K⁺ channels may account for this endothelium-independent relaxing effect [119, 122, 123, 125].

Besides a direct relaxant effect, resveratrol ameliorates impaired endothelial function of aortic rings in different disease states. For instance improved vascular responses to acetylcholine were demonstrated after acute or chronic resveratrol administration in hypertensive rats [126-129] or in hypercholesterolemic rabbits [130]. Similarly acute or chronic quercetin treatment enhances endothelial-dependent responses to acetylcholine in various models of experimental hypertension [131-136]. Moreover, it was found that chronic treatment with resveratrol or quercetin lowers blood pressure in hypertensive animal models [126, 127, 133-137]. The improved endothelial function and the direct relaxant effect
of both polyphenols is largely attributed to enhanced NO production as treatment of isolated arteries with eNOS inhibitors decreases the relaxing influence of resveratrol and quercetin. These studies thus indicate that activation of the NO-pathway seems to be involved in their relaxing effect [118, 120, 121, 124].

Resveratrol and quercetin are known to enhance NO bioactivity by acutely increasing enzymatic activity of eNOS. For instance both polyphenols have been found to stimulate eNOS phosphorylation in endothelial cells and thereby increasing eNOS activity [120, 138, 139]. In addition to their acute effect on eNOS activity, which occurs within minutes, resveratrol and quercetin can also enhance eNOS expression (within hours) [136, 140]. At physiological relevant concentrations of 0.1 µM resveratrol and quercetin increase eNOS and mRNA expression in cultured endothelial cells [140-143]. It is thought that the effects of resveratrol on eNOS expression may be attributed to activation of protein deacetylase sirtuin 1 (SIRT 1). SIRT 1 activation results in deacetylation of eNOS at lysine residues, thereby stimulating eNOS activity [144]. It was demonstrated that pretreating human umbilical vein endothelial cells with resveratrol significantly reduced oxidant-induced decrease in SIRT 1 levels and eNOS acetylation. As a consequence NO production and endothelial function was enhanced [145]. Furthermore knock down of endogenous SIRT 1 by RNAi significantly limited resveratrol-induced increases in eNOS mRNA and protein expression [146] and reduced resveratrol-induced increases in NO levels [144].

Besides activation of SIRT1, activation of estrogen receptors (ER) has been suggested to be involved in the vascular effects of resveratrol as it is structurally similar to a synthetic estrogen, diethylstilbestrol. Indeed, polyphenol extracts induced endothelium-dependent relaxations in wild type but not in ER alpha knockout mice, providing evidence that the vasorelaxant properties of polyphenols are exerted through ER alpha activation [147]. Moreover it has been shown that resveratrol is an agonist for ER alpha [148] and that wine polyphenols, including resveratrol are responsible for eNOS activation by acting on ERs [149]. Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that depletion of ER alpha by siRNA attenuated resveratrol eNOS phosphorylation [138].

Chapter I Introduction

Taken together, the ability of resveratrol and quercetin to improve NO production and thus endothelial function may contribute to a great extent to their protective effects in the cardiovascular system.

Anti-oxidant effects

Living organisms have developed several effective mechanisms to protect themselves from ROS-induced damage [41]. These antioxidant defense systems include enzymes such as superoxide dismutase, catalase and glutathione peroxidase but also non-enzymatic reactions with glutathione, ascorbic acid and alpha-tocopherol. However in several diseases the available antioxidant defense systems are exceeded by excessive formation of ROS resulting in an oxidative stress state [41]. The polyphenols resveratrol and quercetin may have an additive effect to the endogenous antioxidant defense mechanisms as they can interfere with several free radical producing systems.

First, quercetin is reported to act as a potent direct scavenger of ROS. Quercetin is known to scavenge O₂^{•-} [150, 151] and ONOO^{•-} [150, 152, 153]. Moreover quercetin also acts as an indirect antioxidant through the inhibition of key ROS-producing enzymes such as XO [154] and NOX [136]. In in vitro systems resveratrol, at high concentrations (> 100 μ M), is reported to directly scavenge a variety of oxidants such as O₂^{•-} [155-157], H₂O₂ [158], OH[•] [157] and ONOO^{•-} [159]. However the direct antioxidant effects of resveratrol are rather weak compared to those of well-established antioxidants such as ascorbate and cysteine. Thus, the protective effects of resveratrol against ROS-induced damage are likely to be attributed to the upregulation of the endogenous cellular antioxidant systems or to inhibition of ROS forming enzymes rather than its direct ROS scavenging activity [160, 161]. Indeed, resveratrol regulates the expression and activity of ROS-producing or ROS-eliminating enzymes, such as SOD. SOD catalyzes the dismutation of $O_2^{\bullet-}$ into H_2O_2 , which is further inactivated by glutathione peroxidases (GPx) and catalase [162]. In human endothelial cells resveratrol increased mRNA and protein levels of SOD1, SOD2 and SOD3 [163-165]. In addition resveratrol also upregulates GPx1 and catalase in aortic segments or in cultured aortic smooth muscle [158]. Furthermore, treatment of apolipoprotein E (apoE) knockout mice, a model for oxidative stress, with resveratrol (30 - 100 mg/kg per d for 7 d) upregulated SOD1, SOD2, SOD3, GPx1 and catalase in the heart [166]. In addition resveratrol is reported to decrease ROS by reducing NOX2 and NOX4 expression in the heart of apoEknockout mice [165] and NOX2 expression in the aorta of diabetic mice [129].

Due to the (direct) antioxidant properties of both polyphenols, enhanced ROS production and thus oxidative stress can be limited. Hence by reducing ROS levels, the phenomenon of 'eNOS uncoupling' can be prevented. Resveratrol and quercetin have both been shown to prevent eNOS uncoupling in cardiovascular tissues [46, 165, 167]. Untreated apoE-knockout mice have an increased oxidation of BH₄ [46] and ROS production in their aorta [46, 168] and heart [165]. As the NOS inhibitor, L-NAME, decreased $O_2^{\bullet-}$ production in both the aorta and heart, eNOS is suggested to be in an uncoupled state and thus producing ROS in this pathological model. Treatment of the apoE-KO mice with resveratrol reduced cardiac $O_2^{\bullet-}$ production and reversed eNOS uncoupling [165]. In addition, also quercetin seems to impede eNOS uncoupling as quercetin was found to prevent endothelial dysfunction by impeding ET 1–induced superoxide formation and eNOS uncoupling in aortic ring segments of male Wistar rats [167].

As previously mentioned, increased ROS production and subsequent oxidative stress causes decreased NO bioavailability and thus impairment of endothelial function. Therefore, the antioxidant capacity of resveratrol and quercetin can prevent oxidative stress-induced inactivation of NO and thus improve vascular function.

Effects on adipose tissue

Obesity, insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes are characterized by chronic state of 'inflammation' which is the result of abnormal cytokine production and activation of a network of inflammatory signaling pathways [63, 169]. The primary source that triggers and where this inflammatory process which emerges in obesity is located, seems to be the adipose tissue [63]. Indeed, both in obese mice and human an imbalanced release/production of pro- and anti-inflammatory adipo(cyto)kines can be found [170-172]. Therefore, as polyphenols, including resveratrol and quercetin, are known to affect adipogenesis and have anti-inflammatory properties, these bioactive compounds could be beneficial in preventing or limiting obesity and its associated complications [173].

It has been shown that the differentiation of swine preadipocytes, mouse mesenchymal stem cells and 3T3/L1 fibroblasts into adipocytes was inhibited by resveratrol in a SIRT1-

dependent manner [174-176]. In addition, resveratrol has been shown to reduce lipid accumulation by both inhibiting lipogenesis and promoting lipolysis [177, 178]. For instance, treatment of isolated rat adipocytes with 125 μ M and 250 μ M resveratrol reduced insulin activity, which induces lipogenesis (glucose to lipid conversion) in adipose tissue, by 16 % and 25 % respectively [178]. In addition to resveratrol, quercetin was found to inhibit 3T3/L1 adipocyte differentiation and to induce apoptosis in mature adipocytes, suggesting that also quercetin can reduce mature adipocyte mass [179].

The effect of both polyphenols on adipose tissue reaches beyond their anti-adipogenesis activities since resveratrol and quercetin are known to potently reduce adipose tissue inflammation by interfering with the adipo(cyto)kine expression/secretion [180]. Resveratrol ameliorates inflammation by modulating the adipo(cyto)kine expression and secretion profile in different adipocyte models: resveratrol treatment decreases the levels of pro-inflammatory adipo(cyto)kines (such as TNF_{α} , IL-6 and resistin) and increases the adiponectin expression/secretion [181-186]. Similarly, quercetin supplementation increased adiponectin plasma levels and adiponectin mRNA levels in adipose tissue from high fat- or high fructose-fed rats [187, 188]. Like resveratrol, quercetin increased levels of secreted adiponectin from TNF_{α} treated of 3T3/L1 adipocytes [185]. Moreover, in primary human adipocytes treated with TNF_{α} , quercetin has been shown to prevent insulin resistance and to reduce inflammation by attenuating the expression of adipo(cyto)kines such as IL-6 and IL-8, even more effectively than resveratrol [182].

Taken together, studies indicate that the release of adipo(cyto)kines, implicated in increasing the risk of cardiovascular diseases, can be successfully inhibited, at least in vitro, by resveratrol or quercetin. This is accomplished through the reduction of mature adipocyte mass, with concomitant reductions observed in the secretion/expression of inflammatory adipo(cyto)kines.

I.4.2 Resveratrol and guercetin as therapeutic agents

The huge amount of in vitro and animal (preclinical) studies within the field of polyphenols revealed a plethora of beneficial effects of polyphenols administration in different disease states. These preclinical studies suggests that polyphenols can be useful or show their value in the treatment and/or alleviation of the consequences of several diseases such as

cardiovascular disease, diabetes, cancer... [113]. In some studies using diabetic or obese animal models as well as in humans positive effects of resveratrol and quercetin on the vascular system have been described [102, 111, 150, 189-191]. For instance resveratrol and quercetin supplementation were shown to lower systolic blood pressure, flow mediated dilatation and/or the production of inflammatory markers, while they increased eNOS and adiponectin production [102, 111, 150, 189-191]. However, it should be noted that a lot of animal and clinical studies could not confirm these vascular effects [102, 111, 150, 189-191]. It is suggested that the problem for this might be related to the low bioavailability of both polyphenols.

Bioavailability

The bioavailability and pharmacokinetics of resveratrol and quercetin have been studied in experimental animals and humans. Oral administration of high doses of resveratrol or quercetin appears to be safe in humans. No major adverse effects were seen when healthy volunteers were provided with up to 5 g resveratrol [192]. Similarly high doses of quercetin up to 5 g/day (for 28 days) seem to be well tolerated without major adverse events in hepatitis C patients [193].

Upon oral administration, the polyphenols are extensively metabolized in the small intestine and later in the liver yielding glucuronide- and sulfate-conjugates [93].

Pignatelli et al. [194] reported that moderate red wine consumption, which was defined as intake of 300 mL red wine during 15 days, increased total (free and conjugated) plasma levels of resveratrol to 1.72 μ M. Similarly total resveratrol in human plasma peaked in the range of 416 – 491 ng/ml (or 2 μ M) 30-60 minutes following administration of a single dose of 25 mg resveratrol with a plasma half-life of 9.2 h [195, 196]. Administration of doses up to 5 g increased plasma levels of unchanged resveratrol to about 539 ng/ml (2.4 μ M) [192]. However only low levels or even trace amounts (<5 ng/ml) of unchanged resveratrol could be found in the plasma following a single or multiple 25 mg oral dose [195-197]. Likewise, in rodents, oral intake of milligrams yields only low nanomolar plasma levels of unmetabolized resveratrol [198, 199]. An overview of these bioavailability studies is represented in Table 1.2.

Chapter I Introduction

Dose	Species	Peak plasma concentration of total and/or unmetabolized resveratrol	Reference
300 mL red wine during 15 days	Human	Total: 385 ng/mL (~1.72 μM)	[194]
25 mg (oral)	Human	Total: 416 - 471 ng/mL (~1.86 – 2 μM) Unmetabolized: 7.1 – 8.5 ng/mL (~0.03 - 0.04 μM)	[195]
25 mg (oral)	Human	Total: 491 ng/mL (~2 μM) Unmetabolized: <5 ng/mL (~0.02 μM)	[196]
Single dose of 25 mg (oral) 13 doses of 25 mg (oral)	Human	Unmetabolized: 1 ng/mL – 4 ng/mL (~0.004 – 0.018 μM)	[197]
5 g (oral)	Human	Unmetabolized: 539 ng/mL (~2.4 μM)	[192]
50 μmol/kg (11.4 mg/kg) (oral)	Rat	Unmetabolized: 157 ng/mL (~0.7 μM)	[199]
5 mg/kg (oral)	Rat	Total: 342 ng/mL (~1.5 μM) Unmetabolized: 18.24 ng/mL (~0.08 μM)	[198]

Table I.2. Overview of several studies on bioavailability of resveratrol in human and rodents.

Thus both in humans and animals oral administration of resveratrol yields plasma levels of the parent molecule that are either not detectable or some orders of magnitude below the micromolar concentrations that are used in *in vitro* experiments i.e. 5 - 100 μ M [200]. The enterohepatic cycle, in combination with the rapid metabolism in the liver explains this low concentration of native compounds in the blood stream. Nonetheless, some of the biological effects of resveratrol have been observed at very low concentrations [201, 202]. Some mechanisms may contribute to this phenomenon i.e. that low resveratrol concentrations are effective, despite the rapid metabolisation into conjugates.

First, due to the lipophilic character of resveratrol, resveratrol and its metabolites can accumulate in tissues and thus tissue levels might be higher than those found in plasma [203]. Accumulation of resveratrol has been found in several tissues including the heart, liver, kidney and skeletal muscle from rats [204-209]. Therefore, plasma levels might be useful in evaluating endothelial exposure, however it might not be an accurate indicator of resveratrol potential bioactivity on tissue level [203]. Second, some metabolites themselves exert biologically beneficial effects. Resveratrol metabolites were shown to reduce fat accumulation in adipocytes, influence adipo(cyto)kine expression and secretion [210, 211] and exhibit anti-inflammatory potential [212, 213]. However no effect of resveratrol-sulfates and –glucuronides was found on eNOS activity, NO release or ROS levels [214]. Third, some metabolites can be converted back to resveratrol in target cells via glucuronidases and sulfatases [215]. Hence, resveratrol metabolites can also indirectly contribute to the beneficial effects associated with resveratrol administration.

Total quercetin (= free and metabolized) derived from the diet is normally present in plasma in the nanomolar range (<100 nM), however this can be increased to low μ M range by quercetin supplementation [216, 217]. For example, in healthy volunteers plasma levels of quercetin increased to 1.5 μ M after 28 days supplementation with a high dose (>1 g/d) of quercetin [216]. Interestingly, elimination of quercetin and its metabolites is quite slow, as reported plasma half-lives ranges between 11 – 28 h. This suggests that maintenance of high plasma concentrations of quercetin could be achieved upon repeated intake [93, 111, 150]. Similar to resveratrol, quercetin is extensively metabolized into its sulfate and glucuronideconjugates. As a result, quercetin in human plasma is mainly found as glucuronide and sulfate conjugates, with very little (<1 μ M) unconjugated quercetin present [217, 218]. In humans, 30 minutes following consumption of 10 mg/70 kg body weight quercetin (dissolved in 100 mL white wine), plasma of total quercetin (free and conjugated) reaches a maximum of 126.8 ng/mL (0.4 μM) of which around 20 % was unmetabolized quercetin [195]. However, quercetin metabolites can be biologically active as for instance glucuronidated quercetin metabolites were shown to have antioxidant effect *in vitro* and *in vivo* [219, 220]. Yet, glucuronidated and sulfated metabolites lack a direct acute vasodilator effect in isolated arteries and they have only a partial effect in preventing acute endothelial dysfunction [221]. Interestingly, like resveratrol a deconjugation process for quercetin metabolites has been described [222, 223]. It has been shown that glucurono-quercetin conjugates can be deconjugated in the vascular wall of mesenteric arteries, yielding the parent quercetin molecule which accumulates in the tissue [222]. Studies in rats and pigs have shown that quercetin is distributed to several tissues, especially to lung, kidney, colon and liver [224].

Enhancing bioavailability

Given the low bioavailability and extensive metabolism of orally administrated resveratrol and quercetin, efforts have been made to identify novel strategies to ameliorate the bioavailability of both polyphenols in order to achieve plasma concentrations that have been shown to have biological activity.

The composition of the food matrix can impact the bioavailability of resveratrol and quercetin. Trans-resveratrol is better absorbed when ingested through wine or grape juice than from tablets [225]. Similarly quercetin bioavailability is greater when quercetin is consumed as an integral food component compared to quercetin-filled capsules [226]. Several studies suggest that the dietary fat content also influences polyphenolic bioavailability. When resveratrol is added to diets with fat contents equal to or greater than 40 %, significant improvement in energy metabolism and aerobic exercise endurance is seen in mice. This was not the case when resveratrol was added to a standard composition diet [227, 228]. Likewise, resveratrol increases brain antioxidant enzyme activities by approximately 2-fold when given in a high-fat diet, while the same dose in a standard mouse diet did not have a significant effect [229]. Dietary fat-dependent improvements in polyphenolic bioavailability has also been found for quercetin. In pigs, co-ingesting quercetin with a meal containing 32 % fat enhanced quercetin bioavailability with 50 % compared to

its ingestion with a 3 % fat meal [230]. Moreover, in rats resveratrol bioavailability is enhanced by combining it with piperine, a natural product from black pepper [231]. Thus, the in vivo bioavailability could be increased by the food matrix because of the presence of other natural compounds, such as other polyphenols that might play a synergic role [232].

In search of how metabolic breakdown of resveratrol and quercetin could be bypassed or how the absorption of polyphenols could be improved, new delivery strategies are under development. Encapsulation into lipid nanoparticles or liposomes are investigated as potential carriers of resveratrol and quercetin to delay their metabolism and maintain free polyphenol levels in blood and other tissues for a longer period [233-236]. For instance, several formulations have been used to generate quercetin-containing lipid nanoparticles such as self-nano-emulsifying drug delivery systems (SNEDDS). The bioavailability and absorption of quercetin, delivered as quercetin-SNEDDS, was improved in rats after oral administration of these quercetin-SNEDSS [237].

References

- 1. Morgado M, Cairrao E, Santos-Silva AJ, Verde I. Cyclic nucleotide-dependent relaxation pathways in vascular smooth muscle. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2012;69:247-66.
- 2. Rembold CM. Regulation of contraction and relaxation in arterial smooth muscle. Hypertension. 1992;20:129-37.
- 3. Westcott EB, Segal SS. Perivascular innervation: a multiplicity of roles in vasomotor control and myoendothelial signaling. Microcirculation. 2013;20:217-38.
- 4. Consigny PM. Vascular smooth muscle contraction and relaxation: pathways and chemical modulation. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 1991;2:309-17.
- 5. Ogut O, Brozovich FV. Regulation of force in vascular smooth muscle. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2003;35:347-55.
- 6. Webb RC. Smooth muscle contraction and relaxation. Adv Physiol Educ. 2003;27:201-6.
- Furchgott RF, Vanhoutte PM. Endothelium-derived relaxing and contracting factors. Faseb j. 1989;3:2007-18.
- 8. Puetz S, Lubomirov LT, Pfitzer G. Regulation of smooth muscle contraction by small GTPases. Physiology (Bethesda). 2009;24:342-56.
- 9. Somlyo AP, Somlyo AV. Ca2+ sensitivity of smooth muscle and nonmuscle myosin II: modulated by G proteins, kinases, and myosin phosphatase. Physiol Rev. 2003;83:1325-58.
- 10. Sward K, Mita M, Wilson DP, Deng JT, Susnjar M, Walsh MP. The role of RhoA and Rho-associated kinase in vascular smooth muscle contraction. Curr Hypertens Rep. 2003;5:66-72.
- Gong MC, Gorenne I, Read P, Jia T, Nakamoto RK, Somlyo AV, Somlyo AP. Regulation by GDI of RhoA/Rhokinase-induced Ca2+ sensitization of smooth muscle myosin II. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2001;281:C257-69.
- 12. Loirand G, Guerin P, Pacaud P. Rho kinases in cardiovascular physiology and pathophysiology. Circ Res. 2006;98:322-34.
- 13. Loirand G, Pacaud P. Involvement of Rho GTPases and their regulators in the pathogenesis of hypertension. Small GTPases. 2014;5:1-10.
- 14. Surma M, Wei L, Shi J. Rho kinase as a therapeutic target in cardiovascular disease. Future Cardiol. 2011;7:657-71.
- 15. Rolli-Derkinderen M, Sauzeau V, Boyer L, Lemichez E, Baron C, Henrion D, Loirand G, Pacaud P. Phosphorylation of serine 188 protects RhoA from ubiquitin/proteasome-mediated degradation in vascular smooth muscle cells. Circ Res. 2005;96:1152-60.
- 16. Dimopoulos GJ, Semba S, Kitazawa K, Eto M, Kitazawa T. Ca2+-dependent rapid Ca2+ sensitization of contraction in arterial smooth muscle. Circ Res. 2007;100:121-9.
- 17. Kitazawa T, Gaylinn BD, Denney GH, Somlyo AP. G-protein-mediated Ca2+ sensitization of smooth muscle contraction through myosin light chain phosphorylation. J Biol Chem. 1991;266:1708-15.
- 18. Amano M, Ito M, Kimura K, Fukata Y, Chihara K, Nakano T, Matsuura Y, Kaibuchi K. Phosphorylation and activation of myosin by Rho-associated kinase (Rho-kinase). J Biol Chem. 1996;271:20246-9.
- 19. Carvajal JA, Germain AM, Huidobro-Toro JP, Weiner CP. Molecular mechanism of cGMP-mediated smooth muscle relaxation. J Cell Physiol. 2000;184:409-20.
- 20. Fleming I. Molecular mechanisms underlying the activation of eNOS. Pflugers Arch. 2010;459:793-806.
- 21. Forstermann U, Sessa WC. Nitric oxide synthases: regulation and function. Eur Heart J. 2012;33:829-37, 37a-37d.
- 22. Beltowski J, Jamroz-Wisniewska A. Hydrogen sulfide and endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation. Molecules. 2014;19:21183-99.
- 23. Fukuda S, Morioka M, Tanaka T, Shimoji K. Prostaglandin E1-induced vasorelaxation in porcine coronary arteries. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 1992;260:1128-32.
- 24. Henning RJ, Sawmiller DR. Vasoactive intestinal peptide: cardiovascular effects. Cardiovasc Res. 2001;49:27-37.
- 25. Parkington HC, Coleman HA, Tare M. Prostacyclin and endothelium-dependent hyperpolarization. Pharmacol Res. 2004;49:509-14.
- 26. Smillie SJ, Brain SD. Calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) and its role in hypertension. Neuropeptides. 2011;45:93-104.
- 27. Tagawa T, Mohri M, Tagawa H, Egashira K, Shimokawa H, Kuga T, Hirooka Y, Takeshita A. Role of nitric oxide in substance P-induced vasodilation differs between the coronary and forearm circulation in humans. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 1997;29:546-53.

- 28. Furchgott RF, Zawadzki JV. The obligatory role of endothelial cells in the relaxation of arterial smooth muscle by acetylcholine. Nature. 1980;288:373-6.
- 29. Feletou M, Vanhoutte PM. Endothelial dysfunction: a multifaceted disorder (The Wiggers Award Lecture). Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2006;291:H985-1002.
- 30. Feletou M, Vanhoutte PM. Endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor: where are we now? Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2006;26:1215-25.
- 31. Feletou M, Vanhoutte PM. EDHF: an update. Clin Sci (Lond). 2009;117:139-55.
- 32. Shimokawa H, Yasutake H, Fujii K, Owada MK, Nakaike R, Fukumoto Y, Takayanagi T, Nagao T, Egashira K, Fujishima M, Takeshita A. The importance of the hyperpolarizing mechanism increases as the vessel size decreases in endothelium-dependent relaxations in rat mesenteric circulation. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 1996;28:703-11.
- 33. MacKenzie A. Endothelium-derived vasoactive agents, AT1 receptors and inflammation. Pharmacol Ther. 2011;131:187-203.
- 34. Rubanyi GM. The role of endothelium in cardiovascular homeostasis and diseases. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 1993;22 Suppl 4:S1-14.
- 35. Luscher TF, Yang ZH, Diederich D, Buhler FR. Endothelium-derived vasoactive substances: potential role in hypertension, atherosclerosis, and vascular occlusion. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 1989;14 Suppl 6:S63-9.
- 36. Raij L. Hypertension, endothelium, and cardiovascular risk factors. Am J Med. 1991;90:13s-18s.
- 37. Schalkwijk CG, Stehouwer CD. Vascular complications in diabetes mellitus: the role of endothelial dysfunction. Clin Sci (Lond). 2005;109:143-59.
- 38. Vanhoutte PM, Shimokawa H, Tang EH, Feletou M. Endothelial dysfunction and vascular disease. Acta Physiol (Oxf). 2009;196:193-222.
- 39. Goligorsky MS, Noiri E, Tsukahara H, Budzikowski AS, Li H. A pivotal role of nitric oxide in endothelial cell dysfunction. Acta Physiol Scand. 2000;168:33-40.
- 40. Moncada S. Nitric oxide in the vasculature: physiology and pathophysiology. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1997;811:60-7; discussion 67-9.
- 41. Li H, Horke S, Forstermann U. Oxidative stress in vascular disease and its pharmacological prevention. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 2013;34:313-9.
- 42. Zalba G, Beaumont J, San Jose G, Fortuno A, Fortuno MA, Diez J. Vascular oxidant stress: molecular mechanisms and pathophysiological implications. J Physiol Biochem. 2000;56:57-64.
- 43. Miller DM, Buettner GR, Aust SD. Transition metals as catalysts of "autoxidation" reactions. Free Radic Biol Med. 1990;8:95-108.
- 44. Alp NJ, Channon KM. Regulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase by tetrahydrobiopterin in vascular disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2004;24:413-20.
- 45. Milstien S, Katusic Z. Oxidation of tetrahydrobiopterin by peroxynitrite: implications for vascular endothelial function. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1999;263:681-4.
- 46. Alp NJ, McAteer MA, Khoo J, Choudhury RP, Channon KM. Increased endothelial tetrahydrobiopterin synthesis by targeted transgenic GTP-cyclohydrolase I overexpression reduces endothelial dysfunction and atherosclerosis in ApoE-knockout mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2004;24:445-50.
- 47. Rosen ED, Spiegelman BM. What we talk about when we talk about fat. Cell. 2014;156:20-44.
- 48. Szasz T, Webb RC. Perivascular adipose tissue: more than just structural support. Clin Sci (Lond). 2012;122:1-12.
- 49. Soltis EE, Cassis LA. Influence of perivascular adipose tissue on rat aortic smooth muscle responsiveness. Clin Exp Hypertens A. 1991;13:277-96.
- 50. Brown NK, Zhou Z, Zhang J, Zeng R, Wu J, Eitzman DT, Chen YE, Chang L. Perivascular adipose tissue in vascular function and disease: a review of current research and animal models. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2014;34:1621-30.
- 51. Omar A, Chatterjee TK, Tang Y, Hui DY, Weintraub NL. Proinflammatory phenotype of perivascular adipocytes. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2014;34:1631-6.
- 52. Owen MK, Witzmann FA, McKenney ML, Lai X, Berwick ZC, Moberly SP, Alloosh M, Sturek M, Tune JD. Perivascular adipose tissue potentiates contraction of coronary vascular smooth muscle: influence of obesity. Circulation. 2013;128:9-18.
- 53. Payne GA, Kohr MC, Tune JD. Epicardial perivascular adipose tissue as a therapeutic target in obesityrelated coronary artery disease. Br J Pharmacol. 2012;165:659-69.
- 54. Gao YJ. Dual modulation of vascular function by perivascular adipose tissue and its potential correlation with adiposity/lipoatrophy-related vascular dysfunction. Curr Pharm Des. 2007;13:2185-92.

- 55. Gollasch M, Dubrovska G. Paracrine role for periadventitial adipose tissue in the regulation of arterial tone. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 2004;25:647-53.
- 56. Lohn M, Dubrovska G, Lauterbach B, Luft FC, Gollasch M, Sharma AM. Periadventitial fat releases a vascular relaxing factor. Faseb j. 2002;16:1057-63.
- 57. Verlohren S, Dubrovska G, Tsang SY, Essin K, Luft FC, Huang Y, Gollasch M. Visceral periadventitial adipose tissue regulates arterial tone of mesenteric arteries. Hypertension. 2004;44:271-6.
- 58. Galvez B, de Castro J, Herold D, Dubrovska G, Arribas S, Gonzalez MC, Aranguez I, Luft FC, Ramos MP, Gollasch M, Fernandez Alfonso MS. Perivascular adipose tissue and mesenteric vascular function in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2006;26:1297-302.
- 59. Fesus G, Dubrovska G, Gorzelniak K, Kluge R, Huang Y, Luft FC, Gollasch M. Adiponectin is a novel humoral vasodilator. Cardiovasc Res. 2007;75:719-27.
- 60. Gao YJ, Holloway AC, Zeng ZH, Lim GE, Petrik JJ, Foster WG, Lee RM. Prenatal exposure to nicotine causes postnatal obesity and altered perivascular adipose tissue function. Obes Res. 2005;13:687-92.
- 61. Greenstein AS, Khavandi K, Withers SB, Sonoyama K, Clancy O, Jeziorska M, Laing I, Yates AP, Pemberton PW, Malik RA, Heagerty AM. Local inflammation and hypoxia abolish the protective anticontractile properties of perivascular fat in obese patients. Circulation. 2009;119:1661-70.
- 62. Hajer GR, van Haeften TW, Visseren FL. Adipose tissue dysfunction in obesity, diabetes, and vascular diseases. Eur Heart J. 2008;29:2959-71.
- 63. Hotamisligil GS. Inflammation and metabolic disorders. Nature. 2006;444:860-7.
- 64. Trayhurn P, Wood IS. Adipokines: inflammation and the pleiotropic role of white adipose tissue. Br J Nutr. 2004;92:347-55.
- 65. Galvez-Prieto B, Dubrovska G, Cano MV, Delgado M, Aranguez I, Gonzalez MC, Ruiz-Gayo M, Gollasch M, Fernandez-Alfonso MS. A reduction in the amount and anti-contractile effect of periadventitial mesenteric adipose tissue precedes hypertension development in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Hypertens Res. 2008;31:1415-23.
- 66. Zeng ZH, Zhang ZH, Luo BH, He WK, Liang LY, He CC, Su CJ. The functional changes of the perivascular adipose tissue in spontaneously hypertensive rats and the effects of atorvastatin therapy. Clin Exp Hypertens. 2009;31:355-63.
- 67. Lynch FM, Withers SB, Yao Z, Werner ME, Edwards G, Weston AH, Heagerty AM. Perivascular adipose tissue-derived adiponectin activates BK(Ca) channels to induce anticontractile responses. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2013;304:H786-95.
- 68. Meijer RI, Bakker W, Alta CL, Sipkema P, Yudkin JS, Viollet B, Richter EA, Smulders YM, van Hinsbergh VW, Serne EH, Eringa EC. Perivascular adipose tissue control of insulin-induced vasoreactivity in muscle is impaired in db/db mice. Diabetes. 2013;62:590-8.
- 69. Padilla J, Vieira-Potter VJ, Jia G, Sowers JR. Role of perivascular adipose tissue on vascular reactive oxygen species in type 2 diabetes: a give-and-take relationship. Diabetes. 2015;64:1904-6.
- 70. Andersson KE, Wagner G. Physiology of penile erection. Physiol Rev. 1995;75:191-236.
- 71. Kandeel FR, Koussa VK, Swerdloff RS. Male sexual function and its disorders: physiology, pathophysiology, clinical investigation, and treatment. Endocr Rev. 2001;22:342-88.
- 72. Andersson KE. Pharmacology of penile erection. Pharmacol Rev. 2001;53:417-50.
- 73. Mills TM, Lewis RW, Wingard CJ, Linder AE, Jin L, Webb RC. Vasoconstriction, RhoA/Rho-kinase and the erectile response. Int J Impot Res. 2003;15 Suppl 5:S20-4.
- 74. Stief CG, Noack T, Andersson KE. Signal transduction in cavernous smooth muscle. World J Urol. 1997;15:27-31.
- 75. Burnett AL, Lowenstein CJ, Bredt DS, Chang TS, Snyder SH. Nitric oxide: a physiologic mediator of penile erection. Science. 1992;257:401-3.
- 76. Cartledge J, Minhas S, Eardley I. The role of nitric oxide in penile erection. Expert Opin Pharmacother. 2001;2:95-107.
- 77. Toda N, Ayajiki K, Okamura T. Nitric oxide and penile erectile function. Pharmacol Ther. 2005;106:233-66.
- 78. Burnett AL. Novel nitric oxide signaling mechanisms regulate the erectile response. Int J Impot Res. 2004;16 Suppl 1:S15-9.
- 79. Dean RC, Lue TF. Physiology of penile erection and pathophysiology of erectile dysfunction. Urol Clin North Am. 2005;32:379-95, v.
- 80. Lin CS, Lin G, Lue TF. Cyclic nucleotide signaling in cavernous smooth muscle. J Sex Med. 2005;2:478-91.
- 81. Lasker GF, Pankey EA, Kadowitz PJ. Modulation of soluble guanylate cyclase for the treatment of erectile dysfunction. Physiology (Bethesda). 2013;28:262-9.

- 82. Montorsi F, Adaikan G, Becher E, Giuliano F, Khoury S, Lue TF, Sharlip I, Althof SE, Andersson KE, Brock G, Broderick G, Burnett A, Buvat J, Dean J, Donatucci C, Eardley I, Fugl-Meyer KS, Goldstein I, Hackett G, Hatzichristou D, Hellstrom W, Incrocci L, Jackson G, Kadioglu A, Levine L, Lewis RW, Maggi M, McCabe M, McMahon CG, Montague D, Montorsi P, Mulhall J, Pfaus J, Porst H, Ralph D, Rosen R, Rowland D, Sadeghi-Nejad H, Shabsigh R, Stief C, Vardi Y, Wallen K, Wasserman M. Summary of the recommendations on sexual dysfunctions in men. J Sex Med. 2010;7:3572-88.
- 83. Derogatis LR, Burnett AL. The epidemiology of sexual dysfunctions. J Sex Med. 2008;5:289-300.
- 84. Ayta IA, McKinlay JB, Krane RJ. The likely worldwide increase in erectile dysfunction between 1995 and 2025 and some possible policy consequences. BJU Int. 1999;84:50-6.
- 85. Watts GF, Chew KK, Stuckey BG. The erectile-endothelial dysfunction nexus: new opportunities for cardiovascular risk prevention. Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med. 2007;4:263-73.
- 86. Gratzke C, Angulo J, Chitaley K, Dai YT, Kim NN, Paick JS, Simonsen U, Uckert S, Wespes E, Andersson KE, Lue TF, Stief CG. Anatomy, physiology, and pathophysiology of erectile dysfunction. J Sex Med. 2010;7:445-75.
- 87. Selvin E, Burnett AL, Platz EA. Prevalence and risk factors for erectile dysfunction in the US. Am J Med. 2007;120:151-7.
- Brunner H, Cockcroft JR, Deanfield J, Donald A, Ferrannini E, Halcox J, Kiowski W, Luscher TF, Mancia G, Natali A, Oliver JJ, Pessina AC, Rizzoni D, Rossi GP, Salvetti A, Spieker LE, Taddei S, Webb DJ. Endothelial function and dysfunction. Part II: Association with cardiovascular risk factors and diseases. A statement by the Working Group on Endothelins and Endothelial Factors of the European Society of Hypertension. J Hypertens. 2005;23:233-46.
- 89. Celermajer DS, Sorensen KE, Bull C, Robinson J, Deanfield JE. Endothelium-dependent dilation in the systemic arteries of asymptomatic subjects relates to coronary risk factors and their interaction. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1994;24:1468-74.
- 90. Maas R, Schwedhelm E, Albsmeier J, Boger RH. The pathophysiology of erectile dysfunction related to endothelial dysfunction and mediators of vascular function. Vasc Med. 2002;7:213-25.
- 91. Arts IC, Hollman PC. Polyphenols and disease risk in epidemiologic studies. Am J Clin Nutr. 2005;81:317s-25s.
- 92. St Leger AS, Cochrane AL, Moore F. Factors associated with cardiac mortality in developed countries with particular reference to the consumption of wine. Lancet. 1979;1:1017-20.
- 93. Manach C, Scalbert A, Morand C, Remesy C, Jimenez L. Polyphenols: food sources and bioavailability. Am J Clin Nutr. 2004;79:727-47.
- 94. Pandey KB, Rizvi SI. Plant polyphenols as dietary antioxidants in human health and disease. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 2009;2:270-8.
- 95. Ovaskainen ML, Torronen R, Koponen JM, Sinkko H, Hellstrom J, Reinivuo H, Mattila P. Dietary intake and major food sources of polyphenols in Finnish adults. J Nutr. 2008;138:562-6.
- 96. Habauzit V, Morand C. Evidence for a protective effect of polyphenols-containing foods on cardiovascular health: an update for clinicians. Ther Adv Chronic Dis. 2012;3:87-106.
- 97. Renaud S, de Lorgeril M. Wine, alcohol, platelets, and the French paradox for coronary heart disease. Lancet. 1992;339:1523-6.
- 98. Covas MI, Gambert P, Fito M, de la Torre R. Wine and oxidative stress: up-to-date evidence of the effects of moderate wine consumption on oxidative damage in humans. Atherosclerosis. 2010;208:297-304.
- 99. Romero-Perez AI, Ibern-Gomez M, Lamuela-Raventos RM, de La Torre-Boronat MC. Piceid, the major resveratrol derivative in grape juices. J Agric Food Chem. 1999;47:1533-6.
- 100. Sato M, Suzuki Y, Okuda T, Yokotsuka K. Contents of resveratrol, piceid, and their isomers in commercially available wines made from grapes cultivated in Japan. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem. 1997;61:1800-5.
- 101. Howard A, Chopra M, Thurnham D, Strain J, Fuhrman B, Aviram M. Red wine consumption and inhibition of LDL oxidation: what are the important components? Med Hypotheses. 2002;59:101-4.
- 102. Miles SL, McFarland M, Niles RM. Molecular and physiological actions of quercetin: need for clinical trials to assess its benefits in human disease. Nutr Rev. 2014;72:720-34.
- 103. Waterhouse AL. Wine phenolics. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2002;957:21-36.
- 104. de Vries JH, Janssen PL, Hollman PC, van Staveren WA, Katan MB. Consumption of quercetin and kaempferol in free-living subjects eating a variety of diets. Cancer Lett. 1997;114:141-4.
- 105. Hertog MG, Feskens EJ, Hollman PC, Katan MB, Kromhout D. Dietary antioxidant flavonoids and risk of coronary heart disease: the Zutphen Elderly Study. Lancet. 1993;342:1007-11.
- 106. Knekt P, Jarvinen R, Seppanen R, Hellovaara M, Teppo L, Pukkala E, Aromaa A. Dietary flavonoids and the risk of lung cancer and other malignant neoplasms. Am J Epidemiol. 1997;146:223-30.

- 107. Rimm EB, Katan MB, Ascherio A, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC. Relation between intake of flavonoids and risk for coronary heart disease in male health professionals. Ann Intern Med. 1996;125:384-9.
- 108. Jones E, Hughes RE. Quercetin, flavonoids and the life-span of mice. Exp Gerontol. 1982;17:213-7.
- 109. Chachay VS, Kirkpatrick CM, Hickman IJ, Ferguson M, Prins JB, Martin JH. Resveratrol--pills to replace a healthy diet? Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2011;72:27-38.
- 110. Catalgol B, Batirel S, Taga Y, Ozer NK. Resveratrol: French paradox revisited. Front Pharmacol. 2012;3:141.
- 111. D'Andrea G. Quercetin: A flavonol with multifaceted therapeutic applications? Fitoterapia. 2015;106:256-71.
- 112. Nijveldt RJ, van Nood E, van Hoorn DE, Boelens PG, van Norren K, van Leeuwen PA. Flavonoids: a review of probable mechanisms of action and potential applications. Am J Clin Nutr. 2001;74:418-25.
- 113. Tang PC, Ng YF, Ho S, Gyda M, Chan SW. Resveratrol and cardiovascular health--promising therapeutic or hopeless illusion? Pharmacol Res. 2014;90:88-115.
- 114. Yu W, Fu YC, Wang W. Cellular and molecular effects of resveratrol in health and disease. J Cell Biochem. 2012;113:752-9.
- 115. Andriantsitohaina R, Auger C, Chataigneau T, Etienne-Selloum N, Li H, Martinez MC, Schini-Kerth VB, Laher I. Molecular mechanisms of the cardiovascular protective effects of polyphenols. Br J Nutr. 2012;108:1532-49.
- 116. Xu Q, Si LY. Resveratrol role in cardiovascular and metabolic health and potential mechanisms of action. Nutr Res. 2012;32:648-58.
- 117. Carretero OA, Oparil S. Essential hypertension. Part I: definition and etiology. Circulation. 2000;101:329-35.
- 118. Chen CK, Pace-Asciak CR. Vasorelaxing activity of resveratrol and quercetin in isolated rat aorta. Gen Pharmacol. 1996;27:363-6.
- 119. Gojkovic-Bukarica L, Novakovic A, Kanjuh V, Bumbasirevic M, Lesic A, Heinle H. A role of ion channels in the endothelium-independent relaxation of rat mesenteric artery induced by resveratrol. J Pharmacol Sci. 2008;108:124-30.
- 120. Khoo NK, White CR, Pozzo-Miller L, Zhou F, Constance C, Inoue T, Patel RP, Parks DA. Dietary flavonoid quercetin stimulates vasorelaxation in aortic vessels. Free Radic Biol Med. 2010;49:339-47.
- 121. Naderali EK, Smith SL, Doyle PJ, Williams G. The mechanism of resveratrol-induced vasorelaxation differs in the mesenteric resistance arteries of lean and obese rats. Clin Sci (Lond). 2001;100:55-60.
- 122. Nishida S, Satoh H. Possible Involvement of Ca Activated K Channels, SK Channel, in the Quercetin-Induced Vasodilatation. Korean J Physiol Pharmacol. 2009;13:361-5.
- 123. Novakovic A, Bukarica LG, Kanjuh V, Heinle H. Potassium channels-mediated vasorelaxation of rat aorta induced by resveratrol. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol. 2006;99:360-4.
- 124. Roghani M, Baluchnejadmojarad T, Vaez-Mahdavi MR, Roghani-Dehkordi F. Mechanisms underlying quercetin-induced vasorelaxation in aorta of subchronic diabetic rats: an in vitro study. Vascul Pharmacol. 2004;42:31-5.
- 125. Shen M, Zhao L, Wu RX, Yue SQ, Pei JM. The vasorelaxing effect of resveratrol on abdominal aorta from rats and its underlying mechanisms. Vascul Pharmacol. 2013;58:64-70.
- 126. Li X, Dai Y, Yan S, Shi Y, Li J, Liu J, Cha L, Mu J. Resveratrol lowers blood pressure in spontaneously hypertensive rats via calcium-dependent endothelial NO production. Clin Exp Hypertens. 2016;38:287-93.
- 127. Mizutani K, Ikeda K, Kawai Y, Yamori Y. Resveratrol attenuates ovariectomy-induced hypertension and bone loss in stroke-prone spontaneously hypertensive rats. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo). 2000;46:78-83.
- 128. Silan C. The effects of chronic resveratrol treatment on vascular responsiveness of streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Biol Pharm Bull. 2008;31:897-902.
- 129. Zhang H, Zhang J, Ungvari Z, Zhang C. Resveratrol improves endothelial function: role of TNF{alpha} and vascular oxidative stress. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2009;29:1164-71.
- 130. Soner BC, Murat N, Demir O, Guven H, Esen A, Gidener S. Evaluation of vascular smooth muscle and corpus cavernosum on hypercholesterolemia. Is resveratrol promising on erectile dysfunction? Int J Impot Res. 2010;22:227-33.
- 131. Ajay M, Achike FI, Mustafa AM, Mustafa MR. Direct effects of quercetin on impaired reactivity of spontaneously hypertensive rat aortae: comparative study with ascorbic acid. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol. 2006;33:345-50.
- 132. Choi S, Ryu KH, Park SH, Jun JY, Shin BC, Chung JH, Yeum CH. Direct vascular actions of quercetin in aorta from renal hypertensive rats. Kidney Res Clin Pract. 2016;35:15-21.

- 133. Duarte J, Jimenez R, O'Valle F, Galisteo M, Perez-Palencia R, Vargas F, Perez-Vizcaino F, Zarzuelo A, Tamargo J. Protective effects of the flavonoid quercetin in chronic nitric oxide deficient rats. J Hypertens. 2002;20:1843-54.
- 134. Duarte J, Perez-Palencia R, Vargas F, Ocete MA, Perez-Vizcaino F, Zarzuelo A, Tamargo J. Antihypertensive effects of the flavonoid guercetin in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Br J Pharmacol. 2001;133:117-24.
- 135. Garcia-Saura MF, Galisteo M, Villar IC, Bermejo A, Zarzuelo A, Vargas F, Duarte J. Effects of chronic quercetin treatment in experimental renovascular hypertension. Mol Cell Biochem. 2005;270:147-55.
- 136. Sanchez M, Galisteo M, Vera R, Villar IC, Zarzuelo A, Tamargo J, Perez-Vizcaino F, Duarte J. Quercetin downregulates NADPH oxidase, increases eNOS activity and prevents endothelial dysfunction in spontaneously hypertensive rats. J Hypertens. 2006;24:75-84.
- 137. Dolinsky VW, Chakrabarti S, Pereira TJ, Oka T, Levasseur J, Beker D, Zordoky BN, Morton JS, Nagendran J, Lopaschuk GD, Davidge ST, Dyck JR. Resveratrol prevents hypertension and cardiac hypertrophy in hypertensive rats and mice. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2013;1832:1723-33.
- 138. Klinge CM, Wickramasinghe NS, Ivanova MM, Dougherty SM. Resveratrol stimulates nitric oxide production by increasing estrogen receptor alpha-Src-caveolin-1 interaction and phosphorylation in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. Faseb j. 2008;22:2185-97.
- 139. Shen Y, Croft KD, Hodgson JM, Kyle R, Lee IL, Wang Y, Stocker R, Ward NC. Quercetin and its metabolites improve vessel function by inducing eNOS activity via phosphorylation of AMPK. Biochem Pharmacol. 2012;84:1036-44.
- 140. Wallerath T, Deckert G, Ternes T, Anderson H, Li H, Witte K, Forstermann U. Resveratrol, a polyphenolic phytoalexin present in red wine, enhances expression and activity of endothelial nitric oxide synthase. Circulation. 2002;106:1652-8.
- 141. Appeldoorn MM, Venema DP, Peters TH, Koenen ME, Arts IC, Vincken JP, Gruppen H, Keijer J, Hollman PC. Some phenolic compounds increase the nitric oxide level in endothelial cells in vitro. J Agric Food Chem. 2009;57:7693-9.
- 142. Nicholson SK, Tucker GA, Brameld JM. Effects of dietary polyphenols on gene expression in human vascular endothelial cells. Proc Nutr Soc. 2008;67:42-7.
- 143. Nicholson SK, Tucker GA, Brameld JM. Physiological concentrations of dietary polyphenols regulate vascular endothelial cell expression of genes important in cardiovascular health. Br J Nutr. 2010;103:1398-403.
- 144. Mattagajasingh I, Kim CS, Naqvi A, Yamamori T, Hoffman TA, Jung SB, DeRicco J, Kasuno K, Irani K. SIRT1 promotes endothelium-dependent vascular relaxation by activating endothelial nitric oxide synthase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104:14855-60.
- 145. Arunachalam G, Yao H, Sundar IK, Caito S, Rahman I. SIRT1 regulates oxidant- and cigarette smokeinduced eNOS acetylation in endothelial cells: Role of resveratrol. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2010;393:66-72.
- 146. Csiszar A, Labinskyy N, Pinto JT, Ballabh P, Zhang H, Losonczy G, Pearson K, de Cabo R, Pacher P, Zhang C, Ungvari Z. Resveratrol induces mitochondrial biogenesis in endothelial cells. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2009;297:H13-20.
- 147. Chalopin M, Tesse A, Martinez MC, Rognan D, Arnal JF, Andriantsitohaina R. Estrogen receptor alpha as a key target of red wine polyphenols action on the endothelium. PLoS One. 2010;5:e8554.
- 148. Gehm BD, McAndrews JM, Chien PY, Jameson JL. Resveratrol, a polyphenolic compound found in grapes and wine, is an agonist for the estrogen receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997;94:14138-43.
- 149. Simoncini T, Lenzi E, Zochling A, Gopal S, Goglia L, Russo E, Polak K, Casarosa E, Jungbauer A, Genazzani AD, Genazzani AR. Estrogen-like effects of wine extracts on nitric oxide synthesis in human endothelial cells. Maturitas. 2011;70:169-75.
- 150. Boots AW, Haenen GR, Bast A. Health effects of quercetin: from antioxidant to nutraceutical. Eur J Pharmacol. 2008;585:325-37.
- 151. Hanasaki Y, Ogawa S, Fukui S. The correlation between active oxygens scavenging and antioxidative effects of flavonoids. Free Radic Biol Med. 1994;16:845-50.
- 152. Haenen GR, Paquay JB, Korthouwer RE, Bast A. Peroxynitrite scavenging by flavonoids. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1997;236:591-3.
- 153. Heijnen CG, Haenen GR, van Acker FA, van der Vijgh WJ, Bast A. Flavonoids as peroxynitrite scavengers: the role of the hydroxyl groups. Toxicol In Vitro. 2001;15:3-6.
- 154. Chang WS, Lee YJ, Lu FJ, Chiang HC. Inhibitory effects of flavonoids on xanthine oxidase. Anticancer Res. 1993;13:2165-70.

- 155. Hung LM, Su MJ, Chu WK, Chiao CW, Chan WF, Chen JK. The protective effect of resveratrols on ischaemia-reperfusion injuries of rat hearts is correlated with antioxidant efficacy. Br J Pharmacol. 2002;135:1627-33.
- 156. Jia Z, Zhu H, Misra BR, Mahaney JE, Li Y, Misra HP. EPR studies on the superoxide-scavenging capacity of the nutraceutical resveratrol. Mol Cell Biochem. 2008;313:187-94.
- 157. Leonard SS, Xia C, Jiang BH, Stinefelt B, Klandorf H, Harris GK, Shi X. Resveratrol scavenges reactive oxygen species and effects radical-induced cellular responses. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2003;309:1017-26.
- 158. Ungvari Z, Orosz Z, Rivera A, Labinskyy N, Xiangmin Z, Olson S, Podlutsky A, Csiszar A. Resveratrol increases vascular oxidative stress resistance. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2007;292:H2417-24.
- 159. Holthoff JH, Woodling KA, Doerge DR, Burns ST, Hinson JA, Mayeux PR. Resveratrol, a dietary polyphenolic phytoalexin, is a functional scavenger of peroxynitrite. Biochem Pharmacol. 2010;80:1260-5.
- 160. Li H, Xia N, Forstermann U. Cardiovascular effects and molecular targets of resveratrol. Nitric Oxide. 2012;26:102-10.
- 161. Xia N, Forstermann U, Li H. Resveratrol and endothelial nitric oxide. Molecules. 2014;19:16102-21.
- 162. Forstermann U. Nitric oxide and oxidative stress in vascular disease. Pflugers Arch. 2010;459:923-39.
- 163. Spanier G, Xu H, Xia N, Tobias S, Deng S, Wojnowski L, Forstermann U, Li H. Resveratrol reduces endothelial oxidative stress by modulating the gene expression of superoxide dismutase 1 (SOD1), glutathione peroxidase 1 (GPx1) and NADPH oxidase subunit (Nox4). J Physiol Pharmacol. 2009;60 Suppl 4:111-6.
- 164. Ungvari Z, Labinskyy N, Mukhopadhyay P, Pinto JT, Bagi Z, Ballabh P, Zhang C, Pacher P, Csiszar A. Resveratrol attenuates mitochondrial oxidative stress in coronary arterial endothelial cells. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2009;297:H1876-81.
- 165. Xia N, Daiber A, Habermeier A, Closs EI, Thum T, Spanier G, Lu Q, Oelze M, Torzewski M, Lackner KJ, Munzel T, Forstermann U, Li H. Resveratrol reverses endothelial nitric-oxide synthase uncoupling in apolipoprotein E knockout mice. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2010;335:149-54.
- 166. Tanno M, Kuno A, Yano T, Miura T, Hisahara S, Ishikawa S, Shimamoto K, Horio Y. Induction of manganese superoxide dismutase by nuclear translocation and activation of SIRT1 promotes cell survival in chronic heart failure. J Biol Chem. 2010;285:8375-82.
- 167. Romero M, Jimenez R, Sanchez M, Lopez-Sepulveda R, Zarzuelo MJ, O'Valle F, Zarzuelo A, Perez-Vizcaino F, Duarte J. Quercetin inhibits vascular superoxide production induced by endothelin-1: Role of NADPH oxidase, uncoupled eNOS and PKC. Atherosclerosis. 2009;202:58-67.
- 168. Wohlfart P, Xu H, Endlich A, Habermeier A, Closs EI, Hubschle T, Mang C, Strobel H, Suzuki T, Kleinert H, Forstermann U, Ruetten H, Li H. Antiatherosclerotic effects of small-molecular-weight compounds enhancing endothelial nitric-oxide synthase (eNOS) expression and preventing eNOS uncoupling. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2008;325:370-9.
- 169. Wellen KE, Hotamisligil GS. Inflammation, stress, and diabetes. J Clin Invest. 2005;115:1111-9.
- 170. Hotamisligil GS, Arner P, Caro JF, Atkinson RL, Spiegelman BM. Increased adipose tissue expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in human obesity and insulin resistance. J Clin Invest. 1995;95:2409-15.
- 171. Hotamisligil GS, Shargill NS, Spiegelman BM. Adipose expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha: direct role in obesity-linked insulin resistance. Science. 1993;259:87-91.
- 172. Kern PA, Saghizadeh M, Ong JM, Bosch RJ, Deem R, Simsolo RB. The expression of tumor necrosis factor in human adipose tissue. Regulation by obesity, weight loss, and relationship to lipoprotein lipase. J Clin Invest. 1995;95:2111-9.
- 173. Siriwardhana N, Kalupahana NS, Cekanova M, LeMieux M, Greer B, Moustaid-Moussa N. Modulation of adipose tissue inflammation by bioactive food compounds. J Nutr Biochem. 2013;24:613-23.
- 174. Backesjo CM, Li Y, Lindgren U, Haldosen LA. Activation of Sirt1 decreases adipocyte formation during osteoblast differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. J Bone Miner Res. 2006;21:993-1002.
- 175. Bai L, Pang WJ, Yang YJ, Yang GS. Modulation of Sirt1 by resveratrol and nicotinamide alters proliferation and differentiation of pig preadipocytes. Mol Cell Biochem. 2008;307:129-40.
- 176. Picard F, Kurtev M, Chung N, Topark-Ngarm A, Senawong T, Machado De Oliveira R, Leid M, McBurney MW, Guarente L. Sirt1 promotes fat mobilization in white adipocytes by repressing PPAR-gamma. Nature. 2004;429:771-6.
- 177. Lasa A, Schweiger M, Kotzbeck P, Churruca I, Simon E, Zechner R, Portillo MP. Resveratrol regulates lipolysis via adipose triglyceride lipase. J Nutr Biochem. 2012;23:379-84.
- 178. Szkudelska K, Nogowski L, Szkudelski T. Resveratrol, a naturally occurring diphenolic compound, affects lipogenesis, lipolysis and the antilipolytic action of insulin in isolated rat adipocytes. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2009;113:17-24.

- 179. Ahn J, Lee H, Kim S, Park J, Ha T. The anti-obesity effect of quercetin is mediated by the AMPK and MAPK signaling pathways. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2008;373:545-9.
- 180. Leiherer A, Mundlein A, Drexel H. Phytochemicals and their impact on adipose tissue inflammation and diabetes. Vascul Pharmacol. 2013;58:3-20.
- 181. Ahn J, Lee H, Kim S, Ha T. Resveratrol inhibits TNF-alpha-induced changes of adipokines in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2007;364:972-7.
- 182. Chuang CC, Martinez K, Xie G, Kennedy A, Bumrungpert A, Overman A, Jia W, McIntosh MK. Quercetin is equally or more effective than resveratrol in attenuating tumor necrosis factor-{alpha}-mediated inflammation and insulin resistance in primary human adipocytes. Am J Clin Nutr. 2010;92:1511-21.
- Kang L, Heng W, Yuan A, Baolin L, Fang H. Resveratrol modulates adipokine expression and improves insulin sensitivity in adipocytes: Relative to inhibition of inflammatory responses. Biochimie. 2010;92:789-96.
- 184. Olholm J, Paulsen SK, Cullberg KB, Richelsen B, Pedersen SB. Anti-inflammatory effect of resveratrol on adipokine expression and secretion in human adipose tissue explants. Int J Obes (Lond). 2010;34:1546-53.
- 185. Yen GC, Chen YC, Chang WT, Hsu CL. Effects of polyphenolic compounds on tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha)-induced changes of adipokines and oxidative stress in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. J Agric Food Chem. 2011;59:546-51.
- 186. Zhu J, Yong W, Wu X, Yu Y, Lv J, Liu C, Mao X, Zhu Y, Xu K, Han X, Liu C. Anti-inflammatory effect of resveratrol on TNF-alpha-induced MCP-1 expression in adipocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2008;369:471-7.
- 187. Vazquez Prieto MA, Bettaieb A, Rodriguez Lanzi C, Soto VC, Perdicaro DJ, Galmarini CR, Haj FG, Miatello RM, Oteiza PI. Catechin and quercetin attenuate adipose inflammation in fructose-fed rats and 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2015;59:622-33.
- 188. Wein S, Behm N, Petersen RK, Kristiansen K, Wolffram S. Quercetin enhances adiponectin secretion by a PPAR-gamma independent mechanism. Eur J Pharm Sci. 2010;41:16-22.
- 189. Cottart CH, Nivet-Antoine V, Beaudeux JL. Review of recent data on the metabolism, biological effects, and toxicity of resveratrol in humans. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2014;58:7-21.
- 190. Khurana S, Venkataraman K, Hollingsworth A, Piche M, Tai TC. Polyphenols: benefits to the cardiovascular system in health and in aging. Nutrients. 2013;5:3779-827.
- 191. Tome-Carneiro J, Larrosa M, Gonzalez-Sarrias A, Tomas-Barberan FA, Garcia-Conesa MT, Espin JC. Resveratrol and clinical trials: the crossroad from in vitro studies to human evidence. Curr Pharm Des. 2013;19:6064-93.
- 192. Boocock DJ, Faust GE, Patel KR, Schinas AM, Brown VA, Ducharme MP, Booth TD, Crowell JA, Perloff M, Gescher AJ, Steward WP, Brenner DE. Phase I dose escalation pharmacokinetic study in healthy volunteers of resveratrol, a potential cancer chemopreventive agent. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2007;16:1246-52.
- 193. Lu NT, Crespi CM, Liu NM, Vu JQ, Ahmadieh Y, Wu S, Lin S, McClune A, Durazo F, Saab S, Han S, Neiman DC, Beaven S, French SW. A Phase I Dose Escalation Study Demonstrates Quercetin Safety and Explores Potential for Bioflavonoid Antivirals in Patients with Chronic Hepatitis C. Phytother Res. 2016;30:160-8.
- 194. Pignatelli P, Ghiselli A, Buchetti B, Carnevale R, Natella F, Germano G, Fimognari F, Di Santo S, Lenti L, Violi F. Polyphenols synergistically inhibit oxidative stress in subjects given red and white wine. Atherosclerosis. 2006;188:77-83.
- 195. Goldberg DM, Yan J, Soleas GJ. Absorption of three wine-related polyphenols in three different matrices by healthy subjects. Clin Biochem. 2003;36:79-87.
- 196. Walle T, Hsieh F, DeLegge MH, Oatis JE, Jr., Walle UK. High absorption but very low bioavailability of oral resveratrol in humans. Drug Metab Dispos. 2004;32:1377-82.
- 197. Almeida L, Vaz-da-Silva M, Falcao A, Soares E, Costa R, Loureiro AI, Fernandes-Lopes C, Rocha JF, Nunes T, Wright L, Soares-da-Silva P. Pharmacokinetic and safety profile of trans-resveratrol in a rising multipledose study in healthy volunteers. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2009;53 Suppl 1:S7-15.
- 198. Meng X, Maliakal P, Lu H, Lee MJ, Yang CS. Urinary and plasma levels of resveratrol and quercetin in humans, mice, and rats after ingestion of pure compounds and grape juice. J Agric Food Chem. 2004;52:935-42.
- 199. Teng Z, Yuan C, Zhang F, Huan M, Cao W, Li K, Yang J, Cao D, Zhou S, Mei Q. Intestinal absorption and firstpass metabolism of polyphenol compounds in rat and their transport dynamics in Caco-2 cells. PLoS One. 2012;7:e29647.
- 200. Poulsen MM, Jorgensen JO, Jessen N, Richelsen B, Pedersen SB. Resveratrol in metabolic health: an overview of the current evidence and perspectives. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2013;1290:74-82.

- 201. Cai H, Scott E, Kholghi A, Andreadi C, Rufini A, Karmokar A, Britton RG, Horner-Glister E, Greaves P, Jawad D, James M, Howells L, Ognibene T, Malfatti M, Goldring C, Kitteringham N, Walsh J, Viskaduraki M, West K, Miller A, Hemingway D, Steward WP, Gescher AJ, Brown K. Cancer chemoprevention: Evidence of a nonlinear dose response for the protective effects of resveratrol in humans and mice. Sci Transl Med. 2015;7:298ra117.
- 202. Pearce VP, Sherrell J, Lou Z, Kopelovich L, Wright WE, Shay JW. Immortalization of epithelial progenitor cells mediated by resveratrol. Oncogene. 2008;27:2365-74.
- 203. Smoliga JM, Blanchard O. Enhancing the delivery of resveratrol in humans: if low bioavailability is the problem, what is the solution? Molecules. 2014;19:17154-72.
- 204. Abd El-Mohsen M, Bayele H, Kuhnle G, Gibson G, Debnam E, Kaila Srai S, Rice-Evans C, Spencer JP. Distribution of [3H]trans-resveratrol in rat tissues following oral administration. Br J Nutr. 2006;96:62-70.
- 205. Andres-Lacueva C, Macarulla MT, Rotches-Ribalta M, Boto-Ordonez M, Urpi-Sarda M, Rodriguez VM, Portillo MP. Distribution of resveratrol metabolites in liver, adipose tissue, and skeletal muscle in rats fed different doses of this polyphenol. J Agric Food Chem. 2012;60:4833-40.
- 206. Juan ME, Maijo M, Planas JM. Quantification of trans-resveratrol and its metabolites in rat plasma and tissues by HPLC. J Pharm Biomed Anal. 2010;51:391-8.
- 207. Lin SP, Chu PM, Tsai SY, Wu MH, Hou YC. Pharmacokinetics and tissue distribution of resveratrol, emodin and their metabolites after intake of Polygonum cuspidatum in rats. J Ethnopharmacol. 2012;144:671-6.
- 208. Lou BS, Wu PS, Hou CW, Cheng FY, Chen JK. Simultaneous quantification of trans-resveratrol and its sulfate and glucuronide metabolites in rat tissues by stable isotope-dilution UPLC-MS/MS analysis. J Pharm Biomed Anal. 2014;94:99-105.
- 209. Wang D, Xu Y, Liu W. Tissue distribution and excretion of resveratrol in rat after oral administration of Polygonum cuspidatum extract (PCE). Phytomedicine. 2008;15:859-66.
- 210. Eseberri I, Lasa A, Churruca I, Portillo MP. Resveratrol metabolites modify adipokine expression and secretion in 3T3-L1 pre-adipocytes and mature adipocytes. PLoS One. 2013;8:e63918.
- 211. Lasa A, Churruca I, Eseberri I, Andres-Lacueva C, Portillo MP. Delipidating effect of resveratrol metabolites in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2012;56:1559-68.
- 212. Calamini B, Ratia K, Malkowski MG, Cuendet M, Pezzuto JM, Santarsiero BD, Mesecar AD. Pleiotropic mechanisms facilitated by resveratrol and its metabolites. Biochem J. 2010;429:273-82.
- 213. Walker J, Schueller K, Schaefer LM, Pignitter M, Esefelder L, Somoza V. Resveratrol and its metabolites inhibit pro-inflammatory effects of lipopolysaccharides in U-937 macrophages in plasma-representative concentrations. Food Funct. 2014;5:74-84.
- 214. Ladurner A, Schachner D, Schueller K, Pignitter M, Heiss EH, Somoza V, Dirsch VM. Impact of transresveratrol-sulfates and -glucuronides on endothelial nitric oxide synthase activity, nitric oxide release and intracellular reactive oxygen species. Molecules. 2014;19:16724-36.
- 215. Patel KR, Andreadi C, Britton RG, Horner-Glister E, Karmokar A, Sale S, Brown VA, Brenner DE, Singh R, Steward WP, Gescher AJ, Brown K. Sulfate metabolites provide an intracellular pool for resveratrol generation and induce autophagy with senescence. Sci Transl Med. 2013;5:205ra133.
- 216. Conquer JA, Maiani G, Azzini E, Raguzzini A, Holub BJ. Supplementation with quercetin markedly increases plasma quercetin concentration without effect on selected risk factors for heart disease in healthy subjects. J Nutr. 1998;128:593-7.
- 217. Manach C, Williamson G, Morand C, Scalbert A, Remesy C. Bioavailability and bioefficacy of polyphenols in humans. I. Review of 97 bioavailability studies. Am J Clin Nutr. 2005;81:230s-42s.
- 218. Scalbert A, Williamson G. Dietary intake and bioavailability of polyphenols. J Nutr. 2000;130:2073s-85s.
- 219. Moon JH, Tsushida T, Nakahara K, Terao J. Identification of quercetin 3-O-beta-D-glucuronide as an antioxidative metabolite in rat plasma after oral administration of quercetin. Free Radic Biol Med. 2001;30:1274-85.
- 220. Shirai M, Kawai Y, Yamanishi R, Kinoshita T, Chuman H, Terao J. Effect of a conjugated quercetin metabolite, quercetin 3-glucuronide, on lipid hydroperoxide-dependent formation of reactive oxygen species in differentiated PC-12 cells. Free Radic Res. 2006;40:1047-53.
- 221. Lodi F, Jimenez R, Moreno L, Kroon PA, Needs PW, Hughes DA, Santos-Buelga C, Gonzalez-Paramas A, Cogolludo A, Lopez-Sepulveda R, Duarte J, Perez-Vizcaino F. Glucuronidated and sulfated metabolites of the flavonoid quercetin prevent endothelial dysfunction but lack direct vasorelaxant effects in rat aorta. Atherosclerosis. 2009;204:34-9.
- 222. Menendez C, Duenas M, Galindo P, Gonzalez-Manzano S, Jimenez R, Moreno L, Zarzuelo MJ, Rodriguez-Gomez I, Duarte J, Santos-Buelga C, Perez-Vizcaino F. Vascular deconjugation of quercetin glucuronide: the flavonoid paradox revealed? Mol Nutr Food Res. 2011;55:1780-90.

- 223. Perez-Vizcaino F, Duarte J, Santos-Buelga C. The flavonoid paradox: conjugation and deconjugation as key steps for the biological activity of flavonoids. J Sci Food Agric. 2012;92:1822-5.
- 224. de Boer VC, Dihal AA, van der Woude H, Arts IC, Wolffram S, Alink GM, Rietjens IM, Keijer J, Hollman PC. Tissue distribution of quercetin in rats and pigs. J Nutr. 2005;135:1718-25.
- 225. Ortuno J, Covas MI, Farre M, Pujadas M, Fito M, Khymenets O, Andres-Lacueva C, Roset P, Joglar J, Lamuela-Raventos RM, de la Torre R. Matrix effects on the bioavailability of resveratrol in humans. Food Chemistry. 2010;120:1123-30.
- 226. Egert S, Wolffram S, Schulze B, Langguth P, Hubbermann EM, Schwarz K, Adolphi B, Bosy-Westphal A, Rimbach G, Muller MJ. Enriched cereal bars are more effective in increasing plasma quercetin compared with quercetin from powder-filled hard capsules. Br J Nutr. 2012;107:539-46.
- 227. Baur JA, Pearson KJ, Price NL, Jamieson HA, Lerin C, Kalra A, Prabhu VV, Allard JS, Lopez-Lluch G, Lewis K, Pistell PJ, Poosala S, Becker KG, Boss O, Gwinn D, Wang M, Ramaswamy S, Fishbein KW, Spencer RG, Lakatta EG, Le Couteur D, Shaw RJ, Navas P, Puigserver P, Ingram DK, de Cabo R, Sinclair DA. Resveratrol improves health and survival of mice on a high-calorie diet. Nature. 2006;444:337-42.
- 228. Lagouge M, Argmann C, Gerhart-Hines Z, Meziane H, Lerin C, Daussin F, Messadeq N, Milne J, Lambert P, Elliott P, Geny B, Laakso M, Puigserver P, Auwerx J. Resveratrol improves mitochondrial function and protects against metabolic disease by activating SIRT1 and PGC-1alpha. Cell. 2006;127:1109-22.
- 229. Robb EL, Winkelmolen L, Visanji N, Brotchie J, Stuart JA. Dietary resveratrol administration increases MnSOD expression and activity in mouse brain. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2008;372:254-9.
- 230. Lesser S, Cermak R, Wolffram S. Bioavailability of quercetin in pigs is influenced by the dietary fat content. J Nutr. 2004;134:1508-11.
- 231. Johnson JJ, Nihal M, Siddiqui IA, Scarlett CO, Bailey HH, Mukhtar H, Ahmad N. Enhancing the bioavailability of resveratrol by combining it with piperine. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2011;55:1169-76.
- 232. Scheepens A, Tan K, Paxton JW. Improving the oral bioavailability of beneficial polyphenols through designed synergies. Genes Nutr. 2010;5:75-87.
- 233. Basavaraj S, Betageri GV. Improved oral delivery of resveratrol using proliposomal formulation: investigation of various factors contributing to prolonged absorption of unmetabolized resveratrol. Expert Opin Drug Deliv. 2014;11:493-503.
- 234. Gokce EH, Korkmaz E, Dellera E, Sandri G, Bonferoni MC, Ozer O. Resveratrol-loaded solid lipid nanoparticles versus nanostructured lipid carriers: evaluation of antioxidant potential for dermal applications. Int J Nanomedicine. 2012;7:1841-50.
- 235. Narayanan NK, Nargi D, Randolph C, Narayanan BA. Liposome encapsulation of curcumin and resveratrol in combination reduces prostate cancer incidence in PTEN knockout mice. Int J Cancer. 2009;125:1-8.
- 236. Wang S, Su R, Nie S, Sun M, Zhang J, Wu D, Moustaid-Moussa N. Application of nanotechnology in improving bioavailability and bioactivity of diet-derived phytochemicals. J Nutr Biochem. 2014;25:363-76.
- 237. Jain S, Jain AK, Pohekar M, Thanki K. Novel self-emulsifying formulation of quercetin for improved in vivo antioxidant potential: implications for drug-induced cardiotoxicity and nephrotoxicity. Free Radic Biol Med. 2013;65:117-30.

Chapter II

Aims and main research questions

Chapter II Aims and main research questions

II.1 General aims

Part I of this thesis will focus on the perivascular adipose tissue (PVAT), which is now considered as an important paracrine modulator of vascular tone through the release of various adipo(cyto)kines. These vasoactive substances, which will be discussed in a review in **chapter III**, elicit a net beneficial anticontractile effect on vascular function. Normal functioning of PVAT is thus essential for normal vascular function. Hence interfering with PVAT (dys)function might alleviate or aggravate vascular complications seen in several pathophysiologic conditions. Therefore **chapter IV** will explore whether the normal functioning of PVAT i.e. its relaxing influence, can be affected under several circumstances such as resveratrol addition and/or testosterone depletion.

Part II of this thesis will focus on one of the vascular complications, which is frequently associated with pathophysiologic conditions, such as obesity, diabetes and hypertension: erectile dysfunction (ED). Like vascular function, normal erectile function and thus penile erection relies on a tightly regulated balance between contraction and relaxation. The pivotal role of the NO/cGMP pathway in the regulation of normal penile erection is nowadays well established [1]. Disturbance or impairment will therefore inevitably result in erectile dysfunction [1]. Due to its central role for normal penile erection, current available therapies for ED often aim at increasing cGMP concentrations. Indeed, nowadays the golden standard for treating ED is the use of phosphodiesterase-5 (PDE5) inhibitors. However, since 30-35 % of the patients fail to respond to current PDE-5 inhibitors [2] and due to the adverse effects of current therapies to treat ED, the search for alternative and better strategies is a necessity. Potential alternative options for the treatment of (diabetic) ED will be explored in **chapters V, VI and VII**.

II.2 Main research questions

II.2.1 Chapter IV - Can the relaxing influence of PVAT be positively or negatively modulated by resveratrol treatment and/or testosterone depletion?

In pathophysiologic conditions, such as obesity, diabetes and hypertension the relaxing effect of PVAT is lost due to dysfunctional adipose tissue which is characterized by an unbalanced secretion of relaxing adipo(cyto)kines [3-5]. Since adipogenesis, body fat distribution and/or adip(cyto)kine secretion can be modulated by (i) resveratrol [6-8] or (ii) (low levels of) testosterone [9-11], **chapter IV** will investigate whether resveratrol and testosterone depletion (orchidectomy) also affect the vasorelaxing influence of PVAT using in vitro tension measurements.

II.2.2 Chapter V & VI - Do resveratrol and/or quercetin exert positive effects on corpora cavernosa? How do they work? Do they work under in vitro-diabetic conditions?

Since numerous cardiovascular positive effects such as a direct relaxant and antioxidant capacity, have been ascribed to red wine polyphenols, resveratrol and quercetin, they might be useful for improving erectile function. **Chapter V** will investigate the ability of resveratrol and quercetin to relax mouse corpora cavernosa as well as the underlying mechanism using in vitro tension measurements. In addition obesity and type 2 diabetes are characterized by elevated levels of free fatty acids, including palmitic acid [12]. Therefore the ability of resveratrol and quercetin to improve palmitic acid-induced impairments of corporal responses will be studied.

For our next study, we wondered whether the positive effects of resveratrol and quercetin on erectile tissue would still account in pathophysiologic conditions. As in the previous study, palmitic acid was found to impair the corporal relaxant responses only to a limited extent, other more potent compounds were sought to create an in vitro model for oxidative stress. Therefore our next study, described in **chapter VI**, will evaluate the effect of in vitro diabetic mimicking conditions using high concentrations of glucose in combination with methylglyoxal, a glucose metabolite which is found in high concentrations in diabetes, on vascular and corporal responses. In addition it will be explored whether resveratrol and quercetin could be useful in the prevention of in vitro induced diabetic deficits to the relaxant responses of mouse arteries and corpora cavernosa. II.2.3 Chapter VII - Does inhibition of cGMP export elicit positive relaxant responses in mouse corpora cavernosa?

In addition to metabolic degradation of cGMP by PDE5, it has recently been suggested that cGMP can also be actively transported across the plasma membrane by members of the multidrug resistance protein (MRP) 4 and 5 [13-17], both being expressed in smooth muscle cells of the corpora cavernosa [18, 19]. Prevention of cGMP-transport out of the cavernosal smooth muscle cells might thus represent a new and alternative approach to elevate intracellular cGMP levels and thus to treat ED. In the last study, described in **chapter VII**, the functional effect of MRP 4 inhibition as well as the role of MRP 4-mediated cGMP export in mouse corpora cavernosa will be investigated in vitro and in vivo.

References

- 1. Burnett AL, Lowenstein CJ, Bredt DS, Chang TS, Snyder SH. Nitric oxide: a physiologic mediator of penile erection. Science. 1992;257:401-3.
- 2. McMahon CN, Smith CJ, Shabsigh R. Treating erectile dysfunction when PDE5 inhibitors fail. Bmj. 2006;332:589-92.
- 3. Achike FI, To NH, Wang H, Kwan CY. Obesity, metabolic syndrome, adipocytes and vascular function: A holistic viewpoint. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol. 2011;38:1-10.
- 4. Fernandez-Alfonso MS, Gil-Ortega M, Garcia-Prieto CF, Aranguez I, Ruiz-Gayo M, Somoza B. Mechanisms of perivascular adipose tissue dysfunction in obesity. Int J Endocrinol. 2013;2013:402053.
- 5. Greenstein AS, Khavandi K, Withers SB, Sonoyama K, Clancy O, Jeziorska M, Laing I, Yates AP, Pemberton PW, Malik RA, Heagerty AM. Local inflammation and hypoxia abolish the protective anticontractile properties of perivascular fat in obese patients. Circulation. 2009;119:1661-70.
- 6. Olholm J, Paulsen SK, Cullberg KB, Richelsen B, Pedersen SB. Anti-inflammatory effect of resveratrol on adipokine expression and secretion in human adipose tissue explants. Int J Obes (Lond). 2010;34:1546-53.
- 7. Rosenow A, Noben JP, Jocken J, Kallendrusch S, Fischer-Posovszky P, Mariman EC, Renes J. Resveratrolinduced changes of the human adipocyte secretion profile. J Proteome Res. 2012;11:4733-43.
- 8. Siriwardhana N, Kalupahana NS, Cekanova M, LeMieux M, Greer B, Moustaid-Moussa N. Modulation of adipose tissue inflammation by bioactive food compounds. J Nutr Biochem. 2013;24:613-23.
- 9. Blouin K, Boivin A, Tchernof A. Androgens and body fat distribution. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2008;108:272-80.
- 10. De Maddalena C, Vodo S, Petroni A, Aloisi AM. Impact of testosterone on body fat composition. J Cell Physiol. 2012;227:3744-8.
- 11. Navarro G, Allard C, Xu W, Mauvais-Jarvis F. The role of androgens in metabolism, obesity, and diabetes in males and females. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2015;23:713-9.
- 12. Boden G. Obesity and free fatty acids. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am. 2008;37:635-46, viii-ix.
- 13. Chen ZS, Lee K, Kruh GD. Transport of cyclic nucleotides and estradiol 17-beta-D-glucuronide by multidrug resistance protein 4. Resistance to 6-mercaptopurine and 6-thioguanine. J Biol Chem. 2001;276:33747-54.
- 14. Jedlitschky G, Burchell B, Keppler D. The multidrug resistance protein 5 functions as an ATP-dependent export pump for cyclic nucleotides. J Biol Chem. 2000;275:30069-74.
- 15. Krawutschke C, Koesling D, Russwurm M. Cyclic GMP in Vascular Relaxation: Export Is of Similar Importance as Degradation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2015;35:2011-9.
- 16. Sager G. Cyclic GMP transporters. Neurochem Int. 2004;45:865-73.
- 17. van Aubel RA, Smeets PH, Peters JG, Bindels RJ, Russel FG. The MRP4/ABCC4 gene encodes a novel apical organic anion transporter in human kidney proximal tubules: putative efflux pump for urinary cAMP and cGMP. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2002;13:595-603.
- 18. Nies AT, Spring H, Thon WF, Keppler D, Jedlitschky G. Immunolocalization of multidrug resistance protein 5 in the human genitourinary system. J Urol. 2002;167:2271-5.
- 19. Rius M, Thon WF, Keppler D, Nies AT. Prostanoid transport by multidrug resistance protein 4 (MRP4/ABCC4) localized in tissues of the human urogenital tract. J Urol. 2005;174:2409-14.

Chapter III

Adipose tissue as regulator of vascular tone

Charlotte Boydens, Nele Maenhaut, Bart Pauwels, Kelly Decaluwé and Johan

Van de Voorde

Department of Pharmacology, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium

Based on:

Curr Hypertens Rep 2012;14:270-278

Chapter III Adipose tissue as regulator of vascular tone

III.1 Abstract

Adipokines secreted by visceral, subcutaneous and perivascular adipocytes are involved in the regulation of vascular tone by acting as circulatory hormones (leptin, adiponectin, omentin, visfatin, angiotensin II, resistin, tumor necrosis factor alpha, interleukin-6, apelin) and/or as local paracrine factors (perivascular adipocyte-derived relaxing and contractile factors). Vascular tone regulation by adipokines is compromised in obesitas and obesityrelated disorders. Hypoxia created in growing adipose tissue dysregulates synthesis of vasoactive adipokines in favor of harmful proinflammatory adipokines, while the levels of the cardioprotective adipokines adiponectin and omentin decrease. Considering the role of adipokines in obesity-related vascular diseases potential, strategies to counter these diseases by targeting the adipokines are discussed.

III.2 Introduction

The tone of vascular smooth muscle cells importantly determines blood pressure and regional blood flow. This vascular tone is regulated by myogenic mechanisms and by vasoactive mediators released either by nerves, or endocrine and paracrine tissues. In last decennia the cardinal influence of endothelial cells on vascular smooth muscle tone has become evident. More recently evidence emerged that also adipocytes are involved [1, 2]. Adipokines secreted by adipocytes include circulating hormones, inflammatory cytokines and local acting paracrine factors and are involved in various physiological processes [3]. The role of the vasoactive adipokines in vascular physiology will be highlighted in view of the worldwide pandemic character of obesity with its associated cardiovascular diseases [4].

III.3 Sources of vasoactive adipokines

Fat depots are interspersed in many different body locations and includes visceral, subcutaneous and perivascular adipose tissues. These depots constitute a variety of miniorgans with unique proteomics fingerprint. The total number of secreted components of adipocytes approaches 100 distinct proteins, a number that is likely to increase [5]. Several adipokines possess vasoactive properties and some of them are well characterized as circulating hormones (eg adiponectin, leptin ...). More recently it has become clear from in vitro studies on isolated blood vessels that vascular tone is also importantly influenced by paracrine mediators from perivascular adipose tissue.

III.4 Adipocytes in obesity

Obesity is associated with a state of chronic low-grade inflammation involving the production of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines by adipocytes, including those surrounding the vasculature [6]. It has been proposed that local hypoxia may be the fundamental determinant in the development of this inflammatory response. Hypoxia occurs in areas of the fat depots when the vascular oxygen supply is compromised due to tissue mass expansion [7]. Direct evidence that growing adipose tissue becomes hypoxic has been obtained in mice [8]. Furthermore, cell-culture studies using murine and human adipocytes strongly support the modulatory role of hypoxia in the production of several pro-inflammatory adipokines [9]. A recent study demonstrates that even modest changes in O₂-level already induce specific changes in gene expression and metabolism of human

adipocytes [10] indicating that adipocytes are highly sensitive to the prevailing level of O_2 . This is an important observation considering that most studies in vitro are performed using cells oxygenated with a gas containing 21 % O_2 , which is actually well above the O_2 -tension prevailing in tissues were oxygen levels are much lower than in arterial blood.

It can be noted that hypoxia also promotes angiogenesis [11]. Hypoxia upregulates inducible transcription factors, which trigger the expression of angiogenic adipokines such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1). Novel vascularisation can be considered as an automatic fail-safe in order to counter hypoxia and to ensure sufficient nutrient and oxygen supply to the different tissues. Despite the great angiogenic potential, rapidly expanding fat tissue still experiences hypoxia. Also aging is associated with hypoxia and oxidative stress in adipose tissue, similar to what is seen in obesity. Aging is associated with altered function, size and number of adipose cells and altered distribution of adipose tissues in the body [12].



III.5 Vasoactive adipokines (Fig.III.1)

Figure III.1 Adipose tissue releases several vasoactive adipokines. Some of them have vasorelaxing or antiinflammatory properties, some have vasocontractile or pro-inflammatory properties and others share both. PVADRF: perivascular adipocyte derived relaxing factor, TNF_{α} : tumor necrosis factor alpha, ROS: reactive oxygen species.

III.5.1 Leptin

Leptin is best known as the adipokine regulating feeding behavior. However, leptin also has vasorelaxing and vasocontractile effects and in that way contributes to a balanced blood pressure homeostasis. While the contractile effect of leptin is attributed to activation of the sympathetic nervous system, various mechanisms seem to be responsible for the leptininduced vasorelaxation including endothelium-dependent release of nitric oxide (NO). Leptin levels are markedly increased during obesity [13] and this hyperleptinemia is believed to dysregulate blood pressure, resulting in hypertension. Sustained hyperleptinemia leads to endothelial dysfunction affecting endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation [14]. This might be the result of several leptin-induced effects: increase of vasoconstrictor endothelin-1 [15], a leptin-induced expression of endothelin type A receptors in vascular smooth muscle cells [16], a leptin-induced depletion of NO and increase of cytotoxic reactive oxygen species (ROS) [17]. Leptin also promotes smooth muscle cell proliferation contributing to the increased peripheral vascular resistance [18]. Furthermore, it stimulates the release of proinflammatory cytokines from macrophages which may further elevate blood pressure and exacerbate the inflammatory process [19]. Significant associations have been found between plasma leptin levels and hypertension in both males and females, which makes leptin a potential predictor of hypertension [20, 21].

III.5.2 Adiponectin

Adiponectin is one of the most abundant adipokines secreted in the circulation [22]. While many adipokines are pro-inflammatory and contribute to vascular dysfunction, adiponectin has favorable cardiovascular effects and possess potential as a therapeutic target for combating obesity-associated vascular disease.

Both in vivo and in vitro animal studies as well as clinical data consistently support the role of adiponectin as vasodilator that induces endothelial NO-synthase (eNOS) activation and consequently endothelial NO production. In addition adiponectin protects the endothelium from oxidative stress by decreasing ROS production, prevents endothelial cell activation (a key pathological event in vascular inflammation and atherosclerosis) and monocyte adhesion. Adiponectin also improves endothelial progenitor cell function, leading to improved repair after vascular injury. It also inhibits macrophage activation and foam cell formation and it reduces proliferation and migration of vascular smooth muscle cells. Adiponectin thus inhibits almost every pathological event involved in vascular disease, ranging from endothelial injury and dysfunction to atherosclerotic lesion formation. These favorable effects are mediated through its pleiotropic actions on several types of cells in the vasculature, including mature endothelial cells, endothelial progenitor cells, monocytes and vascular smooth muscle cells [23, 24].

Epidemiological studies on different ethnic groups often have identified low level of circulating adiponectin as an independent risk factor for type-2 diabetes, hypertension, atherosclerosis and myocardial infarction. Hypoadiponectinemia causes endothelial dysfunction by increasing superoxide anion production [25, 26], by promoting the production of adhesion molecules in endothelial cells and the proliferation of vascular smooth muscle cells. Decreased plasma adiponectin concentrations are found in patients with essential hypertension [27]. However, it should be noted that after the establishment of atherosclerosis, this association may become weaker, especially in the presence of conditions inducing a hyper-catabolic state (such as heart or renal failure) which are associated with increased plasma adiponectin, accelerated progression of atherosclerosis and worse clinical outcome. In fact, several data show that high circulating adiponectin levels are associated with increased cardiovascular mortality in patients with coronary artery disease [28]. Therefore, hypoadiponectinemia may have a clinical value at the early stages of atherogenesis, but at more advanced disease stages its role as a meaningful biomarker is questioned. An abundance of epidemiological studies demonstrate that circulating levels of adiponectin correlate with increased mortality and severity of cardiac heart failure. It is still inconclusive whether the increased adiponectin production plays a detrimental role or a protective role in cardiac heart failure as it could be that increased adiponectin production in patients with cardiac heart failure serves as a means of compensatory upregulation against oxidative stress and inflammation [29].

Considering the beneficial effects of adiponectin on vascular system, strategies to increase adiponectin levels could be of great therapeutic value. It has already been demonstrated in obese adiponectin knockout mice with hypertension that adiponectin replenishment lowers the elevated blood pressure [30]. Results from a recent study in mice indicate that exogenous adiponectin supplementation might have a prophylactic value against secondary myocardial ischemic injury after a primary non-lethal mechanical trauma [31]. Existing drugs like peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ (PPAR γ) agonists (thiazolidinediones), some angiotensin type 1 receptor blockers (telmisartan), angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors and cannabinoid type 1 receptor blockers (rimonabant, taranabant) have been shown to increase circulating adiponectin levels [28]. This also occurs with weight loss and physical exercise, along with the adaptations of a Mediterranean-type diet [32]. Recent studies showed that the antioxidant resveratrol increases the adiponectin expression [33] and that the antioxidants NO-acetylcysteine and allopurinol synergistically enhance cardiac adiponectin content and reduce myocardial reperfusion injury in diabetic rats [34].

Whatsoever, future strategies may focus on up-regulation of adiponectin's expression (and/or its receptors) or on targeting adiponectin's receptors through the development of specific agonists. As yet direct evidence that adiponectin as such protects against vascular disease in humans is still lacking. Adiponectin-based therapeutics are not available partly due to difficulties in converting the full size adiponectin protein into a viable drug. A recent study reports on the design and initial preclinical development of the first adiponectin receptor agonist which may be promising to substitute for the low adiponectin levels in obesitas-related diseases [35].

III.5.3 Omentin

Omentin is a recently identified adipose tissue-derived cytokine expressed in visceral rather than in subcutaneous adipose tissue and exists in 2 isoforms of which omentin-1 is the major circulating isoform in human plasma. In isolated arteries, omentin induces relaxations [36]. As yet only in vitro studies on isolated blood vessels have been performed. In vivo studies are required to explore the influence of omentin on blood pressure and its chronic influence on vascular reactivity.

Omentin plasma levels and the adipose tissue gene expression are decreased in obesity [36] and even more when overweight is combined with type-2 diabetes [37]. Furthermore, decreased omentin-1 levels are associated with low plasma adiponectin and high-density lipoprotein (HDL) levels. In addition, omentin-1 levels are negatively correlated with leptin levels, waist circumference, body mass index and insulin resistance [38]. Like adiponectin, circulating omentin-1 concentrations increase after weight loss-induced improvement of

insulin sensitivity [39]. Although further research is necessary, elevating the omentin levels might be an interesting therapeutic strategy in obesity and obesity-related disorders.

III.5.4 Visfatin

Visfatin is another novel identified cytokine with multiple functions in the vasculature. Visfatin relaxes isolated arteries, stimulates growth of vascular smooth muscle cells [40 and endothelial angiogenesis [41]. Most studies, but not all, showed an increase in visfatin levels in obesity [42]. It has been reported that the expression of visfatin is high at plaque rupture sites in patients with coronary artery disease [43]. Visfatin accelerates monocyte adhesion to endothelial cells by up-regulating intercellular (ICAM-1) and vascular (VCAM-1) cell adhesion molecule-1 due to ROS overproduction, suggesting a possible role for visfatin in the development of atherosclerosis [44]. Further studies are necessary to clarify the atherogenic and vasoactive effects of visfatin and its potential clinical relevance.

III.5.5 Angiotensinogen/Angiotensin II

Adipocytes are rich sources of angiotensinogen, the precursor protein of a major vasocontractile peptide called angiotensin II [45]. They possess all the enzymes necessary to produce angiotensin II [46], suggesting the existence of a local renin-angiotensin system in adipose tissue. An important effect of angiotensin II is that this peptide enhances the metabolism of NO into ROS, which damage the vascular tissue [47]. An imbalance between angiotensin II and NO leads to endothelial dysfunction resulting in a loss of vasodilator capacity. This results in an increased expression of adhesion molecules and pro-inflammatory cytokines in endothelial cells promoting monocyte and leukocyte adhesion plus migration to the vessel wall [48]. Furthermore angiotensin II exerts detrimental effects on progression and destabilization of atherosclerotic plaque due to an increased expression of growth factors leading to smooth muscle cell proliferation and migration [48].

Most data support an elevation of angiotensinogen mRNA expression in adipose tissue during obesity [49]. Several studies highlight a contribution of adipose tissue-derived angiotensinogen and/or angiotensin peptides to obesity-related hypertension [49]. High angiotensin II levels may deteriorate obesity-related hypertension due to an increased

secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines [50], decreased adiponectin secretion [51] or increased leptin production in adipocytes [52].

III.5.6 Resistin

Resistin is secreted into the medium by cultured adipocytes and circulates in plasma. However, especially circulating monocytes and macrophages seem to be responsible for resistin production in humans [41]. Although resistin does not directly affect the contractility of isolated blood vessels [41, 53], coronary blood flow, mean arterial pressure or heart rate [54], it has been associated with endothelial dysfunction and coronary heart disease [55]. It has also been shown that high plasma resistin levels independently associate with an increased risk for hypertension among non-diabetic women [56].

III.5.7 Tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF_{α})

The cytokine TNF_{α} is an adipokine showing both vasoconstrictor and vasodilator activity. TNF_{α} -mediated vasoregulation can occur through both endothelium-dependent [57] and endothelium-independent mechanisms [58]. An increased adipose tissue expression of TNF_{α} mRNA has been reported in different rodent models of obesity as well as in clinical studies involving obese patients [13]. TNF_{α} is considered to be a molecule that links inflammation to obesity [13]. Moreover, the infiltration of macrophages in adipose tissue during obesity contributes to increased TNF_{α} production [59]. Increased TNF_{α} expression induces the production of ROS, resulting in endothelial dysfunction in obesity and obesity-related disorders like hypertension, atherosclerosis and type-2 diabetes [60].

III.5.8 Interleukin-6 (IL-6)

Acute exposure to IL-6 in vitro relaxes aortas [61]. However, a sustained increase of IL-6 plasma levels is associated with high blood pressure [62, 63]. In obesity an increase in cytokine IL-6 has been observed at mRNA and protein level in white adipose tissue [64]. IL-6 has been shown to be a predictor of future myocardial infarction [63] and is highly associated with cardiovascular mortality [65]. Some studies have suggested that IL-6 is rather an indirect marker of vascular dysfunction, while others have suggested a more active role for IL-6 in vascular dysfunction. Long term elevation of IL-6 in mice has shown to impair endothelial function by increasing angiotensin II-stimulated production of ROS and by
reducing eNOS mRNA expression [66]. In addition, IL-6 enhances vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation [67], a key event in the genesis of atherosclerotic lesions. Genetic deletion of IL-6 attenuates angiotensin II-induced hypertension in mice [62], suggesting that elevated IL-6 in obesity might contribute to hypertension via angiotensin II. In addition, IL-6 inhibits adiponectin gene expression in cultured adipocytes [64] which may exacerbate obesity-related hypertension.

III.5.9 Apelin

Apelin causes NO-dependent vasorelaxation of human arteries both in vitro and in vivo [68, 69]. Exogenous apelin administration causes a rapid NO-dependent fall in blood pressure in a rodent model, confirming its powerful vasorelaxing effect [70]. However, some reports associate apelin with an increase in arterial pressure [71]. In contrast to acute exposure, long term exposure to apelin does not affect blood pressure [72].

Apelin production in adipose tissue is strongly up-regulated by insulin and plasma concentrations are increased in obese and hyperinsulinemic mice and humans [73]. In atherosclerosis, apelin might have beneficial effects as apelin stimulates endothelial NO-production and antagonizes the angiotensin II-induced formation of atherosclerotic lesions and aortic aneurysm in mice [74].

III.5.10 Perivascular adipocyte-derived relaxing and contractile factors (PVADRF and PVADCF)

Virtually all blood vessels are surrounded by adventitial adipose tissue. Adipocytes in perivascular adipose tissue (PVAT) are very inhomogeneous and differ from subcutaneous and visceral adipocytes. Because PVAT encroaches into the adventitia without a fascial layer as barrier, humoral factors secreted by PVAT have easy access to the blood vessel wall, indicating that PVAT can function as a paracrine organ transducing metabolic signals directly to the vascular cells.

Several in vitro studies have shown that the presence of adhering PVAT reduces contractility of isolated blood vessels. Verlohren et al. even showed a positive correlation between the vasorelaxing influence and the amount of perivascular adipose tissue [75]. Whether NO formation and endothelium are involved in the vasorelaxation effect by PVADRF is still a matter of debate [75, 76]. The vasorelaxing effect of PVADRF is likely mediated by the opening of different K⁺ channels in vascular smooth muscle cells, depending on the tissue and species studied [75-80]. These divergent observations suggest a different distribution of K+ channels in different vessels and/or species or the existence of different PVADRFs. This relaxing effect is mediated by (a) factor(s) which are as yet not fully established although several candidates have already been proposed.

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are a class of oxygen-derived molecules including superoxide anion and hydrogen peroxide, both modulators of vascular tone and released from PVAT. Hydrogen peroxide is a more likely paracrine ROS as it is not a free radical and therefore more stable and less reactive with other tissue radicals [81]. Hydrogen peroxide is known to induce both vasorelaxation and -constriction depending on species, type of vascular bed, concentration, membrane potential and degree of obesity [81, 82]. In general, superoxide and hydrogen peroxide production in adipose tissue is increased in obese mice, which promotes endothelial dysfunction. Hydrogen peroxide produced from the NAD(P)H oxidase has been described to be involved in the endothelium-independent pathway of the PVADRF [76]. Superoxide anions impair endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation by decreasing NO bioavailability via formation of another ROS peroxynitrite [27, 83]. Furthermore, ROS contributes to endothelial dysfunction by up-regulating the expression of adhesion and chemotactic molecules in endothelial cells, which promote monocyte adhesion and migration to the vessel wall [84]. The adhesion of these circulating blood cells to vascular endothelium is a key element in the development of inflammation and thrombosis within the vasculature in vascular diseases associated with oxidative stress like atherosclerosis [84]. Ketonen et al. [82] showed that endothelium-dependent vasodilation is impaired in aorta of mice fed a high fat diet. The impaired endothelium-dependent vasodilation was restored by removal of PVAT or by quenching ROS indicating that PVAT-derived oxidative stress impairs endothelial function [82].

Another PVADRF candidate is the peptide angiotensin (1-7) which is a vasodilator released by adipose tissue surrounding rat aorta [85]. Blocking this particular peptide inhibits the vasorelaxing effect of PVAT and induces endothelium-dependent relaxation via NO-release [85]. In a recent study Lu et al. reported that besides arteries also veins are surrounded by PVAT and that it attenuates venous contractile tone by releasing Ang-(1-7). PVAT thus may also modulate venous function [86] Also hydrogen sulfide has been proposed as a PVADRF or at least as a mediator in the ADRF effect [80, 87]. Hydrogen sulfide is generated by cystathionine gamma-lyase (CSE) in PVAT tissue [88, 89]. Blocking CSE inhibits the vasorelaxing effect of PVAT in rat aorta and mice mesenteric arteries [80, 87]. Moreover, hydrogen sulfide-induced vasorelaxation of rat aorta was inhibited by a blocker of a particular ADRF-related K⁺-channel (KCNQ) blocker [80].

A recent study suggested that one of the PVADRFs could be identified as methylpalmitate [90], an enigmatic factor which according to the same authors is also released from superior cervical ganglia and retina. It should however be noted that the relaxing capacities of methylpalmitate could not be confirmed by Takir et al.[91].

Adipokines from PVAT also seem to be involved in the vasorelaxing effects of insulin. Insulin dilates vasculature in muscle tissue with high glucose uptake. This insulin-mediated diversion of blood flow to active tissues is disturbed in obesity. Adipokines might be involved, as TNF_{α} and IL-6 impair insulin-induced vasodilation while adiponectin increases sensitivity to insulin and increases glucose uptake [92, 93].

Factors from PVAT can also stimulate vasoconstriction. Perivascular nerve activation by electric stimulation in rat aorta induces vasoconstriction dependent on the presence of PVAT. In dogs PVAT releases a vasocontractile factor that impairs coronary endothelial NO production. Lu et al. recently showed that adipocyte-derived angiotensin II is critically involved in PVAT-mediated potentiation of perivascular neuronal stimulation-evoked contraction in rat mesenteric arteries [94].

Lu et al. recently showed that PVAT-associated inhibition of a contractile response to agonist was impaired in SHR and that this impairment is not due to reduced PVAT mass in SHR [95]. Using a bio-assay cascade technique Lee et al. also found a decreased release of PVADRF from PVAT of hypertensive SHR rats. This supports the hypothesis that continuously released PVADRF from PVAT protects against the development of hypertension [90].

Obesity is characterized by a decrease in vasorelaxing effect of PVAT [82, 96, 97]. In a study in which rats were fed a fructose-rich diet, inducing metabolic alterations resembling the profile of the human metabolic syndrome, it was found that vascular smooth muscle response was unaffected but that the PVAT-dependent vascular relaxant influence was diminished, illustrating the strong association between adipose tissue and vascular

Chapter III Adipo(cyto)kines and vascular tone

dysfunction [98]. This might imply a decrease in ADRF release or an imbalance in adipose tissue-derived relaxing and vasocontractile factors during obesity leading to hypertension. In obese patients there is an increased production of TNF_{α} in PVAT and TNF_{α} inhibits the relaxing influence of PVAT. However, incubation of PVAT from obese patients with an anti- TNF_{α} antibody did not restore the anti-contractile response, suggesting that TNF_{α} is just one of many perivascular adipokines with complex effects on vascular function. On the other hand, hypoxia, which develops within adipose tissue during obesity, has recently been shown to enhance (acute hypoxia) [78] or to inhibit (chronic hypoxia) the anti-contractile properties of PVAT [97]. Interesting is the finding that macrophage activation might be responsible for loss of anti-contractile function in inflamed PVAT [99].

Also the heart is surrounded by fat depots. Risk factors for cardiovascular disease associate with the expansion of the fat depot surrounding the heart and coronary vessels. Epicardial adipose tissue (EAT) is located between the myocardium and the visceral pericardium and secretes adipokines like adiponectin, adrenomedullin and omentin that may have protective effects on the myocardium and vasculature. Experimental evidence for this is limited since very small amount of EAT is present in laboratory rodents compared to larger mammals and human beings. Several studies reported alterations in adipokine expression in EAT during pathological states like coronary artery disease, metabolic syndrome or following cardiac surgery. Resistin secretion is enhanced from EAT in patients with coronary artery disease. Resistin may directly interfere with cardiac function as overexpression of resistin was found to impair contractile function in rat cardiomyocytes [100].

III.6 Conclusions

Under normal circumstances, vascular tone is influenced by adipokines. Arterial tone can be controlled through the release of ROS, leptin, adiponectin, TNF_{α} , IL-6, Ang II, omentin, resistin, visfatin, apelin, PVADRF and PVADCF from adipose tissues. Maintenance of a normal amount of adipose tissue is essential. It is thought that vascular tone regulation is compromised in obesity and obesity-related disorders, in which the amount of adipose tissue has grown out of proportion and hypoxic conditions are created. This eventually leads to a dysregulated synthesis of vasoactive adipokines by dysfunctional adipose tissue in favour of harmful pro-inflammatory adipokines. Circulating levels of adiponectin and

omentin are decreased while levels of leptin, resistin, apelin and pro-inflammatory cytokines are increased. The dysregulated synthesis/secretion of adipokines and the infiltration of macrophages into adipose tissue lead to a state of inflammation. A pro-inflammatory state in adipose tissue can not only induce a dysregulation of vascular tone but also local insulin resistance, adhesion of monocytes, vascular remodelling, foam cell formation in the arterial wall and endothelial dysfunction. Endothelial dysfunction is reflected as a decrease in NO bioavailability and endothelium-dependent relaxation and as impaired ability of the endothelium to respond to circulating hormones. All these changes clearly promote the development of cardiovascular diseases and type-2 diabetes.

Whatsoever, increasing adiposity is associated with adipose tissue inflammation and dysregulation of adipokines. The anatomic proximity of PVAT to the vasculature suggests that this dysregulation of adipokines in obesity and other disease states may have local pathogenic effects on blood vessels. Because PVAT likely contributes to vascular diseases it is suggested that PVAT may be a novel target for the treatment of atherosclerosis and restenosis after coronary intervention. The emerging knowledge of the regulatory influence of the PVAT and its contribution to diseases associated with metabolic syndrome brings hope that better medications become available to control the complications associated with obesity, as adjuncts to what remains the mainstay of management of this condition namely exercise and a low fat intake.

One therapeutic strategy to counter the progression of obesity-related vascular diseases is elevating adiponectin and omentin levels. Adiponectin levels are already elevated when using thiazolidinediones, telmisartan, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, rimonabant and taranaban. On the other hand, development of specific agonists to target adiponectin and omentin receptors or inhibition of detrimental adipokines signaling pathways may be new and promising to attenuate the pro-inflammatory effects and ultimately to reduce the progression of obesity-related vascular diseases.

III.7 Acknowledgements and funding

This work was supported by a grant of Geconcerteerde Onderzoeksactie (GOA) of Ghent University.

III.9 References

- 1. Maenhaut N, Van de Voorde J. Regulation of vascular tone by adipocytes. BMC Med. 2011;9:25.
- 2. Yiannikouris F, Gupte M, Putnam K, Cassis L. Adipokines and blood pressure control. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens. 2010;19:195-200.
- 3. Wozniak SE, Gee LL, Wachtel MS, Frezza EE. Adipose tissue: the new endocrine organ? A review article. Dig Dis Sci. 2009;54:1847-56.
- 4. Achike FI, To NH, Wang H, Kwan CY. Obesity, metabolic syndrome, adipocytes and vascular function: A holistic viewpoint. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol. 2011;38:1-10.
- 5. Halberg N, Wernstedt-Asterholm I, Scherer PE. The adipocyte as an endocrine cell. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am. 2008;37:753-68, x-xi.
- 6. Hotamisligil GS. Inflammation and metabolic disorders. Nature. 2006;444:860-7.
- 7. Trayhurn P, Wood IS. Adipokines: inflammation and the pleiotropic role of white adipose tissue. Br J Nutr. 2004;92:347-55.
- 8. Rausch ME, Weisberg S, Vardhana P, Tortoriello DV. Obesity in C57BL/6J mice is characterized by adipose tissue hypoxia and cytotoxic T-cell infiltration. Int J Obes (Lond). 2008;32:451-63.
- 9. Wang B, Wood IS, Trayhurn P. Dysregulation of the expression and secretion of inflammation-related adipokines by hypoxia in human adipocytes. Pflugers Arch. 2007;455:479-92.
- 10. Wood IS, Stezhka T, Trayhurn P. Modulation of adipokine production, glucose uptake and lactate release in human adipocytes by small changes in oxygen tension. Pflugers Arch. 2011;462:469-77.
- 11. Rutkowski JM, Davis KE, Scherer PE. Mechanisms of obesity and related pathologies: the macro- and microcirculation of adipose tissue. Febs j. 2009;276:5738-46.
- 12. Zhang L, Ebenezer PJ, Dasuri K, Fernandez-Kim SO, Francis J, Mariappan N, Gao Z, Ye J, Bruce-Keller AJ, Keller JN. Aging is associated with hypoxia and oxidative stress in adipose tissue: implications for adipose function. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2011;301:E599-607.
- 13. Bastard JP, Maachi M, Lagathu C, Kim MJ, Caron M, Vidal H, Capeau J, Feve B. Recent advances in the relationship between obesity, inflammation, and insulin resistance. Eur Cytokine Netw. 2006;17:4-12.
- 14. Leung YM, Kwan CY. Dual vascular effects of leptin via endothelium: hypothesis and perspective. Chin J Physiol. 2008;51:1-6.
- 15. Quehenberger P, Exner M, Sunder-Plassmann R, Ruzicka K, Bieglmayer C, Endler G, Muellner C, Speiser W, Wagner O. Leptin induces endothelin-1 in endothelial cells in vitro. Circ Res. 2002;90:711-8.
- 16. Juan CC, Chuang TY, Lien CC, Lin YJ, Huang SW, Kwok CF, Ho LT. Leptin increases endothelin type A receptor levels in vascular smooth muscle cells. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2008;294:E481-7.
- 17. Korda M, Kubant R, Patton S, Malinski T. Leptin-induced endothelial dysfunction in obesity. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2008;295:H1514-21.
- 18. Zeidan A, Purdham DM, Rajapurohitam V, Javadov S, Chakrabarti S, Karmazyn M. Leptin induces vascular smooth muscle cell hypertrophy through angiotensin II- and endothelin-1-dependent mechanisms and mediates stretch-induced hypertrophy. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2005;315:1075-84.
- 19. Loffreda S, Yang SQ, Lin HZ, Karp CL, Brengman ML, Wang DJ, Klein AS, Bulkley GB, Bao C, Noble PW, Lane MD, Diehl AM. Leptin regulates proinflammatory immune responses. Faseb j. 1998;12:57-65.
- 20. Asferg C, Mogelvang R, Flyvbjerg A, Frystyk J, Jensen JS, Marott JL, Appleyard M, Jensen GB, Jeppesen J. Leptin, not adiponectin, predicts hypertension in the Copenhagen City Heart Study. Am J Hypertens. 2010;23:327-33.
- 21. Shankar A, Xiao J. Positive relationship between plasma leptin level and hypertension. Hypertension. 2010;56:623-8.
- 22. Mallamaci F, Zoccali C, Cuzzola F, Tripepi G, Cutrupi S, Parlongo S, Tanaka S, Ouchi N, Kihara S, Funahashi T, Matsuzawa Y. Adiponectin in essential hypertension. J Nephrol. 2002;15:507-11.
- 23. Li FY, Cheng KK, Lam KS, Vanhoutte PM, Xu A. Cross-talk between adipose tissue and vasculature: role of adiponectin. Acta Physiol (Oxf). 2011;203:167-80.
- 24. Ohashi K, Ouchi N, Matsuzawa Y. Adiponectin and hypertension. Am J Hypertens. 2011;24:263-9.

- 25. Cao Y, Tao L, Yuan Y, Jiao X, Lau WB, Wang Y, Christopher T, Lopez B, Chan L, Goldstein B, Ma XL. Endothelial dysfunction in adiponectin deficiency and its mechanisms involved. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2009;46:413-9.
- 26. Fruhbeck G. Pivotal role of nitric oxide in the control of blood pressure after leptin administration. Diabetes. 1999;48:903-8.
- 27. Adamczak M, Wiecek A, Funahashi T, Chudek J, Kokot F, Matsuzawa Y. Decreased plasma adiponectin concentration in patients with essential hypertension. Am J Hypertens. 2003;16:72-5.
- 28. Antoniades C, Antonopoulos AS, Tousoulis D, Stefanadis C. Adiponectin: from obesity to cardiovascular disease. Obes Rev. 2009;10:269-79.
- 29. Shinmura K. Is adiponectin a bystander or a mediator in heart failure? The tangled thread of a goodnatured adipokine in aging and cardiovascular disease. Heart Fail Rev. 2010;15:457-66.
- 30. Ohashi K, Kihara S, Ouchi N, Kumada M, Fujita K, Hiuge A, Hibuse T, Ryo M, Nishizawa H, Maeda N, Maeda K, Shibata R, Walsh K, Funahashi T, Shimomura I. Adiponectin replenishment ameliorates obesity-related hypertension. Hypertension. 2006;47:1108-16.
- 31. Liu S, Yin T, Wei X, Yi W, Qu Y, Liu Y, Wang R, Lian K, Xia C, Pei H, Sun L, Ma Y, Lau WB, Gao E, Koch WJ, Wang H, Tao L. Downregulation of adiponectin induced by tumor necrosis factor alpha is involved in the aggravation of posttraumatic myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury. Crit Care Med. 2011;39:1935-43.
- 32. Vaiopoulos AG, Marinou K, Christodoulides C, Koutsilieris M. The role of adiponectin in human vascular physiology. Int J Cardiol. 2012;155:188-93.
- 33. Olholm J, Paulsen SK, Cullberg KB, Richelsen B, Pedersen SB. Anti-inflammatory effect of resveratrol on adipokine expression and secretion in human adipose tissue explants. Int J Obes (Lond). 2010;34:1546-53.
- 34. Wang T, Qiao S, Lei S, Liu Y, Ng KF, Xu A, Lam KS, Irwin MG, Xia Z. N-acetylcysteine and allopurinol synergistically enhance cardiac adiponectin content and reduce myocardial reperfusion injury in diabetic rats. PLoS One. 2011;6:e23967.
- 35. Otvos L, Jr., Haspinger E, La Russa F, Maspero F, Graziano P, Kovalszky I, Lovas S, Nama K, Hoffmann R, Knappe D, Cassone M, Wade J, Surmacz E. Design and development of a peptide-based adiponectin receptor agonist for cancer treatment. BMC Biotechnol. 2011;11:90.
- 36. Yamawaki H, Tsubaki N, Mukohda M, Okada M, Hara Y. Omentin, a novel adipokine, induces vasodilation in rat isolated blood vessels. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2010;393:668-72.
- 37. Cai RC, Wei L, Di JZ, Yu HY, Bao YQ, Jia WP. [Expression of omentin in adipose tissues in obese and type 2 diabetic patients]. Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi. 2009;89:381-4.
- de Souza Batista CM, Yang RZ, Lee MJ, Glynn NM, Yu DZ, Pray J, Ndubuizu K, Patil S, Schwartz A, Kligman M, Fried SK, Gong DW, Shuldiner AR, Pollin TI, McLenithan JC. Omentin plasma levels and gene expression are decreased in obesity. Diabetes. 2007;56:1655-61.
- 39. Moreno-Navarrete JM, Catalan V, Ortega F, Gomez-Ambrosi J, Ricart W, Fruhbeck G, Fernandez-Real JM. Circulating omentin concentration increases after weight loss. Nutr Metab (Lond). 2010;7:27.
- 40. Wang P, Xu TY, Guan YF, Su DF, Fan GR, Miao CY. Perivascular adipose tissue-derived visfatin is a vascular smooth muscle cell growth factor: role of nicotinamide mononucleotide. Cardiovasc Res. 2009;81:370-80.
- 41. Adya R, Tan BK, Punn A, Chen J, Randeva HS. Visfatin induces human endothelial VEGF and MMP-2/9 production via MAPK and PI3K/Akt signalling pathways: novel insights into visfatin-induced angiogenesis. Cardiovasc Res. 2008;78:356-65.
- 42. Saddi-Rosa P, Oliveira CS, Giuffrida FM, Reis AF. Visfatin, glucose metabolism and vascular disease: a review of evidence. Diabetol Metab Syndr. 2010;2:21.
- 43. Dahl TB, Yndestad A, Skjelland M, Oie E, Dahl A, Michelsen A, Damas JK, Tunheim SH, Ueland T, Smith C, Bendz B, Tonstad S, Gullestad L, Froland SS, Krohg-Sorensen K, Russell D, Aukrust P, Halvorsen B. Increased expression of visfatin in macrophages of human unstable carotid and coronary atherosclerosis: possible role in inflammation and plaque destabilization. Circulation. 2007;115:972-80.
- 44. Kim SR, Bae YH, Bae SK, Choi KS, Yoon KH, Koo TH, Jang HO, Yun I, Kim KW, Kwon YG, Yoo MA, Bae MK. Visfatin enhances ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 expression through ROS-dependent NF-kappaB activation in endothelial cells. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2008;1783:886-95.

- 45. Zhang C, Hein TW, Wang W, Kuo L. Divergent roles of angiotensin II AT1 and AT2 receptors in modulating coronary microvascular function. Circ Res. 2003;92:322-9.
- 46. Engeli S, Schling P, Gorzelniak K, Boschmann M, Janke J, Ailhaud G, Teboul M, Massiera F, Sharma AM. The adipose-tissue renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system: role in the metabolic syndrome? Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2003;35:807-25.
- 47. Cai H, Li Z, Dikalov S, Holland SM, Hwang J, Jo H, Dudley SC, Jr., Harrison DG. NAD(P)H oxidase-derived hydrogen peroxide mediates endothelial nitric oxide production in response to angiotensin II. J Biol Chem. 2002;277:48311-7.
- 48. Verdecchia P, Angeli F, Mazzotta G, Gentile G, Reboldi G. The renin angiotensin system in the development of cardiovascular disease: role of aliskiren in risk reduction. Vasc Health Risk Manag. 2008;4:971-81.
- 49. Thatcher S, Yiannikouris F, Gupte M, Cassis L. The adipose renin-angiotensin system: role in cardiovascular disease. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2009;302:111-7.
- 50. Das UN. Is angiotensin-II an endogenous pro-inflammatory molecule? Med Sci Monit. 2005;11:Ra155-62.
- 51. Ran J, Hirano T, Fukui T, Saito K, Kageyama H, Okada K, Adachi M. Angiotensin II infusion decreases plasma adiponectin level via its type 1 receptor in rats: an implication for hypertension-related insulin resistance. Metabolism. 2006;55:478-88.
- 52. Skurk T, van Harmelen V, Blum WF, Hauner H. Angiotensin II promotes leptin production in cultured human fat cells by an ERK1/2-dependent pathway. Obes Res. 2005;13:969-73.
- 53. Gentile MT, Vecchione C, Marino G, Aretini A, Di Pardo A, Antenucci G, Maffei A, Cifelli G, Iorio L, Landolfi A, Frati G, Lembo G. Resistin impairs insulin-evoked vasodilation. Diabetes. 2008;57:577-83.
- 54. Dick GM, Katz PS, Farias M, 3rd, Morris M, James J, Knudson JD, Tune JD. Resistin impairs endotheliumdependent dilation to bradykinin, but not acetylcholine, in the coronary circulation. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2006;291:H2997-3002.
- 55. Reilly MP, Lehrke M, Wolfe ML, Rohatgi A, Lazar MA, Rader DJ. Resistin is an inflammatory marker of atherosclerosis in humans. Circulation. 2005;111:932-9.
- 56. Zhang L, Curhan GC, Forman JP. Plasma resistin levels associate with risk for hypertension among nondiabetic women. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2010;21:1185-91.
- 57. Brian JE, Jr., Faraci FM. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced dilatation of cerebral arterioles. Stroke. 1998;29:509-15.
- 58. Johns DG, Webb RC. TNF-alpha-induced endothelium-independent vasodilation: a role for phospholipase A2-dependent ceramide signaling. Am J Physiol. 1998;275:H1592-8.
- 59. Clement K, Viguerie N, Poitou C, Carette C, Pelloux V, Curat CA, Sicard A, Rome S, Benis A, Zucker JD, Vidal H, Laville M, Barsh GS, Basdevant A, Stich V, Cancello R, Langin D. Weight loss regulates inflammation-related genes in white adipose tissue of obese subjects. Faseb j. 2004;18:1657-69.
- 60. Zhang H, Park Y, Wu J, Chen X, Lee S, Yang J, Dellsperger KC, Zhang C. Role of TNF-alpha in vascular dysfunction. Clin Sci (Lond). 2009;116:219-30.
- 61. Ohkawa F, Ikeda U, Kawasaki K, Kusano E, Igarashi M, Shimada K. Inhibitory effect of interleukin-6 on vascular smooth muscle contraction. Am J Physiol. 1994;266:H898-902.
- 62. Lee DL, Sturgis LC, Labazi H, Osborne JB, Jr., Fleming C, Pollock JS, Manhiani M, Imig JD, Brands MW. Angiotensin II hypertension is attenuated in interleukin-6 knockout mice. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2006;290:H935-40.
- 63. Ridker PM, Rifai N, Stampfer MJ, Hennekens CH. Plasma concentration of interleukin-6 and the risk of future myocardial infarction among apparently healthy men. Circulation. 2000;101:1767-72.
- 64. Chudek J, Wiecek A. Adipose tissue, inflammation and endothelial dysfunction. Pharmacol Rep. 2006;58 Suppl:81-8.
- 65. Langenberg C, Bergstrom J, Scheidt-Nave C, Pfeilschifter J, Barrett-Connor E. Cardiovascular death and the metabolic syndrome: role of adiposity-signaling hormones and inflammatory markers. Diabetes Care. 2006;29:1363-9.

- 66. Schrader LI, Kinzenbaw DA, Johnson AW, Faraci FM, Didion SP. IL-6 deficiency protects against angiotensin II induced endothelial dysfunction and hypertrophy. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2007;27:2576-81.
- 67. Klouche M, Bhakdi S, Hemmes M, Rose-John S. Novel path to activation of vascular smooth muscle cells: up-regulation of gp130 creates an autocrine activation loop by IL-6 and its soluble receptor. J Immunol. 1999;163:4583-9.
- 68. Japp AG, Cruden NL, Amer DA, Li VK, Goudie EB, Johnston NR, Sharma S, Neilson I, Webb DJ, Megson IL, Flapan AD, Newby DE. Vascular effects of apelin in vivo in man. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2008;52:908-13.
- 69. Salcedo A, Garijo J, Monge L, Fernandez N, Luis Garcia-Villalon A, Sanchez Turrion V, Cuervas-Mons V, Dieguez G. Apelin effects in human splanchnic arteries. Role of nitric oxide and prostanoids. Regul Pept. 2007;144:50-5.
- 70. Japp AG, Newby DE. The apelin-APJ system in heart failure: pathophysiologic relevance and therapeutic potential. Biochem Pharmacol. 2008;75:1882-92.
- 71. Kagiyama S, Fukuhara M, Matsumura K, Lin Y, Fujii K, Iida M. Central and peripheral cardiovascular actions of apelin in conscious rats. Regul Pept. 2005;125:55-9.
- 72. Ashley EA, Powers J, Chen M, Kundu R, Finsterbach T, Caffarelli A, Deng A, Eichhorn J, Mahajan R, Agrawal R, Greve J, Robbins R, Patterson AJ, Bernstein D, Quertermous T. The endogenous peptide apelin potently improves cardiac contractility and reduces cardiac loading in vivo. Cardiovasc Res. 2005;65:73-82.
- 73. Boucher J, Masri B, Daviaud D, Gesta S, Guigne C, Mazzucotelli A, Castan-Laurell I, Tack I, Knibiehler B, Carpene C, Audigier Y, Saulnier-Blache JS, Valet P. Apelin, a newly identified adipokine up-regulated by insulin and obesity. Endocrinology. 2005;146:1764-71.
- 74. Chun HJ, Ali ZA, Kojima Y, Kundu RK, Sheikh AY, Agrawal R, Zheng L, Leeper NJ, Pearl NE, Patterson AJ, Anderson JP, Tsao PS, Lenardo MJ, Ashley EA, Quertermous T. Apelin signaling antagonizes Ang II effects in mouse models of atherosclerosis. J Clin Invest. 2008;118:3343-54.
- 75. Verlohren S, Dubrovska G, Tsang SY, Essin K, Luft FC, Huang Y, Gollasch M. Visceral periadventitial adipose tissue regulates arterial tone of mesenteric arteries. Hypertension. 2004;44:271-6.
- 76. Gao YJ, Lu C, Su LY, Sharma AM, Lee RM. Modulation of vascular function by perivascular adipose tissue: the role of endothelium and hydrogen peroxide. Br J Pharmacol. 2007;151:323-31.
- 77. Gao YJ, Zeng ZH, Teoh K, Sharma AM, Abouzahr L, Cybulsky I, Lamy A, Semelhago L, Lee RM. Perivascular adipose tissue modulates vascular function in the human internal thoracic artery. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2005;130:1130-6.
- 78. Maenhaut N, Boydens C, Van de Voorde J. Hypoxia enhances the relaxing influence of perivascular adipose tissue in isolated mice aorta. Eur J Pharmacol. 2010;641:207-12.
- 79. Maenhaut N, Van de Voorde J. Effect of hypoxia in mice mesenteric arteries surrounded by adipose tissue. Acta Physiol (Oxf). 2011;203:235-44.
- Schleifenbaum J, Kohn C, Voblova N, Dubrovska G, Zavarirskaya O, Gloe T, Crean CS, Luft FC, Huang Y, Schubert R, Gollasch M. Systemic peripheral artery relaxation by KCNQ channel openers and hydrogen sulfide. J Hypertens. 2010;28:1875-82.
- 81. Ardanaz N, Pagano PJ. Hydrogen peroxide as a paracrine vascular mediator: regulation and signaling leading to dysfunction. Exp Biol Med (Maywood). 2006;231:237-51.
- 82. Ketonen J, Shi J, Martonen E, Mervaala E. Periadventitial adipose tissue promotes endothelial dysfunction via oxidative stress in diet-induced obese C57BI/6 mice. Circ J. 2010;74:1479-87.
- 83. Gryglewski RJ, Palmer RM, Moncada S. Superoxide anion is involved in the breakdown of endotheliumderived vascular relaxing factor. Nature. 1986;320:454-6.
- 84. Cooper D, Stokes KY, Tailor A, Granger DN. Oxidative stress promotes blood cell-endothelial cell interactions in the microcirculation. Cardiovasc Toxicol. 2002;2:165-80.
- 85. Lee RM, Lu C, Su LY, Gao YJ. Endothelium-dependent relaxation factor released by perivascular adipose tissue. J Hypertens. 2009;27:782-90.
- 86. Lu C, Zhao AX, Gao YJ, Lee RM. Modulation of vein function by perivascular adipose tissue. Eur J Pharmacol. 2011;657:111-6.

- 87. Fang L, Zhao J, Chen Y, Ma T, Xu G, Tang C, Liu X, Geng B. Hydrogen sulfide derived from periadventitial adipose tissue is a vasodilator. J Hypertens. 2009;27:2174-85.
- 88. Feng X, Chen Y, Zhao J, Tang C, Jiang Z, Geng B. Hydrogen sulfide from adipose tissue is a novel insulin resistance regulator. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2009;380:153-9.
- 89. Yang G, Wu L, Jiang B, Yang W, Qi J, Cao K, Meng Q, Mustafa AK, Mu W, Zhang S, Snyder SH, Wang R. H2S as a physiologic vasorelaxant: hypertension in mice with deletion of cystathionine gamma-lyase. Science. 2008;322:587-90.
- 90. Lee YC, Chang HH, Chiang CL, Liu CH, Yeh JI, Chen MF, Chen PY, Kuo JS, Lee TJ. Role of perivascular adipose tissue-derived methyl palmitate in vascular tone regulation and pathogenesis of hypertension. Circulation. 2011;124:1160-71.
- 91. Takir S, Uydes-Dogan BS, Ozdemir O. Retina evokes biphasic relaxations in retinal artery unrelated to endothelium, K(V), K(ATP), K(Ca) channels and methyl palmitate. Microvasc Res. 2011;81:295-302.
- 92. Eringa EC, Bakker W, Smulders YM, Serne EH, Yudkin JS, Stehouwer CD. Regulation of vascular function and insulin sensitivity by adipose tissue: focus on perivascular adipose tissue. Microcirculation. 2007;14:389-402.
- 93. Yamauchi T, Kamon J, Minokoshi Y, Ito Y, Waki H, Uchida S, Yamashita S, Noda M, Kita S, Ueki K, Eto K, Akanuma Y, Froguel P, Foufelle F, Ferre P, Carling D, Kimura S, Nagai R, Kahn BB, Kadowaki T. Adiponectin stimulates glucose utilization and fatty-acid oxidation by activating AMP-activated protein kinase. Nat Med. 2002;8:1288-95.
- 94. Lu C, Su LY, Lee RM, Gao YJ. Mechanisms for perivascular adipose tissue-mediated potentiation of vascular contraction to perivascular neuronal stimulation: the role of adipocyte-derived angiotensin II. Eur J Pharmacol. 2010;634:107-12.
- 95. Lu C, Su LY, Lee RM, Gao YJ. Alterations in perivascular adipose tissue structure and function in hypertension. Eur J Pharmacol. 2011;656:68-73.
- 96. Gao YJ, Holloway AC, Zeng ZH, Lim GE, Petrik JJ, Foster WG, Lee RM. Prenatal exposure to nicotine causes postnatal obesity and altered perivascular adipose tissue function. Obes Res. 2005;13:687-92.
- 97. Greenstein AS, Khavandi K, Withers SB, Sonoyama K, Clancy O, Jeziorska M, Laing I, Yates AP, Pemberton PW, Malik RA, Heagerty AM. Local inflammation and hypoxia abolish the protective anticontractile properties of perivascular fat in obese patients. Circulation. 2009;119:1661-70.
- 98. Rebolledo A, Rebolledo OR, Marra CA, Garcia ME, Roldan Palomo AR, Rimorini L, Gagliardino JJ. Early alterations in vascular contractility associated to changes in fatty acid composition and oxidative stress markers in perivascular adipose tissue. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2010;9:65.
- 99. Withers SB, Agabiti-Rosei C, Livingstone DM, Little MC, Aslam R, Malik RA, Heagerty AM. Macrophage activation is responsible for loss of anticontractile function in inflamed perivascular fat. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2011;31:908-13.
- 100. Ouwens DM, Sell H, Greulich S, Eckel J. The role of epicardial and perivascular adipose tissue in the pathophysiology of cardiovascular disease. J Cell Mol Med. 2010;14:2223-34.

Chapter IV

Effect of resveratrol and orchidectomy on the vasorelaxing influence of perivascular adipose tissue

Charlotte Boydens, Bart Pauwels, Johan Van de Voorde

Department of Pharmacology, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium

Based on:

Heart Vessels 2016;31:608-615

Chapter IV Effect of resveratrol and orchidectomy on the vasorelaxing influence of perivascular adipose tissue

IV.1 Abstract

INTRODUCTION. Perivascular adipose tissue (PVAT) releases several adipo(cyto)kines. Some are vasoactive substances that elicit a net beneficial anticontractile effect. Resveratrol and testosterone are known to modulate adipo(cyto)kine release from adipose tissue and could therefore influence the anticontractile effect of PVAT.

MATERIALS AND METHODS. In vitro tension measurements were performed using thoracic aorta segments with and without adipose tissue from sham-operated or orchidectomized male Swiss mice. Concentration-response curves to norepinephrine (NOR) were constructed in the presence and absence of resveratrol (10 μ M, 15 min) or the relaxant effect of resveratrol (10-100 μ M) was investigated after inducing tone with NOR (5 μ M).

RESULTS. Aortas with PVAT displayed significantly attenuated contractions to NOR compared to aortas without PVAT. In aortas without PVAT, resveratrol (10 μ M) significantly decreased NOR responses and elicited concentration-dependent (10-100 μ M) relaxations. However in aortas with adherent PVAT, resveratrol (10 μ M) neither decreased NOR responses, nor did resveratrol (10-100 μ M) induce arterial relaxations. The anticontractile effect of PVAT was less pronounced in presence of resveratrol and unaltered by orchidectomy. Orchidectomy did not influence contractions induced by NOR.

CONCLUSION. Orchidectomy does not modulate the anticontractile capacity of PVAT, while resveratrol decreases the vasorelaxing influence of PVAT. The positive effects associated with resveratrol addition are neutralized by the presence of PVAT. This is thought to result from a dual effect of resveratrol: (i) inhibition of the influence of vasodilatory adipo(cyto)kines and (ii) a direct relaxant effect on the vascular smooth muscle. Overall the beneficial relaxing effect of resveratrol is lost in mice thoracic aorta surrounded by PVAT.

Keywords perivascular adipose tissue, resveratrol, orchidectomy, vascular

IV.2 Introduction

Until recently adipose tissue was considered as only being involved in total body lipid and energy homeostasis. However nowadays it is well accepted that adipose tissue also acts as a major endocrine and paracrine organ through the release of a variety of inflammatory adipo(cyto)kines and other factors which also influence vascular tone [1]. Several studies revealed that also perivascular adipose tissue (PVAT) is not just structural support for blood vessels, but plays an important role in the regulation of vascular function. Under normal physiological circumstances PVAT releases several vasoactive substances that elicit a net beneficial and protective anticontractile effect on vascular tone [1-6], which directly depends on the amount of PVAT [2]. Surprisingly in case of increased amounts of PVAT the anticontractile effect of PVAT is not enhanced. In contrast, it has been reported that excessive amounts of PVAT are deleterious as in obesity the protective anticontractile capacity of PVAT is lost [7]. Although the exact underlying mechanism remains unclear, imbalanced release of adipo(cyto)kines in favour of pro-inflammatory ones due to hypoxiainduced dysfunctional adipose tissue has been proposed [8, 9]. It thus seems that the release of adipo(cyto)kines can be influenced under certain circumstances. In this perspective it has been shown that also resveratrol, a naturally occurring polyphenol found in the skin of grapes and thus abundant in red wine, reverses the adipocyte secretion profile towards a less inflammatory phenotype by for instance decreasing the expression of detrimental adipo(cyto)kines and increasing the production of anti-inflammatory ones [10-16]. Together with other beneficial properties associated with resveratrol administration, such as its relaxant and antioxidant [17] and anti-atherogenic capacity [18], resveratrol could be a promising therapeutic target to alleviate obesity-induced metabolic complications. Besides resveratrol treatment also sex hormones can influence adipo(cyto)kine secretion from adipose tissue. In female mice, estrogen depletion by ovariectomy increases adiponectin levels [19] and the production of IL-6 and TNF_{α} , two pro-inflammatory adipo(cyto)kines [20]. This enhanced adipo(cyto)kine secretion can be reversed by estradiol replacement or by administration of estrogens [19, 20]. Moreover, it has been reported that in ovariectomized rats the relaxing effect of PVAT is attenuated [21]. The effect of orchidectomy (testosterone depletion) on the anticontractile effect of PVAT is unknown. This could be of interest as also an interrelationship between testosterone and adipo(cyto)kine levels has been reported in different studies. In rodents testosterone injection decreases adiponectin levels [22], hypogonadal men have increased adiponectin levels compared to eugonadal subjects, which can be reduced by testosterone replacement therapy [23]. Moreover, testosterone therapy reduces serum leptin concentration in subjects with low testosterone levels [24]. Therefore, as adipo(cyto)kine secretion can be influenced by resveratrol and testosterone, the aim of the present study was to find out whether (i) resveratrol or (ii) orchidectomy can modulate the anticontractile effect of PVAT in mice aorta.

IV.3 Materials and methods

IV.3.1 Animals and orchidectomy

Adult (8-12 weeks) male Swiss mice were obtained from Janvier (Saint-Berthevin, France). Food and water was provided ad libitum and all animals were treated in accordance with the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals published by the US National Institutes of Health. This study was also approved by the local Ethical Committee for Animal Experiments, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Ghent University, Belgium. Under 2-4 % isoflurane inhalation, mice were sham-operated (Sham, n=10) or orchidectomized (Orx, n=10). Four weeks post orchidectomy the effectiveness of the orchidectomy was confirmed by atrophy of the testosterone-dependent seminal vesicles.

IV.3.2 Tissue preparation

After cervical dislocation, thoracic aortas surrounded by adipose tissue were isolated and kept in cooled and oxygenated (5 % CO₂, 95 % O₂) Krebs-Ringer bicarbonate (KRB) solution. The aortas were mounted into a wire myograph for isometric tension recording. Two stainless steel wires (40 μ M diameter) were guided through the lumen of the segments. In order to measure changes in isometric tension, one wire was fixed to a force-displacement transducer and the other was connected to a micrometer. Two different types of aortic segments were prepared: segments cleaned of adipose tissue ((-)PVAT) and segments with adherent adipose tissue ((+)PVAT). In some experiments the removed adherent adipose tissue was kept in cooled and oxygenated (5 % CO₂, 95 % O₂) KRB solution. Just before starting the experimental protocol it was placed in the organ bath but not in close proximity of cleaned aortic segments. In addition some aortic segments were used from which 50 % of the adherent adipose tissue was removed ((+)½ PVAT). All preparations were equilibrated

Chapter IV Resveratrol, orchidectomy and PVAT

for approximately 30 min in oxygenated KRB solution at 37°C (pH 7.4) and gradually stretched until a stable preload of 0.5 g was obtained. At the start of each experiment, aorta segments were activated with 120 mM K⁺ and 5 μ M norepinephrine (NOR). Thereafter the tissues were rinsed until their basal tension was reached again. Subsequently segments were precontracted with 5 μ M NOR and after obtaining a stable contraction, 10 μ M acetylcholine (Ach) was added to evaluate the functionality of the endothelium. Only tissues that relaxed more than 50 % to Ach, were included in this study. Then preparations were washed and allowed to relax again to their basal tension before starting the experimental protocol.



Figure IV.1 A photograph of the organ bath for the wire myograph, a schematic detail of a pair of holders and vessel segments with and without adherent adipose tissue. Vessel segments are mounted on two stainless steel wires (40 μ m), fixed on the two holders in the organ bath. One holder is connected to a micrometer which is used to change the distance between the wires. The other holder is connected to a force transducer which measures isometric tension changes in the vessel segment.

IV.3.3 Experimental protocol

Cumulative concentration-response curves to NOR were constructed in presence and absence of resveratrol (10 μ M, 15 min) or in aorta from sham-operated or ochidectomized mice. In all experiments the basal influence of cyclooxygenase metabolites and NO was excluded by incubating the preparations with the cyclooxygenase (COX) inhibitor indomethacin (indo, 10 μ M, 20 min) and the NO-synthase inhibitor N ω -nitro-L-arginine methyl ester hydrochloride (L-NAME, 0.1 mM, 20 min), except in the first series. In another set of experiments concentration-response curves to resveratrol (10-100 μ M, 15 min) were obtained after precontracting the aortas with NOR 5 μ M.

IV.3.4 Drugs and chemicals

The experiments were performed in a KRB solution of the following composition (mM): NaCl 135, KCl 5, NaHCO₃ 20, glucose 10, CaCl₂ 2.5, MgSO₄ 1.3, KH₂PO₄ 1.2 and EDTA 0.026 in H₂O. KRB solution containing 120 mM K⁺ was prepared by equimolar replacement of NaCl by KCl. Resveratrol, dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO), NOR, Ach, L-NAME and indo were obtained from Sigma (St. Louis, MO). Stock solution of 100 mM of resveratrol was made in DMSO, but was further diluted in distilled water (10 mM) before adding to the organ baths. Other stock solutions were made in water, except for indomethacin (dissolved in ethanol). The final concentration of DMSO or ethanol in the organ bath never surpassed 0.1 %.

IV.3.5 Statistics

The data were computed as means ± S.E.M. and evaluated statistically using one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc test. Two groups of data were considered significantly different when P<0.05. Contractions are expressed as mN contractions, relaxations as % decrease in precontractile tone. N is the number of tissues used.

IV.4 Results

IV.4.1 Influence of resveratrol on PVAT modulated contractility

Concentration-response curves to NOR in absence of indo and L-NAME showed cumulative contractions in both (-)PVAT and (+)PVAT segments (Fig. IV.2). (+)PVAT preparations displayed attenuated overall and maximal contractile responses to NOR which significantly

differed from (-)PVAT controls. (E_{max} : 9.18 ± 0.67 mN for (-)PVAT vs. 5.33 ± 1.04 mN for (+)PVAT, p<0.05) (Fig. IV.2a). In presence of resveratrol (10 μ M, 15 min) the anticontractile effect of PVAT was only moderately observed (Fig. IV.2b). Pre-incubating the (-)PVAT preparations with resveratrol (10 μ M, 15 min) significantly decreased maximal NOR responses (E_{max} : 9.18 ± 0.67 mN in absence vs. E_{max} : 5.76 ± 1.05 mN in presence of resveratrol, p<0.05) (Fig. IV.2c). In contrast incubation with resveratrol (10 μ M, 15 min) did not influence contractility of (+)PVAT segments (E_{max} : 5.33 ± 1.04 mN; pEC50: 6.75 ± 0.22 in absence vs. E_{max} : 4.59 ± 0.67 mN; pEC50: 6.56 ± 0.08 in presence of resveratrol, p>0.05) (Fig. IV.2d).



Figure IV.2 shows that norepinephrine (NOR, 1 nM – 10 μ M) evoked concentration-dependent contractions in aorta without ((-)PVAT) and with ((+)PVAT) adherent adipose tissue. The presence of PVAT (a) significantly attenuated contraction responses to NOR in control conditions but not (b) in presence of resveratrol (10 μ M, 15 min). Incubation with resveratrol (10 μ M, 15 min) significantly decreased NOR responses in (c) (-)PVAT segments, but not in (d) (+)PVAT preparations. Data are expressed as mN contraction; one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc test; #p<0.01, *p<0.05; n=6-8.

In presence of indo (10 μ M, 20 min) and L-NAME (0.1 mM, 20 min), the contractions induced by NOR were more stable compared to the control conditions. In presence of both inhibitors (+)PVAT segments displayed significantly lower contraction responses to NOR compared to (-)PVAT segments (pEC50: 7.87 \pm 0.08 for (-)PVAT vs. 6.73 \pm 0.13 for (+)PVAT, p<0.01) (Fig. IV.3a). The maximal contractile response however was comparable for (-)PVAT (11.40 \pm 1.45 mN) and (+)PVAT (11.21 \pm 1.65 mN, p>0.05) vessels. Pre-incubating the (-)PVAT preparations with resveratrol (10 μ M, 15 min) significantly decreased maximal as well as overall NOR responses (E_{max}: 11.40 \pm 1.45 mN; pEC50: 7.87 \pm 0.08 in absence vs. E_{max}: 5.61 \pm 1.11 mN; pEC50: 7.54 \pm 0.11 in presence of resveratrol, p<0.05) (Fig. IV.3b). In presence of indo (10 μ M, 20 min) and L-NAME (0.1 mM, 20 min) incubation with resveratrol (10 μ M, 15 min) did not modify the contractility of (+)PVAT segments (E_{max}: 11.21 \pm 1.65 mN; pEC50: 6.73 \pm 0.13 in absence vs. E_{max}: 9.82 \pm 0.66 mN; pEC50: 6.60 \pm 0.18 in presence of resveratrol, p>0.05) (Fig. IV.3c).

Taken together, the presence of indo and L-NAME yielded similar differences in contractile responses to NOR between (-)PVAT and (+)PVAT segments with or without resveratrol as observed in absence of indo and L-NAME.



Figure IV.3 shows that norepinephrine (NOR, 1 nM – 10 μ M) elicited concentration-dependent contractions in aorta without ((-)PVAT) and with ((+)PVAT) adherent adipose tissue in presence of indomethacin (indo, 10 μ M, 20 min) and N ω -nitro-L-arginine methyl ester hydrochloride (L-NAME, 0.1 mM, 20 min). (a) The presence of PVAT significantly attenuated contraction responses to NOR. Incubation with resveratrol (10 μ M, 15 min) significantly decreased NOR responses in (b) (-)PVAT segments, but not in (c) (+)PVAT preparations. Data are expressed as mN contraction; one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc test; #p<0.01, *p<0.05; n=6-7.

IV.4.2 Concentration-response curves of resveratrol in (-)PVAT and (+)PVAT preparations

In (-)PVAT segments resveratrol (10-100 μ M, 15 min) evoked concentration-dependent relaxations, after incubation with indo (10 μ M, 20 min) and L-NAME (0.1 mM, 20 min) (Fig. IV.4). However, in presence of PVAT resveratrol-induced relaxations were significantly reduced. The lowest concentration of resveratrol (10 μ M) even induced contractions. In aortas with 50 % PVAT, resveratrol was able to evoke concentration-dependent relaxations, however these were clearly reduced compared to cleaned aortas. In contrast, when placing PVAT in the organ bath, but not in direct contact with the vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs), full response to resveratrol was seen (Fig. IV.4).



Figure IV.4 shows that after incubation with indomethacin (10 μ M, 20 min) N ω -nitro-L-arginine methyl ester hydrochloride (0.1 mM, 20 min) resveratrol (10-100 μ M, 15 min) evoked concentration-dependent relaxations in mice aorta without adipose tissue ((-)PVAT, but not in aorta surrounded by adipose tissue ((+)PVAT). In (+)PVAT preparations 10 μ M resveratrol caused small contractions. Full response to resveratrol was seen, when placing adipose tissue in the organ bath, but not in direct contact with the vascular smooth muscle cells. In presence of 50 % adipose tissue ((+)½ PVAT), resveratrol elicited reduced relaxations. Data are expressed as % relaxation of NOR-induced tone; one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc test; #p<0.01, *p<0.05, n=6.

IV.4.3 Influence of orchidectomy on PVAT modulated contractility.

Atrophy of seminal vesicles (Sham: 337.78 mg ± 21.31 versus Orx: 44.86 mg ± 4.29; p<0.01; n=10) indicated that ochidectomy was successfully performed. After pretreatment with indo (10 μ M, 20 min) and L-NAME (0.1 mM, 20 min) NOR elicited concentration-dependent contractions in aortic tissues from all groups (Sham/(-)PVAT, Sham/(+)PVAT, Orx/(-)PVAT and

Orx/(+)PVAT) (Fig. IV.5). The presence of PVAT attenuated NOR responses in the sham-group (pEC50: 8.17 \pm 0.25 in absence vs. 6.24 \pm 0.13 in presence of PVAT, p<0.01) (Fig. IV.5a). In the Orx-group PVAT clearly shows a trend to decrease contractile responses, however this was only found significant at two concentrations (pEC50: 7.94 \pm 0.31 vs. 6.85 \pm 0.38, p>0.05) (Fig. IV.5b). Maximal contractions were not influenced by the presence of PVAT neither in the sham-group (12.44 \pm 2.13 mN in absence vs. 8.81 \pm 1.06 mN in presence of PVAT, p>0.05) nor in the Orx-group (12.39 \pm 1.66 mN in absence vs. 7.81 \pm 1.37 mN in presence of PVAT, p>0.05) (Fig. IV.5a and IV.5b). Orchidectomy neither changed the contractility of the aorta (Fig. 4c), nor did it influence the anticontractile effect of PVAT (Fig. IV.5d).



Figure IV.5 illustrates the effect of orchidectomy on contractions in response to norepinephrine (NOR 1 nM – 10 μ M) in the presence and absence of adipose tissue, after incubation with indomethacin (10 μ M, 20 min) N ω -nitro-L-arginine methyl ester hydrochloride (0.1 mM, 20 min). NOR elicited concentration-dependent contractions in aortic tissue of (a) sham and (b) orchidectomized (Orx) mice with ((+)PVAT) and without ((-)PVAT) adherent adipose tissue. (a, b) Both in the sham-group and the Orx-group PVAT attenuated responses to NOR. However in the Orx-group this was only found significant at two concentrations of NOR. Orchidectomy neither changed the contractility of the aorta (c), nor did it influence the anticontractile effect of PVAT (d). Data are expressed as mN contraction; one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc test; #p<0.01, *p<0.05; n=10.

IV.5 Discussion

Since nowadays PVAT is recognized as a highly active endocrine and paracrine organ being able to influence vascular tone, it has become clear that functional PVAT is necessary to maintain vascular physiology [1]. Under normal physiological circumstances PVAT exerts a net beneficial anticontractile effect through the release of adipo(cyto)kines [1-5]. In the present study, aortas without PVAT also displayed a stronger contraction in response to NOR than aortas with adherent PVAT. These results confirm that PVAT indeed releases relaxation factors. As the relaxing effect of PVAT was still observed even in presence of indo and L-NAME, our results furthermore suggest that this anticontractile effect of PVAT is not mediated by COX products or NO, which is in line with others [3, 6]. However it should be noted that several studies did report a role for NO or COX products in the relaxing influence of adipose tissue [7, 25-27].

Resveratrol is a naturally occurring polyphenol, found in the skin of grapes and is thus abundant in red wine. Resveratrol is believed to contribute to the cardiovascular benefits associated with moderate red wine consumption (the 'French paradox') [17]. For example it has been reported that resveratrol exerts a direct relaxant effect in several vascular beds [28-31]. Indeed, also in our study resveratrol elicits concentration-dependent relaxations in mice aorta without PVAT, which are independent of K⁺ channels (own unpublished observations). Furthermore, in aortas without PVAT, incubation with resveratrol clearly attenuated NOR responses. This might explain the less pronounced anticontractile effect of PVAT after resveratrol treatment. This could be explained by resveratrol's direct relaxant effect on the smooth muscle cells of the arteries. Resveratrol has been reported to target NO [28, 30, 31] or COX products to exert its effect [32]. However in our study both can be excluded as possible mediators of resveratrol's relaxant effect, as even in presence of indomethacin and L-NAME resveratrol induced relaxations and attenuated NOR responses of aortas without PVAT.

Taken together, both PVAT and resveratrol thus independently elicit a protective effect on the vascular tone: PVAT through its anticontractile effect, resveratrol through its direct relaxant effect. Therefore it would be conceivable to think that in presence of both PVAT and resveratrol, an enhanced protective effect would be observed. Surprisingly, in aortas with adherent PVAT resveratrol neither attenuated NOR responses, nor did it relax the aortas. Moreover, in aortas with 50 % PVAT, resveratrol only partly evoked relaxations. It thus seems that the presence of PVAT inhibits resveratrol's protective effect. Different hypotheses could explain this observation. First, the presence of adipose tissue surrounding the arteries could act as a structural barrier that limits resveratrol to reach the VSMCs. As resveratrol is lipophilic it is assumable that resveratrol would accumulate in PVAT and therefore be unable to induce relaxation of the VSMCs. However, our results indicate that this is not the case as in experiments where PVAT is present in the organ bath, but not in close contact with VSMCs, resveratrol relaxed arteries to a similar extent as arteries without PVAT. These results suggest that the presence of adipose tissue, does not impede resveratrol to reach the VSMCs to evoke relaxations. This is not surprising since the arteries are mounted in the organ bath with their lumen stretched. Hence compounds added to the organ bath, even in presence of PVAT, can easily reach the VSMCs through the lumen. In such way, resveratrol could still directly relax VSMCs, while it does not necessarily has to pass through the PVAT to reach the VSMCs.

Second, PVAT could release factors which inactivate resveratrol. Besides secretion of antiinflammatory adipo(cyto)kines PVAT also releases several pro-inflammatory adipo(cyto)kines such as TNF_{α} and IL-6 [1, 8]. It is known that TNF_{α} and IL-6 can reduce the vasorelaxing influence of PVAT due to increased reactive oxygen species (ROS) production [7]. Moreover it has been reported that in adipocytes oxidative stress, as a result from increased ROS production, can be reduced or restored by resveratrol [33, 34]. Though, the amount of oxidative stress could be too high for resveratrol to cope with, so that resveratrol no longer exerts its protective effect. However increased ROS production seems to be unlikely as tissue from 'healthy' mice was used which in resting conditions is protected against oxidative stress by antioxidants.

Third, perhaps one has to consider the relationship between PVAT and resveratrol's action in an inverse way as assumed above. Indeed the presence of PVAT seems to limit resveratrol's relaxing effect, but maybe one should consider the idea that also resveratrol might limit the protective effect of PVAT. In this perspective, it is known that resveratrol can influence the secretion of adipo(cyto)kines released from adipose tissue [10-16]. For instance resveratrol decreases the production of visfatin and leptin [11, 13] two adipo(cyto)kines able to cause

Chapter IV Resveratrol, orchidectomy and PVAT

vasorelaxation [1]. So, considering that resveratrol can decrease the secretion of some vasodilatory adipo(cyto)kines, this would mean that the relaxing influence of PVAT, caused by vasodilatory adipokines, would partly be limited by resveratrol. This in turn would cause an increased contractility and would eventually result in an upward shift of the NOR response curve in arteries with PVAT. However, since resveratrol also has a direct pronounced relaxing effect on arteries, this upward shift of the NOR response curve is counteracted by resveratrol's direct action on the VSMCs. In summary, resveratrol can act on two levels (i) decreasing the relaxing influence of PVAT by diminishing the secretion of vasodilatory adipo(cyto)kines, and thus causing an upward shift of the NOR response curve and (ii) a relaxing effect on the arteries, causing a downward shift of the NOR response curve. Taken together, the net effect of resveratrol on the contractility of aortas with adherent adipose tissue will be zero. Hence the display of a NOR response curve similar to those from aortas with PVAT without resveratrol. This third hypothesis, albeit complicated, would explain all of our results, including the small contractions observed with resveratrol 10 μ M in presence of PVAT. In this case the concentration of resveratrol was too low to elicit arterial relaxations, but sufficient to inhibit vasodilatory adipo(cyto)kines. This leads to imbalanced release of vasodilatory and vasocontractile adipo(cyto)kines, favouring secretion of the latter ones, without resveratrol being able to counteract this effect by eliciting direct arterial VSMCs relaxation. The net effect in this case is therefore a small contraction.

Our results suggest that, with respect to adipose tissue functioning, acute resveratrol administration decreases the relaxing influence of PVAT. However it has been shown that long-term treatment with resveratrol can improve adipose tissue function [13, 35, 36]. It is important to mention that in these studies, in contrast to our study, the ability of resveratrol to improve adipose tissue function (i) was investigated in obesity-mimicking conditions and (ii) did not focus on the function of PVAT. However, it cannot be excluded that the overall neutral effect of acute resveratrol administration in presence of PVAT is shifted to a protective effect when administered chronically.

Besides resveratrol also testosterone has been reported to influence the levels of some adipo(cyto)kines such as adiponectin and leptin [22-24]. Moreover androgen deprivation therapy, as treatment of prostate cancer, is a risk of coronary heart disease, diabetes and cardiovascular death [37]. In animal models castration accelerates aortic plaque build-up

[38-40] and can increase vasoreactivity [41]. Furthermore low testosterone levels promote an increase in fat deposition and adipocyte number [42]. As testosterone depletion plays a role in the impairment of vascular function and induces changes in the adipose tissue, it is not surprising to assume that orchidectomy could modulate the anticontractile capacity of PVAT resulting in a higher contractility of arteries. However, our study suggests that 4 weeks of testosterone depletion by orchidectomy, does not affect the protective influence of PVAT. It should be noted that, changes in adipose tissue by low testosterone levels are often displayed in white or visceral adipose tissue [42-44]. The fact that thoracic aorta is in contrast surrounded by brown adipose tissue [45], could explain the inability of orchidectomy to influence anticontractile effect of PVAT.

In conclusion it was shown that orchidectomy does not modulate the vasorelaxing influence of PVAT while resveratrol treatment might decrease the anticontractile effect of PVAT. Furthermore our results indicate that the positive effects associated with resveratrol addition are neutralized by the presence of PVAT. The exact underlying mechanism remains unclear but we hypothesize that this might be the result of resveratrol's dual effect (i) inhibition of the release/influence of vasodilatory adipo(cyto)kines and in the meantime (ii) a direct relaxant effect on the VSMCs. Overall resveratrol thus causes a net unchanged contractility of the mice thoracic aorta surrounded by PVAT.

IV.6 Acknowledgments

This work was supported by a grant of the Special Investigation Fund of Ghent University (GOA 01G02410) and the Fund of Scientific Research Flanders (FWO-Vlaanderen). The authors would like to thank Hélène De Naeyer, Lies Vancraeynest, Frederique Van de Velde and Tom Vanthuyne for the excellent technical assistance.

IV.7 References

- 1. Maenhaut N, Van de Voorde J. Regulation of vascular tone by adipocytes. BMC Med 2011;9:25.
- 2. Gollasch M, Dubrovska G. Paracrine role for periadventitial adipose tissue in the regulation of arterial tone. Trends Pharmacol Sci 2004;25:647-653.
- 3. Lohn M, Dubrovska G, Lauterbach B, Luft FC, Gollasch M, Sharma AM. Periadventitial fat releases a vascular relaxing factor. Faseb j 2002;16:1057-1063.
- 4. Soltis EE, Cassis LA. Influence of perivascular adipose tissue on rat aortic smooth muscle responsiveness. Clin Exp Hypertens A 1991;13:277-296.
- 5. Verlohren S, Dubrovska G, Tsang SY, Essin K, Luft FC, Huang Y, Gollasch M. Visceral periadventitial adipose tissue regulates arterial tone of mesenteric arteries. Hypertension 2004;44:271-276.
- 6. Dubrovska G, Verlohren S, Luft FC, Gollasch M. Mechanisms of ADRF release from rat aortic adventitial adipose tissue. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2004;286:H1107-1113.
- 7. Greenstein AS, Khavandi K, Withers SB, Sonoyama K, Clancy O, Jeziorska M, Laing I, Yates AP, Pemberton PW, Malik RA, Heagerty AM. Local inflammation and hypoxia abolish the protective anticontractile properties of perivascular fat in obese patients. Circulation 2009;119:1661-1670.
- 8. Trayhurn P, Wang B, Wood IS. Hypoxia in adipose tissue: a basis for the dysregulation of tissue function in obesity? Br J Nutr 2008;100:227-235.
- 9. Wang B, Wood IS, Trayhurn P. Dysregulation of the expression and secretion of inflammation-related adipokines by hypoxia in human adipocytes. Pflugers Arch 2007;455:479-492.
- 10. Ahn J, Lee H, Kim S, Ha T. Resveratrol inhibits TNF-alpha-induced changes of adipokines in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2007; 364:972-977.
- 11. Derdemezis CS, Kiortsis DN, Tsimihodimos V, Petraki MP, Vezyraki P, Elisaf MS, Tselepis AD. Effect of Plant Polyphenols on Adipokine Secretion from Human SGBS Adipocytes. Biochem Res Int 2011:285618.
- 12. Kang L, Heng W, Yuan A, Baolin L, Fang H. Resveratrol modulates adipokine expression and improves insulin sensitivity in adipocytes: Relative to inhibition of inflammatory responses. Biochimie 2010;92:789-796.
- 13. Kim S, Jin Y, Choi Y, Park T. Resveratrol exerts anti-obesity effects via mechanisms involving down-regulation of adipogenic and inflammatory processes in mice. Biochem Pharmacol 2011;81:1343-1351.
- 14. Olholm J, Paulsen SK, Cullberg KB, Richelsen B, Pedersen SB. Anti-inflammatory effect of resveratrol on adipokine expression and secretion in human adipose tissue explants. Int J Obes (Lond) 2010;34:1546-1553.
- 15. Rosenow A, Noben JP, Jocken J, Kallendrusch S, Fischer-Posovszky P, Mariman EC, Renes J. Resveratrolinduced changes of the human adipocyte secretion profile. J Proteome Res 2012;11:4733-4743.
- Yen GC, Chen YC, Chang WT, Hsu CL. Effects of polyphenolic compounds on tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha)-induced changes of adipokines and oxidative stress in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. J Agric Food Chem 2011;59:546-551.
- 17. Yu W, Fu YC, Wang W. Cellular and molecular effects of resveratrol in health and disease. J Cell Biochem 2012;113:752-759.
- 18. Napoli C, Balestrieri ML, Sica V, Lerman LO, Crimi E, De Rosa G, Schiano C, Servillo L, D'Armiento FP. Beneficial effects of low doses of red wine consumption on perturbed shear stress-induced atherogenesis. Heart Vessels 2008;23:124-133.
- 19. Combs TP, Berg AH, Rajala MW, Klebanov S, Iyengar P, Jimenez-Chillaron JC, Patti ME, Klein SL, Weinstein RS, Scherer PE. Sexual differentiation, pregnancy, calorie restriction, and aging affect the adipocyte-specific secretory protein adiponectin. Diabetes 2003;52:268-276.
- 20. Stubbins RE, Najjar K, Holcomb VB, Hong J, Nunez NP. Oestrogen alters adipocyte biology and protects female mice from adipocyte inflammation and insulin resistance. Diabetes Obes Metab 2012;14:58-66.
- 21. Wang D, Wang C, Wu X, Zheng W, Sandberg K, Ji H, Welch WJ, Wilcox CS. Endothelial dysfunction and enhanced contractility in microvessels from ovariectomized rats: roles of oxidative stress and perivascular adipose tissue. Hypertension 2014;63:1063-1069.

- 22. Nishizawa H, Shimomura I, Kishida K, Maeda N, Kuriyama H, Nagaretani H, Matsuda M, Kondo H, Furuyama N, Kihara S, Nakamura T, Tochino Y, Funahashi T, Matsuzawa Y. Androgens decrease plasma adiponectin, an insulin-sensitizing adipocyte-derived protein. Diabetes 2002;51:2734-2741.
- 23. Lanfranco F, Zitzmann M, Simoni M, Nieschlag E. Serum adiponectin levels in hypogonadal males: influence of testosterone replacement therapy. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 2004;60:500-507.
- 24. Sih R, Morley JE, Kaiser FE, Perry HM, 3rd, Patrick P, Ross C. Testosterone replacement in older hypogonadal men: a 12-month randomized controlled trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1997;82:1661-1667.
- 25. Gil-Ortega M, Condezo-Hoyos L, Garcia-Prieto CF, Arribas SM, Gonzalez MC, Aranguez I, Ruiz-Gayo M, Somoza B, Fernandez-Alfonso MS. Imbalance between pro and anti-oxidant mechanisms in perivascular adipose tissue aggravates long-term high-fat diet-derived endothelial dysfunction. PLoS One 2014;9:e95312.
- 26. Mendizabal Y, Llorens S, Nava E. Vasoactive effects of prostaglandins from the perivascular fat of mesenteric resistance arteries in WKY and SHROB rats. Life Sci 2013;93:1023-1032.
- 27. Ozen G, Topal G, Gomez I, Ghorreshi A, Boukais K, Benyahia C, Kanyinda L, Longrois D, Teskin O, Uydes-Dogan BS, Norel X. Control of human vascular tone by prostanoids derived from perivascular adipose tissue. Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat 2013;107:13-17.
- 28. Naderali EK, Smith SL, Doyle PJ, Williams G. The mechanism of resveratrol-induced vasorelaxation differs in the mesenteric resistance arteries of lean and obese rats. Clin Sci (Lond) 2001;100:55-60.
- 29. Novakovic A, Bukarica LG, Kanjuh V, Heinle H. Potassium channels-mediated vasorelaxation of rat aorta induced by resveratrol. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol 2006;99:360-364.
- 30. Shen M, Zhao L, Wu RX, Yue SQ, Pei JM. The vasorelaxing effect of resveratrol on abdominal aorta from rats and its underlying mechanisms. Vascul Pharmacol 2013;58:64-70.
- 31. Gordish KL, Beierwaltes WH. Resveratrol induces acute endothelium-dependent renal vasodilation mediated through nitric oxide and reactive oxygen species scavenging. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 2014;306:F542-550.
- 32. Szewczuk LM, Forti L, Stivala LA, Penning TM. Resveratrol is a peroxidase-mediated inactivator of COX-1 but not COX-2: a mechanistic approach to the design of COX-1 selective agents. J Biol Chem 2004;279:22727-22737.
- 33. Baker NA, English V, Sunkara M, Morris AJ, Pearson KJ, Cassis LA. Resveratrol protects against polychlorinated biphenyl-mediated impairment of glucose homeostasis in adipocytes. J Nutr Biochem 2013;24:2168-2174.
- 34. Krawczyk SA, Haller JF, Ferrante T, Zoeller RA, Corkey BE. Reactive oxygen species facilitate translocation of hormone sensitive lipase to the lipid droplet during lipolysis in human differentiated adipocytes. PLoS One 2012;7:e34904.
- 35. Cullberg KB, Olholm J, Paulsen SK, Foldager CB, Lind M, Richelsen B, Pedersen SB. Resveratrol has inhibitory effects on the hypoxia-induced inflammation and angiogenesis in human adipose tissue in vitro. Eur J Pharm Sci 2013;49:251-257.
- 36. Rivera L, Moron R, Zarzuelo A, Galisteo M. Long-term resveratrol administration reduces metabolic disturbances and lowers blood pressure in obese Zucker rats. Biochem Pharmacol 2009;77:1053-1063.
- 37. Jones TH. Cardiovascular risk during androgen deprivation therapy for prostate cancer. BMJ 2011;342:d3105.
- Bourghardt J, Wilhelmson AS, Alexanderson C, De Gendt K, Verhoeven G, Krettek A, Ohlsson C, Tivesten A. Androgen receptor-dependent and independent atheroprotection by testosterone in male mice. Endocrinology 2010;151:5428-5437.
- 39. Nathan L, Shi W, Dinh H, Mukherjee TK, Wang X, Lusis AJ, Chaudhuri G. Testosterone inhibits early atherogenesis by conversion to estradiol: critical role of aromatase. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2001;98:3589-3593.
- 40. Nettleship JE, Jones TH, Channer KS, Jones RD. Physiological testosterone replacement therapy attenuates fatty streak formation and improves high-density lipoprotein cholesterol in the Tfm mouse: an effect that is independent of the classic androgen receptor. Circulation 2007;116:2427-2434.

- 41. Perez I, El Hafidi M, Carvajal K, Banos G. Castration modifies aortic vasoreactivity and serum fatty acids in a sucrose-fed rat model of metabolic syndrome. Heart Vessels 2009;24:147-155.
- 42. Cohen PG. The hypogonadal-obesity cycle: role of aromatase in modulating the testosterone-estradiol shunt--a major factor in the genesis of morbid obesity. Med Hypotheses 1999;52:49-51.
- 43. Floryk D, Kurosaka S, Tanimoto R, Yang G, Goltsov A, Park S, Thompson TC. Castration-induced changes in mouse epididymal white adipose tissue. Mol Cell Endocrinol 2011;345:58-67.
- 44. Sato T, Matsumoto T, Yamada T, Watanabe T, Kawano H, Kato S. Late onset of obesity in male androgen receptor-deficient (AR KO) mice. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2003;300:167-171.
- 45. Fitzgibbons TP, Kogan S, Aouadi M, Hendricks GM, Straubhaar J, Czech MP. Similarity of mouse perivascular and brown adipose tissues and their resistance to diet-induced inflammation. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2011;301:H1425-1437.

Chapter V

Relaxant and antioxidant capacity of the red wine polyphenols, resveratrol and quercetin, on isolated mice corpora cavernosa

Charlotte Boydens¹, Bart Pauwels¹, Kelly Decaluwé¹, Peter Brouckaert^{2,3} and Johan Van de Voorde¹

¹Department of Pharmacology, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium

²Inflammation Research Centre, VIB, Ghent, Belgium

³Department of Biomedical Molecular Biology, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium

Based on:

J Sex Med 2015;12:303-312

Chapter V Relaxant and antioxidant capacity of the red wine polyphenols, resveratrol and quercetin, on isolated mice corpora cavernosa

V.1 Abstract

INTRODUCTION. The red wine polyphenols resveratrol and quercetin are known for their vasorelaxant and antioxidant capacity which is assumed to rely on the activation of the NO/sGC pathway. Vasodilators as well as antioxidants can regulate penile erection and be beneficial for the treatment of erectile dysfunction (ED).

AIMS. The goal of this study was to evaluate the NO/sGC dependency of the relaxant effect of resveratrol and quercetin on mice aorta and corpora cavernosa as well as to explore their influence on oxidative stress-induced ED.

METHODS. Isolated mice aorta and corpora cavernosa were mounted for isometric tension recordings into organ baths. Cumulative concentration-response curves were constructed for resveratrol and quercetin in the absence/presence of inhibitors of the NO/sGC pathway. In addition, in corpora cavernosa the effect of resveratrol and quercetin was studied on NO-mediated relaxations using acetylcholine (Ach), sodium nitroprusside (SNP) and electrical field stimulation (EFS). In certain experiments corporal tissues were exposed to oxidative stress using palmitic acid (PA, 0.5 mM).

MAIN OUTCOME MEASURES. Corporal responses to resveratrol and quercetin were measured in the presence/absence of inhibitors of different molecular pathways. The effect of resveratrol and quercetin incubation on Ach-, SNP- or EFS-mediated responses was explored in presence/absence of PA.

RESULTS. While both polyphenols are potent vasodilators of mice aorta, only resveratrol relaxes mice corpora cavernosa. The relaxation response to resveratrol on aorta was diminished in sGC $\alpha_1^{-/-}$ mice, but not on corpora cavernosa. The polyphenols did not influence Ach-, SNP- or EFS-mediated relaxations as such. Resveratrol, but not quercetin, was able to significantly reverse PA-induced decrease of EFS relaxations.

CONCLUSION. The red wine compound resveratrol, but not quercetin, relaxes isolated mice corpora cavernosa concentration-dependently through mechanisms independent of the NO/sGC pathway. Resveratrol is a more potent antioxidant than quercetin being able to restore decreased neuronal NO responses in mice corpora cavernosa.

Keywords. Corpora cavernosa; resveratrol; quercetin; antioxidant; erectile function

V.2 Introduction

Resveratrol and quercetin are naturally occurring polyphenols present in the skin of grapes and are thus abundant in red wine. These compounds are thought to contribute to the cardiovascular benefits associated with moderate red wine consumption (often referred to as 'the French paradox') [1, 2]. Both resveratrol and quercetin are known to relax arteries in different vascular beds, mainly by activation of the NO/sGC pathway [3-7]. However some part of the relaxation induced by these polyphenols occurs NO/sGC-independent, through activation of different types of K^+ channels [7-10]. Several studies showed that, besides their vasorelaxant effect, resveratrol and quercetin can reduce oxidative stress [11-17]. This could be of interest in the field of ED as several pathophysiological conditions (diabetes, hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis), which are linked to enhanced oxidative stress due to elevated ROS levels [18], show a higher prevalence of ED [18, 19]. Nowadays there is growing evidence for the role of ROS in the aetiology of ED as the interaction of superoxide anion with NO impairs cavernosal smooth muscle cell relaxation [18, 20]. Thus elimination of ROS using antioxidants may have a beneficial therapeutic effect on ED [18, 19]. Considering that vasodilators and antioxidants possess pro-erectile effects, resveratrol and quercetin may be useful for the treatment of ED.

V.3 Aim

The aim of this study was to evaluate the extent of NO/sGC dependency in the relaxant capacity of resveratrol and quercetin on isolated mice corpora cavernosa. In addition the antioxidant capacity of both polyphenols was explored in presence and absence of palmitic acid (PA).

V.4 Materials and methods

V.4.1 Animals

All experiments were performed on adult (8-12 weeks) male Swiss mice (n=143), obtained from Janvier (Saint-Berthevin, France) or on 129SvEvS7 sGC wild type (n=15, sGC $\alpha_1^{+/+}$) or sGC alpha1 knock-out (n=15, sGC $\alpha_1^{-/-}$) mice. These 129SvEvS7 mice were bred in the SPF facility of the Inflammation Research Center, VIB, Ghent, Belgium [21]. Food and water was provided ad libitum and all animals were treated in accordance with the Guide for the Care

Chapter V

Relaxant and antioxidant capacity of RWPs on mice corpus cavernosum

and Use of Laboratory Animals published by the US National Institutes of Health. This study was approved by the local Ethical Committee for Animal Experiments, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Ghent University, Belgium.

V.4.2 Tissue preparation

After cervical dislocation, thoracic aorta was carefully dissected and corpora cavernosa were separated from each other and excised at the base. Tissues were kept in cooled Krebs Ringer bicarbonate solution (KRB). Ring segments of the aorta were mounted in a wire myograph organ bath filled with 10 mL KRB solution. Two stainless steel wires (40 µM diameter) were guided through the lumen of the segments. In order to measure changes in isometric tension, one wire was fixed to a force-displacement transducer and the other was connected to a micrometer. The corpora cavernosa were mounted horizontally for isometric tension measurements in 10 mL myograph chambers, containing KRB solution. Changes in isometric force of the corpora cavernosa were recorded as one end was fixed to a force displacement transducer and the other to a micrometer. After mounting, the tissues were allowed to equilibrate for 30 minutes in KRB solution that was frequently replaced (37°C, pH 7.4; bubbled with 95 % O_2 -5 % CO_2). Next, the aorta and the corpora cavernosa were gradually stretched until a stable preload of 0.5 g (aorta) and 0.45 g (corpora cavernosa) was obtained and allowed to equilibrate during 30 or 60 minutes. At the end of the equilibration period aortic rings and corpora cavernosa were repeatedly activated in order to obtain maximal and stable contractions and relaxations. Aortic rings were activated using 120 mM K⁺ and 5 μ M norepinephrine (NOR), corpora cavernosa were repeatedly activated using two times 5 µM NOR. Thereafter the tissues were washed and allowed to relax to the basal tension before starting the actual protocol. The tissues were precontracted with 5 μ M NOR and after obtaining a stable contraction, 1 µM (corpora cavernosa) or 10 µM (aorta) acetylcholine (Ach) was added to evaluate the functionality of the endothelium. Only tissues that relaxed more than 50 % to Ach, were included in this study.

V.4.3 Experimental protocol

Direct relaxant effect of resveratrol and quercetin

Cumulative concentration-response curves to resveratrol or quercetin (10-100 μ M, 15 min) were obtained in corpora cavernosa or aorta precontracted with 5 μ M NOR. In parallel, responses to resveratrol were examined in the presence/absence of inhibitors of different molecular pathways.

Antioxidant capacity

In another set of experiments the effect of resveratrol or quercetin was studied on NOmediated relaxations in corpora cavernosa. In the absence and presence of resveratrol, quercetin (100 μ M, 15 min) or tempol (100 μ M, 20 min) concentration-response curves to Ach or sodium nitroprusside (SNP) were constructed or electrical field stimulation (EFS; parameters: train duration 40 s; 1, 2, 4 and 8 Hz; pulse duration 5 ms and 80 V) was applied to the corpora cavernosa. In order to obtain comparable precontraction levels between control conditions and resveratrol conditions, the precontractile tone of the resveratroltreated tissues was adjusted by adding 10 μ M NOR instead of 5 μ M NOR. In some experiments acute oxidative stress was induced by pretreating the corpora cavernosa with palmitic acid (PA, 0.5 mM, 30 min) or its solvent ethanol before constructing Ach-, SNP-, or EFS curves. Between the response-curves, the corpora cavernosa were washed and allowed to recover for 20-30 min.

V.4.4 Drugs and chemicals

The experiments were performed in a KRB solution of the following composition (mM): NaCl 135, KCl 5, NaHCO₃ 20, glucose 10, CaCl₂ 2.5, MgSO₄ 1.3, KH₂PO₄ 1.2 and EDTA 0.026 in H₂O. KRB solutions containing 30 mM (K₃₀) and 120 mM K⁺ (K₁₂₀) were prepared by equimolar replacement of NaCl by KCl. Resveratrol, quercetin, dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO), norepinephrine (NOR), acetylcholine (Ach), sodium nitroprusside (SNP), 1 H-[1, 2, 4]oxadiazolo[4,3-A]quinoxalin-1-one (ODQ), N ω -Nitro-L-arginine methyl ester hydrochloride (L-NAME), tetraethylammoniumchloride (TEA), glibenclamide (Glib), 4-aminopyridine (4-AP), palmitic acid (PA), tempol, indomethacin (indo), dihydrochloride hydrate (H-89), 8-(p-sulfophenyl)-theophylline (8-SPT) and zinc protoporphyrin IX (ZnPPIX) were obtained from Sigma (St. Louis, MO). Stock solutions of 100 mM of resveratrol and quercetin were made in

Chapter V

Relaxant and antioxidant capacity of RWPs on mice corpus cavernosum

DMSO, but were further diluted in distilled water (10 mM) before adding to the organ baths. Other stock solutions were made in water, except for ODQ and PA (dissolved in ethanol), Glib (dissolved in DMSO). The final concentration of DMSO in the organ bath never surpassed 0.1 %.

V.4.5 Statistics

The data were computed as means ± S.E.M. and evaluated statistically using the Mann-Whitney U test, Wilcoxon test or repeated measures ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc test, when appropriate. Two groups of data were considered significantly different when P<0.05. Relaxations are expressed as % decrease in precontractile tone. N is the number of tissues used.

V.5 Main outcome measures

Organ bath experiments demonstrate that resveratrol but not quercetin relaxes isolated corpora cavernosa in a concentration-dependent manner through mechanisms independent of NO/sGC. Resveratrol is more potent than quercetin to reverse the PA-induced impairment of neuronal NO-mediated responses.
V.6 Results

V.6.1 Effect of resveratrol and guercetin on precontracted mice aorta and corpora cavernosa

Resveratrol as well as quercetin (10 nM - 100 μ M, 15 min) relaxed Swiss mice aorta (Fig. V.1A and V.1B). Time and vehicle control aortic segments showed a spontaneous, nonvehicle related steady further increase in tone (Fig. V.1A and V.1B). Contrary in corpora cavernosa, only resveratrol was able evoke concentration-dependent relaxations. Although time and vehicle controls demonstrate the presence of a spontaneous loss of tone, resveratrol (10 μ M and 100 μ M) still induced significantly greater corporal relaxations compared to vehicle and time controls (Fig. V.1C). To elucidate the mechanisms involved in resveratrol-induced corporal relaxations, responses to resveratrol (10 - 100 μ M) were further studied in the presence of inhibitors of specific molecular pathways. As quercetin did not evoke significant corporal relaxations (Fig.V.1D), no further efforts were made examining the effects of inhibitors.



Figure V.1 shows the effect of resveratrol (10 nM-100 μ M, 15 min) and quercetin (10 nM-100 μ M, 15 min) on mice corpora cavernosa (CC) and aorta versus time and vehicle controls. (A, B) indicate that (A) resveratrol as well as (B) quercetin evoke concentration-dependent relaxations in aorta after precontraction with norepinephrine (NOR) 5 μ M. (C) shows that resveratrol elicits concentration-dependent relaxations of mice corpora cavernosa after precontraction with NOR 5 μ M, whilst (D) quercetin does not cause significant relaxations. Data are expressed as % relaxation of the NOR-induced tone; Mann-Whitney U test; #p<0.01 *p<0.05; n=7-8.

V.6.2 Involvement of NO/sGC pathway

The involvement of the NO/sGC pathway in the vasodilatory effect of quercetin and resveratrol on aorta and in the relaxant effect of resveratrol on corpora cavernosa, was evaluated using aorta and corpora cavernosa from $sGC\alpha_1^{-/-}$ mice. Quercetin- and resveratrol-induced relaxations in aorta from $sGC\alpha_1^{-/-}$ mice were both significantly diminished compared to $sGC\alpha_1^{+/+}$ controls (Fig. V.2A and V.2B), indicating the NO/sGC dependency of the polyphenols relaxant effect in aorta. In contrast, resveratrol-induced relaxations of corpora cavernosa from $sGC\alpha_1^{-/-}$ mice were not decreased compared to $sGC\alpha_1^{+/+}$ controls (Fig. V.2C). In Swiss mice, the presence of the sGC inhibitor ODQ (10 μ M, 10 min), or the NOS-inhibitor L-NAME (100 μ M, 20 min) did not significantly influence resveratrol-induced corporal

relaxations. L-NAME only significantly reduced resveratrol relaxation induced at a concentration of 10 μ M (Fig. V.3A and V.3B).



Figure V.2. indicates the effect of resveratrol (10-100 μ M, 15 min) and quercetin (10-100 μ M, 15 min) on aorta and corpora cavernosa (CC) from sGC $\alpha_1^{-/-}$ mice after precontraction with norepinephrine 5 μ M. (A, B) show that (A) resveratrol- as well as (B) quercetin-induced relaxations in aorta are significantly decreased in aorta from sGC $\alpha_1^{-/-}$ mice. In contrast resveratrol-induced corporal relaxations in corpora cavernosa from sGC $\alpha_1^{-/-}$ mice did not differ from control segments (C). Data are expressed as % relaxation of the NOR-induced tone; Mann-Whitney U test; #p<0.01 *p<0.05; n=6-15.



Figure 3. illustrates that resveratrol (10–100 μ M, 15 min) causes concentration-dependent relaxations in precontracted (NOR 5 μ M) mice corpora cavernosa that is similar in presence and absence of (A) ODQ (10 μ M, 10 min) or (B) L-NAME (100 μ M, 20 min). Incubation with L-NAME (100 μ M, 20 min) slightly inhibited corporal relaxations induced by resveratrol 10 μ M but not by resveratrol 30 μ M or 100 μ M (B). Data are expressed as % relaxation of the NOR-induced tone; Mann-Whitney U test; *p<0.05; n=8-10.

Relaxant and antioxidant capacity of RWPs on mice corpus cavernosum

V.6.3 Involvement of other possible mediators

To study the involvement of potassium channels, the relaxation effect of resveratrol was examined in corporal tissues precontracted using 5 μ M NOR in combination with a high K⁺ (30 or 120 mM) solution. However the presence of these higher K⁺ concentrations did not alter the corporal responses to resveratrol (Table V.1). In addition, the resveratrol-induced corporal relaxations remained similar in the presence and absence of the non-selective K⁺ channel blocker TEA (3 mM, 15 min) as well as the selective K⁺ channel blockers such as the ATP-sensitive K⁺ channel blocker (K_{ATP}) Glib (3 μ M, 10 min) or the voltage-dependent K⁺ channel blocker (K_v) 4-AP (3 mM, 20 min) (Table V.1). The involvement of other mediators was explored by pretreating the corpora cavernosa with the COX inhibitor, indomethacin (10 μ M, 20 min), heme oxygenase inhibitor, ZnPPIX (10 μ M, 60 min), the adenosine receptor antagonist, 8-SPT (100 μ M, 10 min) or the cAMP-dependent protein kinase inhibitor, H-89 (10 μ M, 20 min). None of these inhibitors altered the relaxant effect of resveratrol on mice corpora cavernosa.

	Resveratrol Resveratrol		Resveratrol
	10 µM	30 µM	100 µM
Control	13.7 ± 3.7	27.0 ± 6.9	41.4 ± 7.8
+ K ₁₂₀	13.3 ± 3.1	23.6 ± 10.4	38.1 ± 11.4
Control	12.2 ± 5.6	27.0 ± 10.3	45.0 ± 10.0
+ K ₃₀	8.6 ± 2.3	17.4 ± 6.6	42.3 ± 7.9
Control	11.4 ± 2.1	28.3 ± 4.1	36.8 ± 6.7
+ TEA (3 mM)	10.7 ± 3.3	26.6 ± 7.3	40.3 ± 9.9
Control	9.5 ± 3.0	18.1 ± 3.8	37.7 ± 7.1
+ Glib (3 μM)	15.2 ± 4.2	23.3 ± 5.2	41.9 ± 6.7
Control	13.9 ± 3.1	28.6 ± 5.1	52.0 ± 5.0
+ 4-AP (3 mM)	14.9 ± 7.7	31.8 ± 4.3	61.8 ± 4.1
Control	4.8 ± 4.9	22.2 ± 5.6	53.3 ± 6.2
+ Indo (10 μM)	12.1 ± 4.5	27.8 ± 7.6	44.2 ± 10.8
Control	18.3 ± 5.9	39.7 ± 7.4	67.4 ± 11.9
+ ZnPPIX (10 μM)	11.4 ± 5.6	33.8 ± 11.1	57.6 ± 7.3
Control	18.7 ± 4.2	28.6 ± 5.9	38.4 ± 4.5
+ 8-SPT (100 μM)	12.4 ± 2.2	20.4 ± 4.1	37.9 ± 5.1
Control	10.5 ± 2.4	19.0 ± 3.6	39.1 ± 4.0
+ H-89 (10 μM)	15.6 ± 2.1	24.9 ± 3.0	38.6 ± 3.3

Table V.1. % Relaxation (\pm SEM) induced by 10, 30 and 100 μ M resveratrol in mice corpora cavernosa in absence and presence of several inhibitors of molecular pathways.

 K_{120} , Krebs-Ringer bicarbonate solution with 120 mM K⁺; K_{30} , Krebs-Ringer bicarbonate solution with 30 mM K⁺, TEA, tetraethylammoniumchloride; Glib, glibenclamide; 4-AP, 4-aminopyridine; Indo, indomethacin; ZnPPIX, zinc protoporphyrin IX; 8-SPT, 8-(p-sulfophenyl)-theophylline; H-89, dihydrochloride hydrate

V.6.4 Effect of resveratrol and quercetin on NO-mediated relaxation of corpora cavernosa

Ach and SNP induced concentration-dependent relaxations of Swiss corpora cavernosa preparations (Fig. V.4A-V.4F). These relaxations were not or only to a low extent influenced by preincubation with resveratrol (Fig. V.4A and V.4B), quercetin (100 μ M, 15 min) (Fig. V.4C and 4D) or PA (0.5 mM, 30 min) (Fig. V.4E and V.4F).

The effect of neuronal NO was examined by stimulating the nerves with EFS. EFS relaxed corpora cavernosa in a frequency-dependent manner (Fig. V.5A-V.5E). These relaxations were not influenced by the presence of resveratrol or quercetin (100 μ M, 15 min) (Fig. V.5A and V.5C). Pretreatment with PA (0.5 mM, 30 min) significantly reduced EFS evoked relaxations (Fig. V.5E). Co-administration of quercetin showed a clear trend in reversing PA-decreased EFS relaxations (Fig. V.5D). Co-administration of resveratrol however completely restored PA-induced impaired EFS responses to the level of controls (Fig. V.5B). In comparison, pretreatment with a known antioxidant, tempol, only partly reversed PA-impaired EFS relaxations (Fig. V.5F).



Figure V.4 demonstrates that Ach and SNP (1 nM-10 μ M) evoke concentration-dependent relaxations of precontracted (NOR 5 μ M or 10 μ M (resveratrol)) mice corpora cavernosa. Incubation with (A, B) resveratrol (100 μ M, 15 min), (C, D) quercetin (100 μ M, 15 min) or (E,F) PA (0.5 mM, 30 min) did not or hardly influence Ach-or SNP-induced corporal relaxations. Data are expressed as % relaxation of the NOR-induced tone; Wilcoxon test; *p<0.05; n=6-9.



Figure V.5. shows the effect of electrical field stimulation (EFS; parameters: train duration 40s; 1, 2, 4 and 8 Hz; pulse duration 5 ms and 80V) on precontracted (NOR, 5 μ M or 10 μ M (resveratrol)) mice corpora cavernosa. EFS induced frequency-dependent corporal relaxations, which were not influenced by the presence of (A) resveratrol or (C) quercetin (100 μ M, 15 min). Incubation with PA (0.5 mM, 30 min) significantly reduced EFS evoked relaxations. Co-administration of PA (0.5 mM, 30 min) with (B) resveratrol (100 μ M, 15 min) but not (D) quercetin (100 μ M, 15 min) significantly reversed PA diminished EFS responses, whereas co-administration of PA with (F) tempol (100 μ M, 20 min) only partly restored PA-impaired EFS relaxations. Data are expressed as % relaxation of the NOR-induced tone; (A,C,E) Wilcoxon test; *p<0.05; n=7-8; (B,D,F) repeated measures ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc test; #p<0.01 *p<0.05 (as compared to PA treatment); n=8-9.

V.7 Discussion

The main finding of this study is twofold: (i) Resveratrol but not quercetin relaxes isolated mice corpora cavernosa in a concentration-dependent manner through mechanisms independent of NO/sGC. (ii) Resveratrol is more potent than quercetin in reversing PA-induced decrease in nNOS responses.

As resveratrol and quercetin are believed to contribute to the cardiovascular benefits of moderate red wine consumption, numerous studies have shown that both polyphenols can induce vasorelaxation [3-10]. Even in corporal tissues positive effects to resveratrol and quercetin administration have been reported [22-27]. However, this study is the first to report a relaxant capacity of resveratrol on isolated mice corpora cavernosa. Surprisingly, our results demonstrate that both polyphenols are potent vasodilators of mice aorta, but only resveratrol is able to induce corporal relaxation. The failure of quercetin to relax mice corpora cavernosa in contrast to human corpora cavernosa [25] could be due to species differences. In addition in mice aorta, in contrast to corpora cavernosa, a specific molecular target for quercetin could exist or this target could have a higher activity/sensitivity in mice aorta. Moreover, as resveratrol and quercetin belong to a different subclass of the polyphenol family (resveratrol being a stilbene, quercetin being a flavonoid), also structural features could take account for the inability of quercetin to relax mice corpora cavernosa. The idea that the vasorelaxant capacity of polyphenols could be related to structural features has already been proposed [28]. Therefore it is rational to assume that for instance the presence of the flavan moiety may limit the relaxant capacity of guercetin in corporal tissue.

It is well established that resveratrol and quercetin can relax different types of arteries through activation of the NO/sGC-dependent pathway [3-7]. In contrast, the contribution of the NO/sGC-pathway in the relaxant effect of resveratrol on mice corpora cavernosa is unknown. Therefore this was evaluated using sGC $\alpha_1^{-/-}$ mice. sGC exists as an $\alpha\beta$ heterodimer of which two isoforms for each subunit have been characterized (α_1/α_2 and β_1/β_2). However, only the $\alpha_1\beta_1$ and $\alpha_2\beta_1$ heterodimers are catalytically active [29]. Studies suggested that sGC $\alpha_1\beta_1$ is predominantly expressed in corpora cavernosa and is the most important sGC heterodimer responsible for corporal smooth muscle relaxation [30-32]. In aorta from

Chapter V

Relaxant and antioxidant capacity of RWPs on mice corpus cavernosum

 $sGC\alpha_1^{-/-}$ mice the resveratrol- and quercetin-induced relaxations were significantly inhibited, confirming the NO/sGC dependency by which polyphenols relax arteries. On the other hand, in corpora cavernosa the resveratrol-induced relaxations were comparable in $sGC\alpha_1^{-\!/\!-}$ and $sGC\alpha_1^{+/+}$ mice. Moreover, pretreatment with the NOS inhibitor L-NAME or the sGC inhibitor ODQ did not influence the resveratrol-induced corporal relaxations. In contrast to mice aorta, these results suggest a NO/sGC-independent mechanism of resveratrol to relax mice corpora cavernosa. Surprisingly Fukuhara et al. [24] reported that resveratrol acts NOdependently to elevate cGMP levels in corpora cavernosa smooth muscle cells. Species differences and different experimental set-ups may explain this discrepancy as in the study of Fukuhara et al. [24] no functional experiments were performed. Moreover, it is well known that the resveratrol-induced relaxations do not solely depend on the activation of the NO/sGC pathway. Other mechanisms have been suggested as well, including activation of K⁺ channels [7, 8, 10]. Within this respect, Dalaklioglu et al. [22] reported that resveratrol could relax rat corpora cavernosa independent of the NO/sGC pathway by activation of different types of K^{+} channels. In our study, neither the presence of high K^{+} concentrations nor pretreatment of the corpora cavernosa with the non-selective (TEA) as well as the selective K_{ATP} (Glib) or K_v (4-AP) channel blockers modified resveratrol-induced corporal relaxations. Therefore, it is unlikely that opening of K⁺ channels is involved in the mice corporal relaxant effect of resveratrol. Other mediators such as prostaglandins, heme oxygenase, adenosine receptors or cAMP pathway, which have been reported to be involved in the resveratrol's mechanism of action [33-36], can also be excluded since pretreatment of de corpora cavernosa with indomethacin, ZnPPIX, 8-SPT or H-89 respectively did not alter corporal relaxations induced by resveratrol. The exact mechanism by which resveratrol relaxes mice corpora cavernosa remains elusive.

It has been shown that resveratrol and quercetin increase endothelium-dependent relaxations to Ach in different rat models with endothelial dysfunction [14, 27, 37]. Interestingly, resveratrol can improve Ach-induced relaxations even in aortic strips from normal mice [39]. In our study neither resveratrol nor quercetin enhanced endogenously (Ach), exogenously (SNP) or neuronal (EFS) NO-mediated relaxation responses of corpora cavernosa. However when oxidative stress was enhanced using PA, resveratrol was able to reverse the decreased EFS-induced relaxations. This finding is in line with what was observed

Relaxant and antioxidant capacity of RWPs on mice corpus cavernosum

by Ertug et al. [23] who found that quercetin restored exogenous NO responses when mice corpora cavernosa were exposed to free radicals. This could imply that a certain amount of oxidative stress is required in order for quercetin or resveratrol to exert their beneficial effect. As in resting conditions corpora cavernosa are exposed to a limited amount of oxidative stress, resveratrol and quercetin failed to improve NO-mediated corporal relaxations. Quercetin treatment clearly shows a trend to reverse PA-related decreases in corporal EFS responses. However, resveratrol completely reversed PA-induced impairment of EFS responses. In addition, as incubation of the corpora cavernosa with a known antioxidant, tempol, only partly restored PA-induced impaired EFS relaxations, it seems that on corpora cavernosa resveratrol exerts a greater beneficial effect than tempol.

PA is one of the most abundant free fatty acids (FFA) found in plasma. In addition elevated FFA are a common feature in obesity and diabetes [38], two conditions which are frequently associated with ED [18]. Furthermore, PA incubation can stimulate ROS generation in vitro and impair endothelium-dependent relaxation responses [39-41]. As increased ROS could result in ED, elevated PA levels could be a cause of ROS-related ED. In our study however PA incubation did not cause endothelial or vascular damage since Ach and SNP responses of the corpora cavernosa were not influenced by PA incubation. Therefore it seems that PA causes only a low degree of oxidative stress, which was too low to impair Ach or SNP responses. Despite the mild oxidative stress, EFS-evoked relaxations were significantly decreased by PA, indicating that even mild oxidative stress is sufficient to cause lower neuronal NO bioavailability. In corpora cavernosa this could be physiological relevant as neuronal NO is the primary trigger for erection. If the primary trigger to induce erection is decreased, this might lead to ED since NO derived from other sources cannot completely serve as back-up for the decrease in primary NO source [18, 42]. Regardless of the severity of oxidative stress induced by PA, our results suggest that in mice corpora cavernosa resveratrol is more potent than quercetin to reverse PA-related decreases in neuronal NO-mediated responses.

It should be noted that our study has limitations hampering to draw firm conclusions. First, our study represents a strictly in vitro approach. Therefore our results cannot be extrapolated as such to the in vivo situation or be compared to the effect of orally ingested polyphenols. This latter should be taken into account since polyphenols are rapidly metabolized and thus have a poor oral bioavailability [43]. This raises the question whether

the beneficial effects observed in vitro can be reproduced in vivo. However considering the recent study by Yu et al. [44] it seems that resveratrol even in vivo has positive effect on corporal tissues as resveratrol improved erectile function in streptozocin-induced diabetic rats by preventing oxidative stress. In addition as low testosterone levels are more often associated with ED [45] also hormonal status can influence the responsiveness of corporal tissues and thus the responsiveness to resveratrol. A second limitation is the lack of direct measurements of the effect of resveratrol and quercetin on oxidative stress. However substantial data is available indicating that resveratrol is able to reduce ROS production in vitro [12, 15-17] as well as in vivo [11, 44] even in corporal tissue.

V.8 Conclusions

In conclusion, our study shows that the wine compounds resveratrol and quercetin are both potent vasodilators of mice aorta, however only resveratrol exerts a relaxant effect in mice corpora cavernosa which is independent of the NO/sGC pathway. The exact mechanism underlying resveratrol's relaxant effect on mice corpora cavernosa remains elusive. Furthermore, our study indicates that resveratrol is a more potent antioxidant than quercetin being able to restore decreased neuronal NO responses in mice corpora cavernosa.

It is necessary to consider back-up therapeutic approaches in the treatment of ED as specific patient populations are refractory to first-line therapy with PDE5 inhibitors [19]. In this perspective, our results demonstrate that resveratrol, a naturally occurring polyphenol with direct relaxant and antioxidant effects on mice corpora cavernosa, is potentially beneficial for patients suffering from ED. Still, additional pharmacological and toxicological research is needed to elucidate whether resveratrol also exerts these relaxant and antioxidant properties in vivo and thus possesses strong therapeutic value for patients suffering from ED.

V.9 Acknowledgements

This work was supported by a grant of the Special Investigation Fund of Ghent University (GOA 01G02410) and the Fund of Scientific Research Flanders (FWO-Vlaanderen). The authors would like to thank Lies Vancraeynest, Frederique Van de Velde and Tom Vanthuyne for the excellent technical assistance.

V.10 References

- 1. de Lorgeril M, Salen P, Paillard F, Laporte F, Boucher F, de Leiris J. Mediterranean diet and the French paradox: two distinct biogeographic concepts for one consolidated scientific theory on the role of nutrition in coronary heart disease. Cardiovasc Res. 2002;54(3):503-15.
- 2. Orallo F, Alvarez E, Camina M, Leiro JM, Gomez E, Fernandez P. The possible implication of trans-Resveratrol in the cardioprotective effects of long-term moderate wine consumption. Mol Pharmacol. 2002;61(2):294-302.
- 3. Chen CK, Pace-Asciak CR. Vasorelaxing activity of resveratrol and quercetin in isolated rat aorta. Gen Pharmacol. 1996;27(2):363-6.
- 4. Khoo NK, White CR, Pozzo-Miller L, Zhou F, Constance C, Inoue T, et al. Dietary flavonoid quercetin stimulates vasorelaxation in aortic vessels. Free Radic Biol Med. 2010;49(3):339-47.
- 5. Naderali EK, Smith SL, Doyle PJ, Williams G. The mechanism of resveratrol-induced vasorelaxation differs in the mesenteric resistance arteries of lean and obese rats. Clin Sci (Lond). 2001;100(1):55-60.
- 6. Roghani M, Baluchnejadmojarad T, Vaez-Mahdavi MR, Roghani-Dehkordi F. Mechanisms underlying quercetin-induced vasorelaxation in aorta of subchronic diabetic rats: an in vitro study. Vascul Pharmacol. 2004;42(1):31-5.
- 7. Shen M, Zhao L, Wu RX, Yue SQ, Pei JM. The vasorelaxing effect of resveratrol on abdominal aorta from rats and its underlying mechanisms. Vascul Pharmacol. 2013;58(1-2):64-70.
- Gojkovic-Bukarica L, Novakovic A, Kanjuh V, Bumbasirevic M, Lesic A, Heinle H. A role of ion channels in the endothelium-independent relaxation of rat mesenteric artery induced by resveratrol. J Pharmacol Sci. 2008;108(1):124-30.
- 9. Nishida S, Satoh H. Possible Involvement of Ca Activated K Channels, SK Channel, in the Quercetin-Induced Vasodilatation. Korean J Physiol Pharmacol. 2009;13(5):361-5.
- 10. Novakovic A, Bukarica LG, Kanjuh V, Heinle H. Potassium channels-mediated vasorelaxation of rat aorta induced by resveratrol. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol. 2006;99(5):360-4.
- 11. Cheng PW, Ho WY, Su YT, Lu PJ, Chen BZ, Cheng WH, et al. Resveratrol decreases fructose-induced oxidative stress, mediated by NADPH oxidase via an AMPK-dependent mechanism. Br J Pharmacol. 2014;171(11):2739-50.
- 12. Guo R, Li W, Liu B, Li S, Zhang B, Xu Y. Resveratrol protects vascular smooth muscle cells against high glucose-induced oxidative stress and cell proliferation in vitro. Med Sci Monit Basic Res. 2014;20:82-92.
- 13. Huk I, Brovkovych V, Nanobash Vili J, Weigel G, Neumayer C, Partyka L, et al. Bioflavonoid quercetin scavenges superoxide and increases nitric oxide concentration in ischaemia-reperfusion injury: an experimental study. Br J Surg. 1998;85(8):1080-5.
- 14. Sanchez M, Galisteo M, Vera R, Villar IC, Zarzuelo A, Tamargo J, et al. Quercetin downregulates NADPH oxidase, increases eNOS activity and prevents endothelial dysfunction in spontaneously hypertensive rats. J Hypertens. 2006;24(1):75-84.
- 15. Sayin O, Arslan N, Guner G. The protective effects of resveratrol on human coronary artery endothelial cell damage induced by hydrogen peroxide in vitro. Acta Clin Croat. 2012;51(2):227-35.
- 16. Tang Y, Xu J, Qu W, Peng X, Xin P, Yang X, et al. Resveratrol reduces vascular cell senescence through attenuation of oxidative stress by SIRT1/NADPH oxidase-dependent mechanisms. J Nutr Biochem. 2012;23(11):1410-6.
- 17. Zhang J, Chen J, Yang J, Xu CW, Pu P, Ding JW, et al. Resveratrol attenuates oxidative stress induced by balloon injury in the rat carotid artery through actions on the ERK1/2 and NF-kappa B pathway. Cell Physiol Biochem. 2013;31(2-3):230-41.
- 18. Jeremy JY, Jones RA, Koupparis AJ, Hotston M, Persad R, Angelini GD, et al. Reactive oxygen species and erectile dysfunction: possible role of NADPH oxidase. Int J Impot Res. 2007;19(3):265-80.
- 19. Decaluwé K, Pauwels B, Verpoest S, Van de Voorde J. New therapeutic targets for the treatment of erectile dysfunction. Journal of Sexual Medicine. 2011;8(12):3271-90.

- 20. Shukla N, Rossoni G, Hotston M, Sparatore A, Del Soldato P, Tazzari V, et al. Effect of hydrogen sulphidedonating sildenafil (ACS6) on erectile function and oxidative stress in rabbit isolated corpus cavernosum and in hypertensive rats. BJU Int. 2009;103(11):1522-9.
- 21. Buys ES, Sips P, Vermeersch P, Raher MJ, Rogge E, Ichinose F, et al. Gender-specific hypertension and responsiveness to nitric oxide in sGCalpha1 knockout mice. Cardiovasc Res. 2008;79(1):179-86.
- 22. Dalaklioglu S, Ozbey G. Role of different types of potassium channels in the relaxation of corpus cavernosum induced by resveratrol. Pharmacogn Mag. 2014;10(37):47-52.
- 23. Ertug PU, Olguner AA, Ogulener N, Singirik E. Protective effect of quercetin, a polyphenolic compound, on mouse corpus cavernosum. Fundam Clin Pharmacol. 2010;24(2):223-32.
- 24. Fukuhara S, Tsujimura A, Okuda H, Yamamoto K, Takao T, Miyagawa Y, et al. Vardenafil and resveratrol synergistically enhance the nitric oxide/cyclic guanosine monophosphate pathway in corpus cavernosal smooth muscle cells and its therapeutic potential for erectile dysfunction in the streptozotocin-induced diabetic rat: preliminary findings. J Sex Med. 2011;8(4):1061-71.
- 25. Jansakul C, Tachanaparuksa K, Mulvany MJ, Sukpondma Y. Relaxant mechanisms of 3, 5, 7, 3', 4'pentamethoxyflavone on isolated human cavernosum. Eur J Pharmacol. 2012;691(1-3):235-44.
- 26. Zhang W, Wang Y, Yang Z, Qiu J, Ma J, Zhao Z, et al. Antioxidant treatment with quercetin ameliorates erectile dysfunction in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. J Biosci Bioeng. 2011;112(3):215-8.
- 27. Soner BC, Murat N, Demir O, Guven H, Esen A, Gidener S. Evaluation of vascular smooth muscle and corpus cavernosum on hypercholesterolemia. Is resveratrol promising on erectile dysfunction? Int J Impot Res. 2010;22(4):227-33.
- 28. Taubert D, Berkels R, Klaus W, Roesen R. Nitric oxide formation and corresponding relaxation of porcine coronary arteries induced by plant phenols: essential structural features. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 2002;40(5):701-13.
- 29. Koesling D. Studying the structure and regulation of soluble guanylyl cyclase. Methods. 1999;19(4):485-93.
- 30. Nakane M, Hsieh G, Miller LN, Chang R, Terranova MA, Moreland RB, et al. Activation of soluble guanylate cyclase causes relaxation of corpus cavernosum tissue: synergism of nitric oxide and YC-1. Int J Impot Res. 2002;14(2):121-7.
- 31. Decaluwé K, Nimmegeers S, Thoonen R, Buys E, Brouckaert P, Van de Voorde J. In vitro and in vivo studies on the importance of the soluble guanylyl cyclase alpha1 subunit in penile erection. World J Urol. 2010;28(5):643-50.
- 32. Nimmegeers S, Sips P, Buys E, Decaluwé K, Brouckaert P, Van de Voorde J. Role of the soluble guanylyl cyclase alpha1-subunit in mice corpus cavernosum smooth muscle relaxation. Int J Impot Res. 2008;20(3):278-84.
- 33. Chen ML, Yi L, Jin X, Liang XY, Zhou Y, Zhang T, et al. Resveratrol attenuates vascular endothelial inflammation by inducing autophagy through the cAMP signaling pathway. Autophagy. 2013;9(12):2033-45.
- 34. Das S, Cordis GA, Maulik N, Das DK. Pharmacological preconditioning with resveratrol: role of CREBdependent Bcl-2 signaling via adenosine A3 receptor activation. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2005;288(1):H328-35.
- 35. Juan SH, Cheng TH, Lin HC, Chu YL, Lee WS. Mechanism of concentration-dependent induction of heme oxygenase-1 by resveratrol in human aortic smooth muscle cells. Biochem Pharmacol. 2005;69(1):41-8.
- 36. Pace-Asciak CR, Hahn S, Diamandis EP, Soleas G, Goldberg DM. The red wine phenolics trans-resveratrol and quercetin block human platelet aggregation and eicosanoid synthesis: implications for protection against coronary heart disease. Clin Chim Acta. 1995;235(2):207-19.
- 37. Roghani M, Baluchnejadmojarad T. Mechanisms underlying vascular effect of chronic resveratrol in streptozotocin-diabetic rats. Phytother Res. 2010;24 Suppl 2:S148-54.
- 38. Boden G. Obesity and free fatty acids. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am. 2008;37(3):635-46, viii-ix.

- 39. Brodeur MR, Bouvet C, Barrette M, Moreau P. Palmitic acid increases medial calcification by inducing oxidative stress. J Vasc Res. 2013;50(5):430-41.
- 40. Inoguchi T, Li P, Umeda F, Yu HY, Kakimoto M, Imamura M, et al. High glucose level and free fatty acid stimulate reactive oxygen species production through protein kinase C--dependent activation of NAD(P)H oxidase in cultured vascular cells. Diabetes. 2000;49(11):1939-45.
- 41. Lambertucci RH, Hirabara SM, Silveira Ldos R, Levada-Pires AC, Curi R, Pithon-Curi TC. Palmitate increases superoxide production through mitochondrial electron transport chain and NADPH oxidase activity in skeletal muscle cells. J Cell Physiol. 2008;216(3):796-804.
- 42. Cartledge J, Minhas S, Eardley I. The role of nitric oxide in penile erection. Expert Opin Pharmacother. 2001;2(1):95-107.
- 43. Walle T. Bioavailability of resveratrol. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2011;1215:9-15.
- 44. Yu W, Wan Z, Qiu XF, Chen Y, Dai YT. Resveratrol, an activator of SIRT1, restores erectile function in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Asian J Androl. 2013;15(5):646-51.
- 45. Aversa A, Isidori AM, De Martino MU, Caprio M, Fabbrini E, Rocchietti-March M, et al. Androgens and penile erection: evidence for a direct relationship between free testosterone and cavernous vasodilation in men with erectile dysfunction. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2000;53(4):517-2

Chapter VI

Protective effect of resveratrol and quercetin on in vitro-induced diabetic mouse corpus cavernosum

Charlotte Boydens, Bart Pauwels, Laura Vanden Daele and Johan Van de

Voorde

Department of Pharmacology, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium

Based on:

Cardiovasc Diabetol 2016;15:46.

Chapter VI Protective effect of resveratrol and quercetin on in vitro-induced diabetic mouse corpus cavernosum

VI.1 Abstract

BACKGROUND. Hyperglycemia and increased levels of methylglyoxal (MGO) can trigger the development of vascular complications in diabetes. Resveratrol and quercetin are red wine polyphenols with known beneficial cardiovascular properties, including an antioxidant capacity. This study evaluated whether resveratrol and/or quercetin could prevent *in vitro*-induced diabetic changes in neurogenic and vascular relaxant responses of mouse arteries and corpora cavernosa.

METHODS Isometric tension of isolated aorta, mesenteric arteries and corpora cavernosa was measured using organ bath systems. Diabetic conditions were mimicked *in vitro* by co-incubating the tissues for 2 h with high glucose (HG, 30 mM) and MGO (120 μ M).

RESULTS. The presence of HG and MGO significantly blunted acetylcholine (Ach)-induced relaxations in corpora cavernosa and mesenteric arteries but not in aorta. Electrical field stimulated (EFS) responses of corpora cavernosa were also significantly inhibited by these diabetic conditions. In corpora cavernosa 2 h co-incubation with resveratrol (30 μ M) or quercetin (30 μ M) significantly attenuated HG and MGO-induced deficits in Ach- and EFS-responses.

CONCLUSIONS. Our study demonstrates that in mouse arteries, HG and MGO rather affect endothelium derived hyperpolarizing factor-mediated than nitric oxide (NO)-mediated relaxations. In corpora cavernosa HG and MGO interfere with NO release. Resveratrol and quercetin protect mouse corpora cavernosa from diabetic-induced damage to NO-mediated relaxant responses. This might rely on their antioxidant capacity.

Keywords: resveratrol, quercetin, diabetes, erectile dysfunction

VI.2 Introduction

Hyperglycemia and increased levels of methylglyoxal (MGO), a reactive metabolite produced during glycolysis, are two hallmarks of diabetes mellitus which can trigger the development of vascular complications in diabetes [1-5]. These vascular events are presumed to underlie the pathogenesis of diabetic-related erectile dysfunction (ED). Indeed, in different models of diabetes it has been demonstrated that neurogenic- and endothelium-mediated relaxation of isolated corpora cavernosa [6-11] or arteries [5, 12, 13] is impaired. Moreover, in vitro research showed that acute exposure of isolated arteries to high glucose or MGO affects endothelium-dependent relaxations in different vascular beds [1, 3, 14-16]. Oxidative stress may play a causative role in the damaging effect of hyperglycemia or MGO on the endothelium [1, 3, 5, 15, 16]. Therefore, antioxidant therapy might offer an option for treating diabetic complications, including ED. Resveratrol and quercetin are two naturally occurring polyphenols, mainly present in the skin of grapes and thus abundant in red wine. Both polyphenols are suggested to have beneficial cardiovascular properties, including a relaxant [17, 18] and antioxidant [17, 19, 20] capacity. Recently, our group reported a relaxant and antioxidant effect of resveratrol in isolated mouse corpora cavernosa [21]. Considering their antioxidant properties resveratrol and/or quercetin could potentially be of value in the treatment of diabetic ED. However, the antioxidant effect of these polyphenols in mouse mesenteric arteries and corpora cavernosa in diabetic conditions is as yet unexplored. Therefore, the aim of this study was to evaluate whether resveratrol and/or quercetin could protect mouse mesenteric artery and/or corpora cavernosa from high glucose and MGO-induced defects in endothelium- and neurogenic-mediated relaxations.

VI.3 Materials and methods

VI.3.1 Animals

Adult (8-12 weeks) male Swiss mice were obtained from Janvier (Saint-Berthevin, France). Food and water was provided ad libitum and all animals were treated in accordance with the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals published by the US National Institutes of Health. This study was approved by the local Ethical Committee for Animal experiments, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Ghent University, Belgium.

VI.3.2 Tissue preparation

After cervical dislocation, thoracic aorta, mesenteric arteries (1st and 2nd order) and corpora cavernosa were carefully isolated and dissected free from surrounding structures. All tissues were kept in cold Krebs-Ringer bicarbonate (KRB) solution. Aorta and mesenteric arteries were cut into rings of about 3 mm in length and mounted in a wire myograph for isometric tension measurements. Of each mouse, one corpus cavernosum was mounted horizontally in a myograph with one end fixed to a transducer and the other to a micrometer. The tissue chambers were filled with 10 mL KRB solution at 37 °C (pH 7.4) equilibrated with 95 % O₂-5 % CO₂. The preparations were allowed to equilibrate for 30 minutes in KRB solution that was frequently replaced. In order to obtain maximal, stable contractions and relaxations, mesenteric arteries were stretched to their optimal lumen diameter that gives a maximum response, as calculated on the basis of the passive wall tension-internal circumference relationship [22]. Aorta segments and corpora cavernosa were gradually stretched until a stable preload of 0.5 g (aorta) or 0.45 g (corpora cavernosa) was obtained. Subsequently, tissues were repeatedly activated using different protocols: (i) aorta with 120 mM K^{+} and 1 μ M phenylephrine (Phe) (ii) mesenteric arteries 3 times with 120 mM K⁺ and 10 μ M Phe and (iii) corpora cavenosa two times with 5 µM Phe. The integrity of the endothelium was examined by precontracting the tissues with submaximal Phe concentrations (1 µM for aorta, 5 µM for corpora cavernosa and 10 µM for mesenteric arteries) and adding acetylcholine (Ach) (10 μ M for arteries or 1 μ M for corpora cavernosa). Only tissues that relaxed more than 50 % to Ach, were included in this study.

VI.3.3 Experimental protocol

Tissues were incubated for 2 h with: (i) control KRB solution containing 10 mM glucose or (ii) KRB solution containing 30 mM glucose (high glucose) and 120 μ M MGO. Every 30 minutes the KRB solution in the organ baths was refreshed. After 2 h incubation, tissues were precontracted with Phe (1 – 10 μ M). Firstly, the relaxant effect of resveratrol (1 – 100 μ M) and quercetin (1 – 100 μ M) was evaluated. Secondly, the protective effect of resveratrol and quercetin on endothelium-(in)dependent relaxations were evaluated. Relaxant responses to Ach (1 nM – 1 or 10 μ M) and sodium nitroprusside (SNP) (1 nM – 1 μ M), were examined after 2 h pretreatment with 30 mM glucose and 120 μ M MGO in absence or presence of ascorbic acid (100 μ M), tempol (100 μ M), resveratrol (30 μ M) or quercetin (10 or 30 μ M). In

corpora cavernosa, neurogenic-mediated relaxations were also studied by applying electrical field stimulation (EFS; parameters: train duration 40 s; 1, 2, 4 and 8 Hz; pulse duration 5 ms and 80 V).

VI.3.4 Drugs and chemicals

The experiments were performed in a KRB solution of the following composition (mM): NaCl 135, KCl 5, NaHCO₃ 20, glucose 10 (control) or 30 (high glucose), CaCl₂ 2.5, MgSO₄ 1.3, KH₂PO₄ 1.2 and EDTA 0.026 in H₂O. L-phenylephrine hydrochloride (Phe), acetylcholine chloride (Ach), sodium nitroprusside (SNP), N ω -Nitro-L-arginine methyl ester hydrochloride (L-NAME), indomethacin (indo), methylglyoxal solution (MGO), 4-hydroxy-tempo (Temp), L-ascorbic acid (AA), resveratrol, quercetin and dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) were obtained from Sigma (St. Louis, MO). Stock solutions were made in water except for indo (ethanol). The final concentrations of vehicle solution in the organ bath never exceeded 0.1 %. Stock solutions of 100 mM of resveratrol and quercetin were made in DMSO, but were further diluted in distilled water (10 mM) before adding to the organ baths.

VI.3.5 Statistics

The data are presented as mean values \pm S.E.M. Relaxations are expressed as % decrease in precontractile tone. N is the number of individual strips/rings used. Sensitivity (pEC50) and maximum response (E_{max}) were calculated from the concentration-response curves to resveratrol, quercetin or acetylcholine. pEC50 was defined as the negative logarithm to base 10 of the EC50 values and E_{max} was defined as the maximal relaxation. The data in our study was analysed using SPSS, version 22; IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, USA. Statistical significance was evaluated using the Mann-Whitney U test. Two groups of data were considered significantly different when p<0.05. Graphs were created using Graphpad Prism, version 4.00, GraphPad Software, San Diego California USA.

VI.4 Results

VI.4.1 Relaxant capacity of resveratrol and quercetin in presence of high glucose and MGO

Both resveratrol and quercetin (1 – 100 μ M, 15 min) relaxed Phe-precontracted aortic and mesenteric rings concentration dependently (Fig. VI.1a and VI.1b). Maximal relaxation for resveratrol was 74.4 ± 5.1 % (aorta) and 101.8 ± 2.0 % (mesenteric arteries); pEC50 values

were 4.4 \pm 0.1 and 4.9 \pm 0.1 for aortic and mesenteric rings respectively. Maximal relaxation for quercetin was 59.0 \pm 11.1 % (aorta) and 102.8 \pm 4.3 % (mesenteric arteries); pEC50 values were 4.5 \pm 0.1 and 5.4 \pm 0.1 for aortic and mesenteric rings respectively. In contrast, only resveratrol evoked concentration dependent relaxations in corpora cavernosa (E_{max}: 50.6 \pm 9.6 % and pEC50: 4.9 \pm 0.5) (Fig. VI.1c). Based on these results, following concentrations of resveratrol and quercetin were chosen for our subsequent experiments: 10 µM resveratrol and 3 µM quercetin for mesenteric arteries, 30 µM resveratrol and 30 µM quercetin for corpora cavernosa.



Figure VI.1: (Vaso)relaxant effect of resveratrol or quercetin in presence of high glucose and methylglyoxal. (a) Aorta, (b) mesenteric artery and (c) corpora cavernosa. Tissues were incubated for 2 h with 30 mM glucose (HG) and 120 μ M methylglyoxal (MGO) before constructing concentration-response (1-100 μ M) curves to resveratrol (Res, 15 min) or quercetin (Quer, 15 min). Data are expressed as % decrease of Phe-induced tone; Mann-Whitney U test; #p<0.01 and *p<0.05 (vehicle control vs. Res) (n=5-6); ##p<0.01 and **p<0.05 (vehicle control vs. Quer) (n=5-6).

VI.4.2 High glucose and MGO impair Ach- and EFS-relaxations

Endothelium-dependent relaxations where evaluated using Ach (1 nM – 1 or 10 μ M), which induced concentration dependent relaxations in all tissues. To explore the role of endothelium derived hyperpolarizing factor (EDHF), Ach-curves were constructed in presence of the NO synthase inhibitor, L-NAME (0.1 mM, 20 min), and the cyclooxygenase blocker, indo (10 μ M, 20 min). The presence of L-NAME and indo completely abolished Achrelaxations in aorta and corpora cavernosa, whereas these inhibitors did not affect Achrelaxations of mesenteric arteries (data not shown).

After 2 h incubation with high glucose (30 mM) and MGO (120 μ M), Ach-induced relaxations were significantly blunted in mesenteric arteries (Fig. VI.2a, VI.2b and VI.3a) and corpora cavernosa (Fig. VI.2c, VI.2d and VI.3b). EFS-relaxations of corpora cavernosa were significantly reduced by 2 h exposure to high glucose (30 mM) and MGO (120 μ M) (Fig. VI.2e, VI.2f and VI.3c).



Figure VI.2: Effect of in vitro-diabetic conditions on acetylcholine and electrical field stimulated responses of mesenteric artery and corpora cavernosa. Original tracings showing the effect of 2 h incubation with high glucose (HG, 30 mM) and methylglyoxal (MGO, 120 μ M) on (a-d) acetylcholine (Ach, -log M) and (e and f) electrical field stimulated (Hz) relaxations of mesenteric artery and corpora cavernosa after precontraction with phenylephrine (Phe; 10 μ M for mesenteric arteries; 5 μ M for corpora cavernosa). Response curve to Ach in mesenteric artery in (a) absence and (b) presence of HG and MGO; in corpora cavernosa in (c) absence and (d) presence of HG and MGO. EFS-relaxations in corpora cavernosa in (e) absence and (f) presence of HG and MGO.



Figure VI.3: Effect of in vitro-diabetic conditions on acetylcholine and electrical field stimulated responses of mesenteric artery and corpora cavernosa. Acetylcholine (Ach)-induced relaxations of (a) mesenteric artery and (b) corpora cavernosa after 2 h incubation with high glucose (HG, 30 mM) and methylglyoxal (MGO, 120 μ M) after precontraction with Phe (10 μ M for mesenteric arteries; 5 μ M for corpora cavernosa). (c) Electrical field stimulated (EFS) relaxations of 5 μ M Phe-precontracted mouse corpora cavernosa after 2 h incubation with high glucose (HG, 30 mM) and methylglyoxal (MGO, 120 μ M). Data are expressed as % decrease of Phe-induced tone; Mann-Whitney U test; #p<0.01 and *p<0.05 (n=6-7).

In contrast, the presence of 30 mM glucose and 120 μ M MGO neither affected Achrelaxations of aorta (Fig VI.4a) nor SNP-relaxations of aorta, mesenteric arteries or corpora cavernosa (Fig. VI.4b, VI.4c and VI.4d).



Figure VI.4: Effect of in vitro-diabetic conditions on acetylcholine and sodium nitroprusside responses of aorta, mesenteric artery and corpora cavernosa. Acetylcholine (Ach)-induced relaxations of mouse (a) aorta and on sodium nitroprusside (SNP)-induced relaxations of (b) aorta, (c) mesenteric artery and (d) corpora cavernosa after 2 h incubation with high glucose (HG, 30 mM) and methylglyoxal (MGO, 120 μ M) after precontraction with Phe (1 μ M for aorta, 10 μ M for mesenteric arteries and 5 μ M for corpora cavernosa). Data are expressed as % decrease of Phe-induced tone; Mann-Whitney U test; (n=7-8 for Ach-curves) (n=4-6 for SNP-curves).

VI.4.3 Role of oxidative stress in glucose and MGO-impaired relaxations

Mesenteric arteries and corpora cavernosa were pretreated for 2 h with 30 mM glucose and 120 μ M MGO in combination with the antioxidant AA (100 μ M) or the superoxide anion scavenger Temp (100 μ M). In mesenteric arteries both AA (Fig. VI.5a) and Temp (Fig. VI.6a) prevented glucose and MGO impairment of Ach-relaxations. Neither AA nor Temp altered sensitivity to Ach, whereas maximal Ach-responses were improved in presence of AA or Temp (Table 1). Similarly, in corpora cavernosa, both antioxidants counteracted the effect of glucose and MGO incubation on Ach- and EFS-responses (Fig. VI.5b and VI.5c, VI.6b and VI.6c). pEC50 values were unaltered by antioxidant treatment. Maximal Ach-responses were however improved in presence of AA or Temp (Table VI.1).



Figure VI.5: Ascorbic acid prevents high glucose and methylglyoxal-induced deficits in mesenteric artery and corpora cavernosa. Acetylcholine (Ach)-induced relaxations of (a) mesenteric artery and (b) corpora cavernosa after 2 h co-incubation with high glucose (HG, 30 mM) and methylglyoxal (MGO, 120 μ M) in absence and presence of ascorbic acid (AA, 100 μ M) after precontraction with Phe (10 μ M for mesenteric arteries; 5 μ M for corpora cavernosa). (c) Electrical field stimulated (EFS) relaxations of corpora cavernosa after 2 h incubation with high glucose (HG, 30 mM) and methylglyoxal (MGO, 120 μ M) in absence of ascorbic acid (AA, 100 μ M) and methylglyoxal (MGO, 120 μ M) in absence of ascorbic acid (AA, 100 μ M) and methylglyoxal (MGO, 120 μ M) in absence of ascorbic acid (AA, 100 μ M). Data are expressed as % decrease of Phe-induced tone; Mann-Whitney U test; #p<0.01 and *p<0.05 (n=5-7).



Figure VI.6: Tempol prevents high glucose and methylglyoxal-induced deficits in mesenteric artery and corpora cavernosa. Acetylcholine (Ach)-induced relaxations of (a) mesenteric artery and (b) corpora cavernosa after 2 h incubation with high glucose (HG, 30 mM) and methylglyoxal (MGO, 120 μ M) in absence and presence of tempol (Temp, 100 μ M) after precontraction with Phe (10 μ M for mesenteric arteries; 5 μ M for corpora cavernosa). (c) Electrical field stimulated (EFS) relaxations of 5 μ M Phe-precontracted mouse corpora cavernosa after 2 h incubation with high glucose (HG, 30 mM) and methylglyoxal (MGO, 120 μ M) in absence and presence of tempol (Temp, 100 μ M). Data are expressed as % decrease of Phe-induced tone; Mann-Whitney U test; #p<0.01 and *p<0.05 (n=5-6).

	Mesent	Mesenteric arteries		Corpora cavernosa	
	pEC50	E _{max} (%)	pEC50	E _{max} (%)	
HG + MGO	7.1 ± 0.4	19.8 ± 2.6	7.8 ± 0.1	$35.8 \pm 6.4 \\ 83.5 \pm 6.1^{*}$	
HG + MGO + AA	7.0 ± 0.2	$46.8 \pm 4.8^{\#}$	7.8 ± 0.2		
HG + MGO	7.0 ± 0.3	23.9 ± 5.04	7.7 ± 0.1	38.7 ± 4.2	
HG + MGO + Temp	7.1 ± 0.1	$58.3 \pm 4.4^{\#}$	7.9 ± 0.2	$74.3 \pm 3.5^{\#}$	
HG + MGO	6.3 ± 0.9	23.2 ± 5.0	7.7 ± 0.3	47.6 ± 4.3	
HG + MGO + Res	6.7 ± 0.5	34.8 ± 3.7	7.6 ± 0.2	$83.8 \pm 4.6^{\#}$	
HG + MGO	7.4 ± 1.0	24.4 ± 4.4	7.9 ± 0.3	44.9 ± 3.5	
HG + MGO + Quer	6.7 ± 0.2	31.3 ± 6.3	7.9 ± 0.02	78.4 ± 13.3 [#]	

Table VI.1. Effect of antioxidants and polyphenol treatment on acetylcholine-relaxations of mesenteric arteries and corpora cavernosa.

pEC50, $-\log(EC_{50})$; E_{max} : maximal relaxation response; HG: high glucose (30 mM), MGO: methylglyoxal (120 μ M); AA: ascorbic acid (100 μ M); Temp: tempol (100 μ M); Res: resveratrol (10 μ M for mesenteric arteries; 30 μ M for corpora cavernosa); Quer: quercetin (3 μ M for mesenteric arteries; 30 μ M for corpora cavernosa). Data are means ± SEM. *p<0.05; #p<0.01 (compared to HG + MGO group).

VI.4.4 Effect of resveratrol and guercetin on glucose and MGO-impaired relaxations

In mesenteric arteries, Ach-induced relaxations were explored after 2 h pretreatment with 30 mM glucose and 120 μ M MGO in combination with resveratrol (Res, 10 μ M, 2 h) or quercetin (Quer, 3 μ M, 2 h). Neither resveratrol (Fig. VI.7a) nor quercetin (Fig. VI.8a) prevented glucose and MGO impairment of Ach-relaxations as neither E_{max} nor pEC50 values were affected by resveratrol or quercetin treatment (Table VI.1). On the contrary, exposing the corpora cavernosa for 2 h to 30 mM glucose and 120 μ M MGO in combination with resveratrol (30 μ M, 2 h) or quercetin (30 μ M, 2 h) significantly corrected blunted Ach- and EFS- relaxations (Fig. VI.7b and VI.7c, VI.8b and VI.8c). E_{max} values were significantly corrected by resveratrol as well as by quercetin treatment (Table VI.1). No effect of both polyphenols was found on the potency of Ach as pEC50 values were unchanged by resveratrol or quercetin (Table VI.1).



Figure VI.7: Effect of resveratrol on high glucose and methylglyoxal-induced deficits in mesenteric artery and corpora cavernosa. Acetylcholine (Ach)-induced relaxations of (a) mesenteric artery and (b) corpora cavernosa after 2 h incubation with high glucose (HG, 30 mM) and methylglyoxal (MGO, 120 μ M) in absence and presence of resveratrol (Res, 10 μ M for (a); 30 μ M for (b)) after precontraction with Phe (10 μ M for mesenteric arteries; 5 μ M for corpora cavernosa). (c) Electrical field stimulated (EFS) relaxations of 5 μ M Phe-precontracted mouse corpora cavernosa after 2 h incubation with high glucose (HG, 30 mM) and methylglyoxal (MGO, 120 μ M) in absence and presence of resveratrol (Res, 30 μ M). Data are expressed as % decrease of Phe-induced tone; Mann-Whitney U test; #p<0.01 and *p<0.05 (n=5-7).



Figure VI.8: Effect of quercetin on high glucose and methylglyoxal-induced deficits in mesenteric artery and corpora cavernosa. Acetylcholine (Ach)-induced relaxations of (a) mesenteric artery and (b) corpora cavernosa after 2 h incubation with high glucose (HG, 30 mM) and methylglyoxal (MGO, 120 μ M) in absence and presence of quercetin (Quer, 3 μ M for (a); 30 μ M for (b)) after precontraction with Phe (10 μ M for mesenteric arteries; 5 μ M for corpora cavernosa). (c) Electrical field stimulated (EFS) relaxations of 5 μ M Phe-precontracted mouse corpora cavernosa after 2 h incubation with high glucose (HG, 30 mM) and methylglyoxal (MGO, 120 μ M) in absence and presence of quercetin (Quer, 30 μ M). Data are expressed as % decrease of Phe-induced tone; Mann-Whitney U test; #p<0.01 and *p<0.05 (n=4-7).

VI.5 Discussion

The present study was the first to demonstrate that co-incubation of mouse mesenteric arteries and corpora cavernosa with 30 mM glucose and 120 μ M MGO causes deficits in endothelium- and neurogenic-mediated relaxations. In addition, resveratrol and quercetin were effective in preventing diabetic-induced deficits in corpora cavernosa.

VI.5.1 Diabetic (neuro)vascular damage induced by in vitro high glucose and MGO treatment

The concentrations of glucose and MGO used in our study were chosen based on literature. 30 mM glucose is a level that is found or even exceeded in the blood of db/db mouse model of type 2 diabetes that is associated with severe endothelial dysfunction in the small mesenteric arteries [23]. In addition, in patients with poorly controlled diabetes, the MGO level in blood can raise up to 400 μ M [24]. Moreover, exogenous MGO is not fully absorbed intracellularly [25]. Therefore the use of 30 mM glucose and 120 μ M MGO in this study seems to be justified as these concentrations seem pathophysiologically relevant.

The effect of either glucose or MGO on endothelium-dependent relaxations has been investigated in several studies [1, 3, 5, 14, 16], however no study has evaluated the joint effect of MGO and elevated glucose in mouse mesenteric arteries or corpora cavernosa. Since both glucose and MGO levels are increased in diabetes mellitus [4, 24], diabetic conditions are more precisely mimicked in vitro by co-incubating the tissues with both compounds. Our results are in line with previous studies showing a negative effect of high glucose or MGO on endothelium-dependent relaxations in mesenteric arteries of rats or mice [1, 14-16]. In addition, the impaired endothelium- and neurogenic-mediated relaxations observed in corpora cavernosa are in agreement with studies using other animal models for diabetes [7-11] or in diabetic men [6]. It thus seems that the in vitro glucose/MGO treatment used in this study indeed yields neurovascular damage as observed in vivo in diabetes mellitus. Confirming most of these studies, relaxant responses to SNP, an endothelium-independent nitric oxide (NO) donor, were unaltered by exposing the tissues to high glucose and MGO. Thus neither a diminished response at the level of the smooth muscle cells nor defects in the cyclic guanosine monophosphate pathway can explain the observed diabetic-induced deficits of Ach- and EFS-relaxations. Instead, these deficits will

thus rather result from decreased synthesis and/or increased quenching of endothelium- or neuronal-derived relaxing factors by high glucose and MGO.

VI.5.2 Aorta versus mesenteric arteries

No effect of diabetic conditions was found on Ach-relaxations in aorta, which is in contrast to Dhar et al. [3], who found a decreased Ach response in rat aorta after incubation with 25 mM glucose. As in our study a trend in reduced Ach-relaxations of aorta could be observed, it is possible that the incubation time of glucose/MGO was too short to cause endothelial damage. With respect to the arteries used in this study, our results indicate that diabetic conditions affect endothelium-mediated relaxations in mesenteric arteries more rapidly than in aorta. This implies that the type of artery and/or the lumen diameter determines the effect of glucose/MGO on Ach-induced relaxations. Ach stimulates the release of endothelium derived relaxing factors: NO, prostacyclin and EDHF. Different vascular beds exhibit a marked heterogeneity in the relative contribution of these factors to endotheliumdependent relaxations [26]. Indeed, inhibition of NO and prostacyclin production (using L-NAME and indo respectively) did not affect Ach-relaxations in mesenteric arteries whereas the presence of these inhibitors completely abolished Ach-responses in aorta. This demonstrates that Ach-relaxations in mesenteric arteries are EDHF-mediated [12, 26] while in aorta these are NO-mediated. Thus, in mouse arteries high glucose and MGO seem to interfere more rapidly with EDHF- than with NO-dependent relaxations.

VI.5.3 Corpora cavernosa

Like in aorta, Ach- and EFS-relaxations of corpora cavernosa are NO-mediated (own observations and [10, 27]). However, unlike in aorta, these NO-mediated relaxations are inhibited by co-incubating the corpora cavernosa with 30 mM glucose and 120 μ M MGO. So, besides the lumen diameter of the vessels, the type of tissue also contributes to the effect of diabetic conditions on relaxant responses to Ach or EFS. Since unaltered aortic Ach-relaxations were observed in presence of high glucose and MGO, it can be assumed that (i) these diabetic conditions induce less damage in aorta or (ii) the aorta is more resistant to changes evoked by glucose/MGO. As previously mentioned, our results cannot rule out that longer exposure to high glucose/MGO could yield similar endothelial damage in aorta as seen in corpora cavernosa or mesenteric arteries. However, based on our results it seems

that both corpora cavernosa and mesenteric arteries are more prone to diabetic-induced endothelial and/or neurogenic changes compared to large arteries such as aorta.

VI.5.4 Oxidative stress as underlying cause of in vitro-diabetic damage

A hyperglycemia or MGO-dependent increase in reactive oxygen species (ROS) [1, 3, 5, 15, 16] seems to be an important contributor to the pathogenesis of the diabetic-(neuro)vascular complications. After all, antioxidant administration can limit oxidative damage and restore diabetes-induced defects in endothelial- and/or neurogenic responses of arteries [28-30] or corpora cavernosa [8-11]. Here we demonstrate that the antioxidant AA or the superoxide anion scavenger Temp markedly inhibit glucose/MGO-induced damage to endothelium- and neurogenic-mediated responses of mesenteric arteries and corpora cavernosa. Despite the large amount of evidence for high glucose or MGO-induced oxidative stress, the mechanisms whereby ROS formation is induced, are not fully understood. Recently it was reported that MGO-stimulated ROS production activates the endothelial plasma membrane transport protein, Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger (NHE1) [31]. Moreover high glucoseinduced vascular deficits are related to hyperactivity of NHE1 [32]. Activation of NHE1 may thus be a critical step for ROS-induced damage. Regardless of the mechanism by which glucose/MGO generate oxidative stress, our results indicate that ROS, including superoxide anion, interfere with the NO-pathway, in corpora cavernosa, or the EDHF-pathway, in mesenteric arteries, leading to impaired Ach- and EFS-relaxations. Although not addressed in this study, ROS interference with the NO-pathway involves either decreased NO synthesis or increased NO degradation. Increased oxidative stress leads to the oxidation of tetrahydrobiopterin (BH₄), a cofactor that tightly regulates NO production, resulting in the uncoupling of endothelial NO synthase (eNOS) [33, 34]. In the presence of reduced concentrations of BH₄, eNOS transfers electrons to molecular oxygen to produce superoxide rather than NO [33, 34]. In addition superoxide itself can react and consume NO, forming peroxynitrite and thus enhancing oxidative stress. Hence, NO-mediated relaxations are further impaired. On the contrary, less is known about the interference of oxidative stress with the EDHF-pathway. Impaired EDHF-responses due to increased oxidative stress does not result from altered K⁺ channel function [16]. ROS-induced altered interaction between cAMP and gap junctions communication might represent another explanation [16].

VI.5.5 Resveratrol and quercetin in diabetic conditions

Numerous health benefits have been ascribed to the red wine polyphenols resveratrol and quercetin [17]. Even in diabetic rats these polyphenols restore impaired endotheliumdependent relaxations of aorta [35-37] and improve erectile function [38-41]. In addition, studies have reported a direct anti-diabetic effect of resveratrol and quercetin as they were able to lower blood glucose levels in diabetic rats and mice [42, 43]. In this study resveratrol and guercetin administration prevented glucose/MGO-induced damage to endothelium- and neurogenic-induced relaxations in corpora cavernosa. This is in line with Murat et al. [44] who found that resveratrol protects and restores endothelium-dependent relaxation in hypercholesterolemic rabbit corpus cavernosum. On the contrary, in mesenteric arteries no protective effect of resveratrol or quercetin was found. Different explanations could clarify this tissue specific effect of both polyphenols. First, studies pointed out that resveratrol and quercetin stimulate endothelial NO production [17, 18, 20]. As endothelial- and neurogenic relaxant responses in corpora cavernosa are NO-mediated, enhanced endothelial or neuronal NO synthesis by the polyphenols could clarify the improved Ach-relaxations. In contrast this could not explain the inability of resveratrol and quercetin to protect mesenteric arteries from diabetic-damage to Ach-responses. We have shown that Achinduced relaxations in mesenteric arteries are EDHF mediated. Nonetheless, one could expect that if resveratrol and quercetin enhance endothelial NO production this could compensate for decreases in EDHF-responses, resulting in improved Ach-relaxations. However this was not the case. Moreover in a previous study [21] we found that resveratrol relaxes mouse corpora cavernosa independent of the endothelium or NO. In addition we also demonstrated that neither resveratrol nor quercetin stimulated Ach-relaxations of mouse corpora cavernosa as such [21]. Therefore improved NO production cannot explain why the protective effect of resveratrol and quercetin against glucose/MGO-induced damage is limited to the corpora cavernosa.

Recently it was suggested that K^+ channel activation could also be involved in resveratrol's positive effects on the cardiovascular system [45], including in resveratrol's relaxant effect on corpora cavernosa [46]. In our study there is no evidence to strengthen this idea, as we previously found that resveratrol relaxes mouse corpora cavernosa independent of K^+ channel activation [20]. Furthermore this could not explain the protective effect of quercetin
on EFS- and Ach-relaxations in corpora cavernosa, since quercetin was not able to relax mouse corpora cavernosa.

A second explanation for the positive effects of resveratrol and quercetin in corpora cavernosa and not in mesenteric arteries, could be found in the different amount of oxidative stress that is induced by the glucose/MGO treatment. Since in mesenteric arteries Ach-relaxations were almost completely abolished by high glucose and MGO, it is possible that the degree of generated oxidative stress is too high for resveratrol or quercetin to cope with. It is for instance suggested that the protective effects of resveratrol against oxidative injury are attributed to up-regulations of the endogenous cellular antioxidant system rather than to its direct ROS scavenging activity, as it is known that the direct antioxidant effect of resveratrol is rather low [17]. However both polyphenols are as efficacious as known antioxidants to attenuate diabetic-induced oxidative endothelial damage. In addition, in diabetic-mimicking conditions resveratrol has a direct relaxant effect as in the present study resveratrol relaxed corpora cavernosa concentration-dependently in presence of glucose/MGO. Taken together, these results thus suggest a potential therapeutic role for both polyphenols, but especially for resveratrol, in the treatment of diabetes- and oxidative stress-associated ED.

VI.5.6 Limitations

As this study represents a strictly pharmacological *in vitro* approach, it is hard to extrapolate our results to *in vivo* circumstances. Although some studies already pointed out that polyphenols *in vivo* have positive effects on vascular [17] or erectile function [38, 40, 41], further research in this field is definitely required. Furthermore, in our study only the acute effect of glucose/MGO and resveratrol and quercetin administration could be evaluated. Further research will have to confirm whether a similar positive effect on erectile function can be obtained after chronic treatment.

VI.6 Conclusions

This study demonstrates that high glucose in combination with MGO impairs endotheliumand neurogenic-mediated relaxations in mouse corpora cavernosa and mesenteric arteries which is prevented by antioxidants. In arteries, these diabetic conditions primarily affect the EDHF-pathway, while in corpora cavernosa high glucose and MGO interfere with NO release. Furthermore it was shown that resveratrol and quercetin are effective in preventing high glucose and MGO deficits of endothelium- and neurogenic-mediated relaxations of mouse corpora cavernosa. Therefore our study further strengthens the strategy of using polyphenols, especially resveratrol, as possible alternative option in the treatment of diabetic ED.

VI.7. Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Lies Vancraeynest and Tom Vanthuyne for the excellent technical assistance.

VI.8 References

- 1. Brouwers O, Niessen PM, Haenen G, Miyata T, Brownlee M, Stehouwer CD et al. Hyperglycaemia-induced impairment of endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation in rat mesenteric arteries is mediated by intracellular methylglyoxal levels in a pathway dependent on oxidative stress. Diabetologia. 2010;53:989-1000.
- 2. Coutinho M, Gerstein HC, Wang Y, Yusuf S. The relationship between glucose and incident cardiovascular events. A metaregression analysis of published data from 20 studies of 95,783 individuals followed for 12.4 years. Diabetes Care. 1999;22:233-240.
- 3. Dhar A, Dhar I, Desai KM, Wu L. Methylglyoxal scavengers attenuate endothelial dysfunction induced by methylglyoxal and high concentrations of glucose. Br J Pharmacol. 2010;161:1843-1856.
- 4. McLellan AC, Thornalley PJ, Benn J, Sonksen PH. Glyoxalase system in clinical diabetes mellitus and correlation with diabetic complications. Clin Sci (Lond). 1994;87:21-29.
- 5. Sena CM, Matafome P, Crisostomo J, Rodrigues L, Fernandes R, Pereira P et al. Methylglyoxal promotes oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction. Pharmacol Res. 2012;65:497-506.
- Saenz de Tejada I, Goldstein I, Azadzoi K, Krane RJ, Cohen RA. Impaired neurogenic and endotheliummediated relaxation of penile smooth muscle from diabetic men with impotence. N Engl J Med. 1989;320:1025-1030.
- 7. Chitaley K, Luttrell I. Strain differences in susceptibility to in vivo erectile dysfunction following 6 weeks of induced hyperglycemia in the mouse. J Sex Med. 2008;5:1149-1155.
- 8. Dalaklioglu S, Kuscu N, Celik-Ozenci C, Bayram Z, Nacitarhan C, Ozdem SS. Chronic treatment with taurine ameliorates diabetes-induced dysfunction of nitric oxide-mediated neurogenic and endothelium-dependent corpus cavernosum relaxation in rats. Fundam Clin Pharmacol. 2014;28:394-404.
- 9. Gocmen C, Secilmis A, Kumcu EK, Ertug PU, Onder S, Dikmen A et al. Effects of vitamin E and sodium selenate on neurogenic and endothelial relaxation of corpus cavernosum in the diabetic mouse. Eur J Pharmacol. 2000;398:93-98.
- Keegan A, Cotter MA, Cameron NE. Effects of diabetes and treatment with the antioxidant alpha-lipoic acid on endothelial and neurogenic responses of corpus cavernosum in rats. Diabetologia. 1999;42:343-350.
- 11. Keegan A, Cotter MA, Cameron NE. Corpus cavernosum dysfunction in diabetic rats: effects of combined alpha-lipoic acid and gamma-linolenic acid treatment. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2001;17:380-386.
- 12. Fukao M, Hattori Y, Kanno M, Sakuma I, Kitabatake A. Alterations in endothelium-dependent hyperpolarization and relaxation in mesenteric arteries from streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Br J Pharmacol. 1997;121:1383-1391.
- Leo CH, Hart JL, Woodman OL. Impairment of both nitric oxide-mediated and EDHF-type relaxation in small mesenteric arteries from rats with streptozotocin-induced diabetes. Br J Pharmacol. 2011;162:365-377.
- 14. Ellis A, Cheng ZJ, Li Y, Jiang YF, Yang J, Pannirselvam M et al. Effects of a Western diet versus high glucose on endothelium-dependent relaxation in murine micro- and macro-vasculature. Eur J Pharmacol. 2008;601:111-117.
- 15. Mukohda M, Morita T, Okada M, Hara Y, Yamawaki H. Long-term methylglyoxal treatment causes endothelial dysfunction of rat isolated mesenteric artery. J Vet Med Sci. 2013;75:151-157.
- 16. Ozkan MH, Uma S. Inhibition of acetylcholine-induced EDHF response by elevated glucose in rat mesenteric artery. Life Sci. 2005;78:14-21.
- 17. Andriantsitohaina R, Auger C, Chataigneau T, Etienne-Selloum N, Li H, Martinez MC et al. Molecular mechanisms of the cardiovascular protective effects of polyphenols. Br J Nutr. 2012;108:1532-1549.
- 18. Chen CK, Pace-Asciak CR. Vasorelaxing activity of resveratrol and quercetin in isolated rat aorta. Gen Pharmacol. 1996;27:363-366.
- 19. Guo R, Li W, Liu B, Li S, Zhang B, Xu Y. Resveratrol protects vascular smooth muscle cells against high glucose-induced oxidative stress and cell proliferation in vitro. Med Sci Monit Basic Res. 2014;20:82-92.

- 20. Sanchez M, Galisteo M, Vera R, Villar IC, Zarzuelo A, Tamargo J et al. Quercetin downregulates NADPH oxidase, increases eNOS activity and prevents endothelial dysfunction in spontaneously hypertensive rats. J Hypertens. 2006;24:75-84.
- 21. Boydens C, Pauwels B, Decaluwe K, Brouckaert P, Van de Voorde J. Relaxant and antioxidant capacity of the red wine polyphenols, resveratrol and quercetin, on isolated mice corpora cavernosa. J Sex Med. 2015;12:303-312.
- 22. Mulvany MJ, Halpern W. Contractile properties of small arterial resistance vessels in spontaneously hypertensive and normotensive rats. Circ Res. 1977;41:19-26.
- 23. Aasum E, Hafstad AD, Severson DL, Larsen TS. Age-dependent changes in metabolism, contractile function, and ischemic sensitivity in hearts from db/db mice. Diabetes. 2003;52:434-441.
- 24. Lapolla A, Flamini R, Dalla Vedova A, Senesi A, Reitano R, Fedele D et al. Glyoxal and methylglyoxal levels in diabetic patients: quantitative determination by a new GC/MS method. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2003;41:1166-1173.
- 25. Riboulet-Chavey A, Pierron A, Durand I, Murdaca J, Giudicelli J, Van Obberghen E. Methylglyoxal impairs the insulin signaling pathways independently of the formation of intracellular reactive oxygen species. Diabetes. 2006;55:1289-1299.
- 26. De Vriese AS, Verbeuren TJ, Van de Voorde J, Lameire NH, Vanhoutte PM. Endothelial dysfunction in diabetes. Br J Pharmacol. 2000;130:963-974.
- 27. Cartledge JJ, Eardley I, Morrison JF. Impairment of corpus cavernosal smooth muscle relaxation by glycosylated human haemoglobin. BJU Int. 2000;85:735-741.
- 28. Arora S, Lidor A, Abularrage CJ, Weiswasser JM, Nylen E, Kellicut D et al. Thiamine (vitamin B1) improves endothelium-dependent vasodilatation in the presence of hyperglycemia. Ann Vasc Surg. 2006;20:653-658.
- 29. Okudan N, Nurullahoglu Atalik KE, Gokbel H, Canbilen A, Kara I. Alpha lipoic acid treatment improved endothelium-dependent relaxation in diabetic rat aorta. Yakugaku Zasshi. 2011;131:739-744.
- 30. Qian LB, Wang HP, Chen Y, Chen FX, Ma YY, Bruce IC et al. Luteolin reduces high glucose-mediated impairment of endothelium-dependent relaxation in rat aorta by reducing oxidative stress. Pharmacol Res. 2010;61:281-287.
- 31. Qadri SM, Su Y, Cayabyab FS, Liu L. Endothelial Na+/H+ exchanger NHE1 participates in redox-sensitive leukocyte recruitment triggered by methylglyoxal. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2014;13:134.
- 32. Shuang-Xi W, Li-Ying L, Hu M, Yu-Hui L. Na+/H+ exchanger inhibitor prevented endothelial dysfunction induced by high glucose. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 2005;45:586-590.
- 33. Alp NJ, Channon KM. Regulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase by tetrahydrobiopterin in vascular disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2004;24:413-420.
- 34. Milstien S, Katusic Z. Oxidation of tetrahydrobiopterin by peroxynitrite: implications for vascular endothelial function. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1999;263:681-684.
- 35. Machha A, Achike FI, Mustafa AM, Mustafa MR. Quercetin, a flavonoid antioxidant, modulates endothelium-derived nitric oxide bioavailability in diabetic rat aortas. Nitric Oxide. 2007;16:442-447.
- 36. Roghani M, Baluchnejadmojarad T. Mechanisms underlying vascular effect of chronic resveratrol in streptozotocin-diabetic rats. Phytother Res. 2010;24 Suppl 2:S148-S154.
- 37. Silan C. The effects of chronic resveratrol treatment on vascular responsiveness of streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Biol Pharm Bull. 2008;31:897-902.
- 38. Bai Y, An R. Resveratrol and sildenafil synergistically improve diabetes-associated erectile dysfunction in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Life Sci. 2015;135:43-48.
- 39. Fukuhara S, Tsujimura A, Okuda H, Yamamoto K, Takao T, Miyagawa Y et al. Vardenafil and resveratrol synergistically enhance the nitric oxide/cyclic guanosine monophosphate pathway in corpus cavernosal smooth muscle cells and its therapeutic potential for erectile dysfunction in the streptozotocin-induced diabetic rat: preliminary findings. J Sex Med. 2011;8:1061-1071.
- 40. Yu W, Wan Z, Qiu XF, Chen Y, Dai YT. Resveratrol, an activator of SIRT1, restores erectile function in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Asian J Androl. 2013;15:646-651.

- 41. Zhang W, Wang Y, Yang Z, Qiu J, Ma J, Zhao Z et al. Antioxidant treatment with quercetin ameliorates erectile dysfunction in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. J Biosci Bioeng. 2011;112:215-218.
- 42. Su HC, Hung LM, Chen JK. Resveratrol, a red wine antioxidant, possesses an insulin-like effect in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2006;290:E1339-E1346.
- 43. Vessal M, Hemmati M, Vasei M. Antidiabetic effects of quercetin in streptozocin-induced diabetic rats. Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol Pharmacol. 2003;135c:357-364.
- 44. Murat N, Korhan P, Kizer O, Evcim S, Kefi A, Demir O et al. Resveratrol Protects and Restores Endothelium-Dependent Relaxation in Hypercholesterolemic Rabbit Corpus Cavernosum. J Sex Med. 2016;13:12-21.
- 45. Du RH, Dai T, Cao WJ, Lu M, Ding JH, Hu G. Kir6.2-containing ATP-sensitive K(+) channel is required for cardioprotection of resveratrol in mice. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2014;13:35.
- 46. Dalaklioglu S, Ozbey G. Role of different types of potassium channels in the relaxation of corpus cavernosum induced by resveratrol. Pharmacogn Mag. 2014;10:47-52.

Chapter VII

Inhibition of cyclic GMP export by multidrug resistance protein 4: a new strategy to treat erectile dysfunction?

Charlotte Boydens, Bart Pauwels, Laura Vanden Daele and Johan Van de

Voorde

Department of Pharmacology, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium

Manuscript accepted for publication in

J Sex Med

Chapter VII Inhibition of cyclic GMP export by multidrug resistance protein 4: a new strategy to treat erectile dysfunction?

VII.1 Abstract

BACKGROUND. Intracellular cGMP concentrations are regulated by degradation enzymes (phosphodiesterases, PDEs) as well as by active transport across the plasma membrane by multidrug resistance protein (MRP) 4 and 5.

AIM. This study evaluated the functional effect of MRP 4 inhibition and the role of MRP 4mediated cGMP export in mouse corpora cavernosa.

METHODS. Isometric tension of mouse corpora cavernosa was measured after cumulative addition of MK-571, an inhibitor of MRP 4, or sildenafil, a PDE-5 inhibitor (PDE5i). In addition the effect of MRP 4 inhibition on cGMP-(in)dependent relaxations was studied. In vivo intracavernosal pressure (ICP) and mean arterial pressure (MAP) measurements were performed after intracavernosal injection (i.c.) of MK-571. The effect of MRP 4 inhibition on cGMP content was determined using an enzyme immunoassay kit.

OUTCOMES. Measurement of the effect of MK-571 on cGMP content and relaxant responses of mouse corpora cavernosa to cGMP-(in)dependent vasodilating substances and determination of ICP/MAP after i.c. injection of MK-571.

RESULTS. MK-571 and sildenafil both relaxed the corpora cavernosa concentration dependently with sildenafil being the most potent relaxing compound. Furthermore, MK-571 enhanced relaxing responses to cGMP-dependent substances, such as sodium nitroprusside, sildenafil, acetylcholine and electrical field stimulation, the latter ones even under in vitro diabetic conditions. In contrast cGMP-independent relaxations were not altered by MRP 4 inhibition. Intracavernosal administration of MK-571 significantly increased ICP, with minimal effect on MAP. cGMP analysis revealed that MRP 4 inhibition was accompanied with increased cGMP levels.

CLINICAL TRANSLATION. MRP 4, at least when targeted locally in the penis or when combined with PDE5i, might be a valuable alternative strategy for the treatment of (diabetic) ED.

STRENGTHS & LIMITATIONS. This study is the first to demonstrate an in vitro direct relaxant and an in vivo pro-erectile effect of the MRP 4 inhibitor, MK-571, on mouse corpora cavernosa. However the functional effect of MRP 5-mediated export in mouse corpora cavernosa was not explored, which is suggested to play the predominant role in cGMP export.

CONCLUSION. Inhibition of MRP 4 increases basal and stimulated levels of cGMP leading to corpora cavernosa relaxation and penile erection. Therefore it is suggested that, in addition to degradation of cGMP, export of cGMP by MRP 4 substantially contributes to regulating the cGMP levels in mouse corpora cavernosa.

Keywords cyclic GMP, multidrug resistance protein, corpora cavernosa, relaxation, erectile dysfunction

VII.2 Introduction

The intracellular signaling molecule cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) plays an important role in several cardiovascular processes, including in vascular relaxation. Intracellular levels of cGMP are the result of the balance between the rate of cGMP synthesis and the rate of cGMP elimination. In penile tissue, elevation of cGMP levels and subsequent relaxation of vascular and corporal smooth muscle cells is a key event for normal penile erection [1]. Therefore, most currently available treatment strategies for erectile dysfunction (ED) are targeted to increase intracellular levels of cGMP. Many studies focused on how degradation of cGMP could be prevented by phosphodiesterase inhibitors (PDEi). Due to the success of this research PDE5i are nowadays first choice in the treatment of ED. However, in addition to metabolic degradation of cGMP by PDE-5, cGMP can also be actively transported across the plasma membrane by members of the multidrug resistance protein (MRP) family [2-7]. MRPs are transmembrane proteins that use the energy produced by adenosine triphosphate (ATP) hydrolysis to transport a variety of substrates out of the cell. Yet, in contrast to the huge amount of research conducted on cGMP degradation no studies previously evaluated cGMP export in penile tissues. Two MRP family members, MRP 4 and MRP 5, have been shown to transport cGMP [2-8]. MRP 4 and/or MRP 5 expression was found in several tissues including vascular smooth muscle cells, endothelial cells [9-11] and interestingly also in corporal smooth muscle cells [12, 13]. In mouse aortic rings MRP 4mediated cGMP export has been demonstrated as an important regulator of cGMPmediated vascular relaxant responses [8]. Hence, MRP 4-mediated cGMP export could play a role in corporal relaxant responses as well and prevention of cGMP-transport out of the cavernosal smooth muscle cells might represent a new and alternative approach to elevate intracellular cGMP levels and thus to treat erectile dysfunction.

VII.3 Aim

The aim of this study was to examine the functional effect of MRP 4 inhibition as well as the role of MRP 4-mediated cGMP export in mouse corpora cavernosa.

VII.4 Methods

VII.4.1 Animals

Adult (8-12 weeks) male Swiss mice were obtained from Janvier (Saint-Berthevin, France). Food and water was provided ad libitum and all animals were treated in accordance with the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals published by the US National Institutes of Health. This study was approved by the local Ethical Committee for animal experiments, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Ghent University, Belgium.

VII.4.2 In vitro tension measurements

Tissue preparation

After cervical dislocation, corpora cavernosa were carefully dissected free from surrounding structures and mounted in organ bath myograph systems for isometric tension measurements. Corpora cavernosa were mounted horizontally in the myograph with one end fixed to a transducer and the other to a micrometer. The organ baths were filled with 10 mL Krebs-Ringer bicarbonate (KRB) solution at 37 °C (pH 7.4) equilibrated with 95 % O_2 –5 % CO_2 . The tissues were allowed to equilibrate for 30 minutes in KRB solution that was frequently replaced. The corpora cavernosa were gradually stretched during 60 minutes until a stable preload of 0.45 g was obtained. Subsequently, the corpora cavernosa were contracted two times with 5 μ M phenylephrine (Phe) and when a stable precontraction was reached the tissues were washed and allowed to relax to the resting tension. Next, the functionality of the endothelium within the corporal strips was examined by precontracting the corpora cavernosa with 5 μ M Phe and adding 1 μ M acetylcholine (Ach). Preparations that were not able to relax minimally 50 % of the maximum tension were excluded from the study. Thereafter, the corpora cavernosa were washed once again. When reaching a stable resting tension the experimental protocol was started.

Experimental protocol

Cumulative concentration-response curves to the MRP 4 inhibitor, MK-571, (1 nM – 100 μ M) or to the PDE5i, sildenafil (1 nM – 100 μ M), were constructed in cavernosal strips precontracted with Phe (5 μ M). Similarly, the effect of MK-571 (1 nM – 100 μ M) was studied in presence of 1H-[1,2,4]oxadiazolo[4,3-a]quinoxalin-1-one (ODQ).

In other experiments various cGMP–(in)dependent vasodilating substances were added at a stable tension to analyze the relaxing responses of the corpora cavernosa. In some experiments electrical field stimulation (EFS; parameters: train duration 40 s; 1, 2, 4 and 8 Hz; pulse duration 5 ms and 80 V), was applied to study neurogenic-mediated relaxations. After constructing the first response curve, the corpora cavernosa were washed out and allowed to recover for 20-30 minutes. Next MK-571 (10 μ M, 10 min) was added and responses to cGMP-(in)dependent vasodilating substances or EFS were studied again. In order to obtain comparable precontraction levels between control conditions and MK-571, the precontractile tone of the control corporal strips was adjusted by adding 3 μ M Phe instead of 5 μ M Phe.

VII.3 In vivo study

Mice were anesthetized with ketamine (100 mg/kg) and xylazine (10 mg/kg) and placed on a heated blanket to maintain their body temperature at 37°C. A PE-10 tube filled with heparinized saline (25 U/mL) was inserted into the carotid artery and connected to a pressure transducer to monitor the mean arterial pressure (MAP). A 30-gauge needle attached to another PE-10 tube was introduced into the right corpus cavernosum and also connected to a pressure transducer to measure the intracavernosal pressure (ICP). The ICP response to MK-571 (0.1 – 1 mg/kg) was investigated through intracavernosal (i.c.) administration via a separate cannula (30-gauge needle attached to PE-10 tube) inserted into the left corpus cavernosum (standardized injection volume of 5 μ L). Between each injected dose the cannula was flushed several times with heparinized saline to remover residual agent.

VII.4 cGMP analysis

Corpora cavernosa from Swiss mice were isolated and dissected as described for the in vitro tension measurements. Subsequently, corpora cavernosa were weighed to determine the tissue wet weight. Next the two corpora cavernosa of each mouse were placed for 10 minutes in 10 mL KRB solution at 37°C, bubbled with 95 % O_2 –5 % CO₂. Thereafter, the control corpora cavernosa were treated with 5 μ M Phe for 20 minutes. Other corpora cavernosa were treated with 5 μ M Phe for 20 minutes. Other corpora cavernosa were treated with 5 μ M Phe for 10 minutes and then MK-571 (10 μ M or 100 μ M) was added. Exactly 20 minutes after adding Phe (controls) or 10 minutes after adding MK-

571, the corpora cavernosa were snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until further processing. cGMP was extracted and quantified using an enzyme immunoassay kit (Cayman Chemical cyclic GMP EIA kit, Michigan, USA). The frozen corpora cavernosa were pulverized by a Mikro-Dismembrator U (B. Braun Biotech International, Germany), homogenized in 6 % trichloroacetic acid (TCA) and centrifuged at 2000 g for 15 min at 4°C to collect the supernatant. The supernatant was washed three times with water-saturated ether to extract the TCA after which it was dried under nitrogen at 60°C. Dried extracts were dissolved in a 10 times volume of the assay buffer. Then, samples, controls and standards were acetylated and were added to the enzyme immunoassay plate to incubate for 18h at 4°C. Optical density was measured with a 96-well plate reader (Biotrak II, Amersham Biosciences) at 405 nm. The concentration of cGMP was expressed as pmol/g tissue wet weight.

Drugs and chemicals

The experiments were performed in a KRB solution of the following composition (mM): NaCl 135, KCl 5, NaHCO₃ 20, glucose 10 (control) or 30 (high glucose), CaCl₂ 2.5, MgSO₄ 1.3, KH₂PO₄ 1.2 and EDTA 0.026 in H₂O. L-phenylephrine hydrochloride (Phe), acetylcholine chloride (Ach), sodium nitroprusside (SNP), sildenafil citrate and methylglyoxal solution (MGO) were obtained from Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA); MK-571, 1H-[1,2,4]oxadiazolo[4,3-a]quinoxalin-1-one (ODQ), forskolin and pinacidil monohydrate from Enzo Life Sciences (Lausen, Switzerland) and trichloroacetic acid (TCA) from Merck (Darmstadt, Germany). Stock solutions were made in water except for forskolin and pinacidil (DMSO) and ODQ (ethanol). The final concentrations of vehicle solution in the organ bath never exceeded 0.1 %. All concentrations are expressed as final molar concentration in the organ bath.

Statistical analysis

The data are presented as mean values \pm S.E.M. Relaxations are expressed as % decrease in precontractile tone. N is the number of individual strips used, or in case of the cGMP analysis n represents the number of animals used. Sensitivity (pEC50) and maximum response (E_{max}) were calculated from the concentration-response curves to MK-571 or sildenafil. pEC50 was defined as the negative logarithm to base 10 of the EC₅₀ values and E_{max} was defined as the maximal relaxation. The data in our study was analyzed using SPSS, version 22; IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, USA. Statistical significance was evaluated using the Mann-

Whitney U test or Wilcoxon test when appropriate. Two groups of data were considered significantly different when p<0.05.

VII.5 Results

VII.5.1 In vitro experiments

Relaxant effect of MK-571 on isolated mouse corpora cavernosa

MK-571 and sildenafil evoked concentration-dependent relaxations in corpora cavernosa from Swiss mice (Fig. VII.1A and VII.1B). However, sildenafil was significantly more efficacious compared to MK-571 (E_{max} in presence of sildenafil: 85.95 ± 4.09 % vs in presence of MK-571: 67.02 ± 4.69 %, p<0.05). In addition the potency of sildenafil to relax the corpora cavernosa was significantly higher compared to MK-571 (pEC50 of sildenafil: 6.18 ± 0.30 vs MK-571: 5.07 ± 0.10, p<0.05).



Figure VII.1 Relaxant effect of (A) MK-571 and (B) sildenafil on precontracted (5 μ M Phe) corpora cavernosa from Swiss mice versus time controls. Data are expressed as % decrease of Phe-induced tone; Mann-Whitney

U test; #p<0.01 and *p<0.05 (n=6).

Involvement of the cGMP-pathway in the relaxant effect of MK-571

To explore the involvement of the sGC/cGMP pathway in the relaxant effect of MK-571 on mouse corpora cavernosa, MK-571-induced relaxations were studied in presence of the sGC inhibitor ODQ (10 μ M, 10 min). The presence of ODQ did not alter the relaxant effect of MK-571 in mouse corpora cavernosa (Fig. VII.2).



Figure VII.2 Relaxant effect of MK-571 on precontracted (5 μ M Phe) corpora cavernosa from Swiss mice in absence and presence of ODQ (10 μ M, 10 min). Data are expressed as % decrease of Phe-induced tone; Mann-Whitney U test; (n=6).

Effect of MK-571 on cGMP-dependent and cGMP-independent responses

The effect of MK-571 on cGMP-dependent, cAMP-dependent and K⁺ channel-mediated responses was studied using SNP, sildenafil, forskolin, an adenylate cyclase activator, and pinacidil, a K_{ATP} channel opener, respectively. SNP- and sildenafil-induced relaxations of the mouse corpora cavernosa were significantly enhanced by preincubating the tissues with MK-571 (10 μ M, 10 min) (Fig. VII.3A and VII.3B). In contrast, MK-571 (10 μ M, 10 min) did not affect the relaxant responses of the corpora cavernosa to forskolin or pinacidil (Fig. VII.3C and VII.3D).



Figure VII.3 Relaxant effect of (A) SNP, (B) sildenafil, (C) forskolin and (D) pinacidil on Swiss corpora cavernosa before and after addition of MK-571 (10 μ M, 10 min). In control conditions corpora cavernosa were precontracted with 3 μ M Phe, while after addition of MK-571 precontraction was ensured by adding 5 μ M Phe. Data are expressed as % decrease of Phe-induced tone; Wilcoxon test; #p<0.01 and *p<0.05 (n=6-8).

Effect of MK-571 on normal and diabetic damaged erectile function

Neurogenic- and endothelial-mediated responses of mouse corpora cavernosa were studied by constructing EFS- and Ach-curves respectively. EFS and Ach evoked frequency- and concentration-dependent relaxations, which were significantly stronger after MK-571 treatment (10 μ M, 10 min) (Fig. VII.4A and VII.4B). 2 h treatment of corpora cavernosa with high concentrations of glucose (HG, 30 mM) in combination with methylglyoxal (MGO, 120 μ M) mimics diabetic damage to neurogenic– and endothelium-mediated corporal responses [14]. MK-571 (10 μ M, 2h) significantly enhanced corporal relaxant responses to EFS and Ach even in diabetic conditions (Fig. VII.4C and VII.4D).



Figure VII.4 Relaxant effect of (A) electrical field stimulation (EFS) and (B) Ach on Swiss corpora cavernosa before and after addition of MK-571 (10 μ M, 10 min). Data are expressed as % decrease of Phe-induced tone; Wilcoxon test; *p<0.05 (n=6-7). Relaxant effect of (C) EFS and (D) Ach on Swiss corpora cavernosa after 2 hours co-incubation with high concentrations of glucose (HG, 30 mM) and methylglyoxal (MGO, 120 μ M) in absence and presence of MK-571 (10 μ M, 10 min). Data are expressed as % decrease of Phe-induced tone; Mann-Whitney U test; #p<0.01 and *p<0.05 (n=5-6). (A-D) In control conditions corpora cavernosa were precontracted with 3 μ M Phe, while after addition of MK-571 was ensured by adding 5 μ M Phe.

VII.5.2 In vivo experiments

Intracavernosal injection of increasing amounts of MK-571 significantly increased ICP and ICP/MAP while decreasing MAP only minimally ($3.74 \text{ mmHg} \pm 1.02 \text{ at } 1 \text{ mg/kg}$) (Fig. VII.5 and VII.6)



Figure VII.5 The intracavernosal pressure/mean arterial pressure (ICP/MAP) ratio (in %) after intracavernosal administration of MK-571 in Swiss mice; Wilcoxon test; *p<0.05 (n=6).



Figure VII.6 Original tracings showing the change in intracavernosal pressure (ICP) as well as mean arterial pressure (MAP) after intracavernosal (I.C.) administration of MK-571 (1 mg/kg) in Swiss mice.

VII.5.3 cGMP analysis

MK-571 (100 μ M) significantly increased basal cGMP levels of the mouse corpora cavernosa by approximately 4.5 fold (Fig. VII.7). MK-571 (10 μ M) also increased the level of cGMP in the corpora cavernosa by approximately 1.8 fold, however due to high variation of the results, this increase did not significantly differ from controls (Fig. VII.7).



Figure VII.7 cGMP levels in corpora cavernosa from Swiss mice in basal conditions (control) and when incubated with MK-571 (10 or 100 μ M, 10 min) in corpora cavernosa from Swiss mice. Data represent the means ± S.E.M; Mann-Whitney U test; #p<0.01 (n=5 (control), n=4 (MK-571 10 μ M) and n=6 (MK-571 100 μ M)).

VII.6 Discussion

This study evaluated for the first time the functional effect of inhibiting MRP 4-mediated transport in mouse corpora cavernosa using MK-571. MK-571 relaxes mouse corpora cavernosa concentration dependently and induces erection by increasing basal intracellular cGMP levels. In addition, MRP 4 inhibition enhances cGMP-dependent relaxations in normal as well as under in vitro diabetic conditions.

For some years MRP 4 and MRP 5 have been identified as export pumps for cGMP. Thus MRP 4 and MRP 5 contribute, along with PDEs, to the regulation of intracellular cGMP levels [2-8]. Interestingly, MRP 4 and MRP 5 are also expressed in the smooth muscle cells of human corpora cavernosa [12, 13]. Hence, both MRP 4 and MRP 5 might be relevant in mediating cGMP export in corpora cavernosa. As the affinity of MRP 5 for cGMP is higher (K_m = 2.1 μ M [5]) than that of MRP 4 (K_m = 9.7 μ M [4]), MRP 5 is suggested to play a predominant role in cGMP export [12]. In the present study MRP-mediated transport was inhibited using MK-571, a known leukotriene receptor antagonist and potent inhibitor of MRP 4- but not MRP 5-mediated cGMP transport [5, 15, 16]. Therefore the results obtained in this study can only be interpreted in relation to MRP 4-mediated cGMP export.

This study demonstrates for the first time that MK-571 relaxes mouse corpora cavernosa concentration dependently albeit somewhat less potent than sildenafil. The in vitro relaxant effect of MK-571 could furthermore be demonstrated in vivo since i.c. administration of MK-571 raised ICP with a minimal effect on MAP. These results suggest that MK-571, at least when applicated locally, might have potential in treating ED.

Although a direct relaxant effect of MK-571 was not earlier described, MK-571 administration has been shown to reverse pulmonary hypertension in mice [10]. The protective effect of MRP 4 inhibition was accompanied with increased cGMP levels [10]. Our measurement of intracellular cGMP content in the corpora cavernosa also revealed significantly higher cGMP levels in tissues treated with 100 μ M MK-571 compared to controls. Although 10 μ M MK-571 induced about 50 % relaxation of mouse corpora cavernosa, surprisingly the increase in cGMP levels was not significantly different from controls after incubating the corpora cavernosa with 10 μ M MK-571. Since mouse corpora cavernosa are very tough to homogenize, cGMP levels are not easily determined in these

Chapter VII Inhibition of cGMP export in mouse corpus cavernosum

tissues. Hence, the high variation in our results and the lack of significance in cGMP between controls and tissues incubated with 10 μ M MK-571. However overall (a trend of) increased cGMP levels could be observed in MK-571 treated tissues, indicating that MK-571 relaxes mouse corpora cavernosa by enhancing basal cGMP levels. The relaxant effect of MK-571 was furthermore evaluated in presence of the sGC inhibitor, ODQ. As sGC catalyzes the conversion of guanosine triphosphate (GTP) to cGMP, pharmacological inactivation of sGC will hamper subsequent cGMP production. The presence of ODQ did however not diminish the relaxing effect of MK-571 on the corpora cavernosa. Therefore it might be thought that MK-571 relaxes the corpora cavernosa independently of cGMP, which would be in contrast with the cGMP measurements. Yet, the results with ODQ should be interpreted more carefully. Although the use of ODQ inhibits cGMP production, some basal levels of cGMP are still maintained [17]. Export or degradation of basal cGMP levels is thus unaffected by pharmacological inhibition of sGC. Like MK-571, others reported that the relaxant effect of PDE5i under basal conditions in corpora cavernosa from different animals was not or only partially affected by ODQ treatment [18-20]. Moreover it has been shown that ODQ is an incomplete inhibitor of sGC as it does not fully inhibit aortic relaxation to a NO-donor when compared to aorta from sGC knockout mice [23]. Hence, as suggested by Lies et al. [21], the lack of effect of ODQ does not exclude the involvement of the cGMP-pathway. Therefore even when sGC activation is inhibited, MK-571 could still increase intracellular cGMP by preventing export of basal cGMP levels and thus relax mouse corpora cavernosa.

Our study is the first to demonstrate an in vitro direct relaxant and an in vivo pro-erectile effect of MK-571 on mouse corpora cavernosa, however a hint that MRP 4 inhibition might be of great importance in the (vascular) relaxation process was provided by the experiments recently reported by Krawutschke et al. [8]. They demonstrated that MRP 4 inhibition by MK-571 significantly enhanced relaxations of aortic rings induced by the NO-donor S-nitroso-L-glutathione (GS-NO). This effect was roughly comparable with that of PDE-5 inhibition. In line with Krawutschke et al. [8], MRP 4 inhibition significantly enhanced SNP responses to a comparable degree as PDE-5 inhibition (own unpublished results). Interestingly, MK-571 had a small, but significant, potentiating effect on sildenafil-induced relaxations. This observation suggest a great potential for MK-571 as combination therapy with sildenafil for the treatment of ED. Combination therapy of MK-571 with sildenafil might therefore improve

the efficacy of sildenafil in vivo. Moreover, since MRP 4 is widely distributed throughout the body [3], MRP 4 inhibition could evoke unwanted systemic side effects. Therefore, coupling MK-571 to a PDE5i might offer an elegant way to specifically target the corpora cavernosa in order to surpass these side effects.

To explore whether the enhancing relaxant effect of MK-571 was specific to cGMPdependent relaxations, various other relaxing substances were tested. It has been reported that MRP 4 is able to export cAMP besides cGMP [2-5, 7, 10, 11, 22]. However pretreating the corpora cavernosa with MK-571 did not improve forskolin-induced relaxations. As MRP 4 has a greater affinity for cGMP than for cAMP [5] this lack of effect is however not surprising. To further evaluate the cGMP-specificity of MK-571's enhancing relaxant effect, the effect of MRP 4 inhibition was tested on K_{ATP}-mediated relaxations, using pinacidil. As no effect of MK-571 was observed on pinacidil-induced relaxations, these results indicate that in mouse corpora cavernosa MRP 4 inhibition seems to be specific for cGMP-mediated effects.

Next, we wondered whether the positive effect of MRP 4 inhibition on cGMP-mediated responses, would still occur in pathologic conditions such as diabetes, a disease frequently associated with ED [23, 24]. Previously we demonstrated that diabetic damage to EFS- and Ach-mediated responses in mouse corpora cavernosa could be mimicked in vitro by incubating the corpora cavernosa for 2 h with high concentrations of glucose in combination with MGO [14]. Both in normal as well as under in vitro diabetic conditions MK-571 significantly enhanced EFS- and Ach-mediated relaxations. This observation makes MRP 4-mediated cGMP export a potential interesting target for the treatment of diabetic ED.

As no specific inhibitor for the other MRP subtypes is available, this study could only investigate the effect of MRP 4 inhibition, which might play a minor role in cGMP export in corpora cavernosa [12]. It should be noticed that in hepatocytes oxidative stress induces MRP 4 expression [25]. Moreover, higher MRP 4 mRNA and protein levels were found in proliferative human coronary smooth muscle cells in vitro, compared to quiescent smooth muscle cells [11]. Similarly, MRP 4 was upregulated in pulmonary arteries from patients with idiopathic pulmonary arterial hypertension as well as in mice exposed to hypoxic conditions [10]. These studies indicate that MRP 4 expression in smooth muscle cells is increased under pathologic conditions. Hence the pronounced positive effects of MRP 4 inhibition on the

functioning of mouse corpora cavernosa seen in this study, might even be greater in in vivo pathological conditions associated with ED.

VII.7 Conclusion

This study demonstrated that in mouse corpora cavernosa two distinct pathways exist to regulate intracellular cGMP levels: (i) cGMP degradation and (ii) cGMP export. Although it has been suggested that MRP 4 plays a minor role in cGMP export [12], inhibition of MRP 4 potently relaxed mouse corpora cavernosa and enhanced cGMP-dependent relaxations especially in diabetic conditions. Moreover MRP 4 inhibition elicited a pro-erectile effect in vivo. These results suggest that MRP 4, at least when targeted locally in the penis or when combined with a PDE5i, might be a valuable alternative strategy for the treatment of (diabetic) ED.

VII.8 Acknowledgements

This work was supported by a grant of the Special Investigation Fund of Ghent University (GOA 01G02410). The authors would like to thank Lies Vancraeynest and Tom Vanthuyne for the excellent technical assistance.

VII.9 References

- 1. Andersson KE, Wagner G. Physiology of penile erection. Physiol Rev. 1995;75:191-236.
- 2. Adachi M, Reid G, Schuetz JD. Therapeutic and biological importance of getting nucleotides out of cells: a case for the ABC transporters, MRP4 and 5. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2002;54:1333-1342.
- 3. Borst P, de Wolf C, van de Wetering K. Multidrug resistance-associated proteins 3, 4, and 5. Pflugers Arch. 2007;453:661-673.
- 4. Chen ZS, Lee K, Kruh GD. Transport of cyclic nucleotides and estradiol 17-beta-D-glucuronide by multidrug resistance protein 4. Resistance to 6-mercaptopurine and 6-thioguanine. J Biol Chem. 2001;276:33747-33754.
- 5. Jedlitschky G, Burchell B, Keppler D. The multidrug resistance protein 5 functions as an ATP-dependent export pump for cyclic nucleotides. J Biol Chem. 2000;275:30069-30074.
- 6. Sager G. Cyclic GMP transporters. Neurochem Int. 2004;45:865-873.
- 7. van Aubel RA, Smeets PH, Peters JG, Bindels RJ, Russel FG. The MRP4/ABCC4 gene encodes a novel apical organic anion transporter in human kidney proximal tubules: putative efflux pump for urinary cAMP and cGMP. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2002;13:595-603.
- 8. Krawutschke C, Koesling D, Russwurm M. Cyclic GMP in Vascular Relaxation: Export Is of Similar Importance as Degradation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2015;35:2011-2019.
- Dazert P, Meissner K, Vogelgesang S, Heydrich B, Eckel L, Bohm M, Warzok R, Kerb R, Brinkmann U, Schaeffeler E, Schwab M, Cascorbi I, Jedlitschky G, Kroemer HK. Expression and localization of the multidrug resistance protein 5 (MRP5/ABCC5), a cellular export pump for cyclic nucleotides, in human heart. Am J Pathol. 2003;163:1567-1577.
- 10. Hara Y, Sassi Y, Guibert C, Gambaryan N, Dorfmuller P, Eddahibi S, Lompre AM, Humbert M, Hulot JS. Inhibition of MRP4 prevents and reverses pulmonary hypertension in mice. J Clin Invest. 2011;121:2888-2897.
- Sassi Y, Lipskaia L, Vandecasteele G, Nikolaev VO, Hatem SN, Cohen Aubart F, Russel FG, Mougenot N, Vrignaud C, Lechat P, Lompre AM, Hulot JS. Multidrug resistance-associated protein 4 regulates cAMPdependent signaling pathways and controls human and rat SMC proliferation. J Clin Invest. 2008;118:2747-2757.
- 12. Nies AT, Spring H, Thon WF, Keppler D, Jedlitschky G. Immunolocalization of multidrug resistance protein 5 in the human genitourinary system. J Urol. 2002;167:2271-2275.
- 13. Rius M, Thon WF, Keppler D, Nies AT. Prostanoid transport by multidrug resistance protein 4 (MRP4/ABCC4) localized in tissues of the human urogenital tract. J Urol. 2005;174:2409-2414.
- 14. Boydens C, Pauwels B, Vanden Daele L, Van de Voorde J. Protective effect of resveratrol and quercetin on in vitro-induced diabetic mouse corpus cavernosum. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2016;15:46.
- 15. Chen ZS, Lee K, Walther S, Raftogianis RB, Kuwano M, Zeng H, Kruh GD. Analysis of methotrexate and folate transport by multidrug resistance protein 4 (ABCC4): MRP4 is a component of the methotrexate efflux system. Cancer Res. 2002;62:3144-3150.
- 16. Reid G, Wielinga P, Zelcer N, De Haas M, Van Deemter L, Wijnholds J, Balzarini J, Borst P. Characterization of the transport of nucleoside analog drugs by the human multidrug resistance proteins MRP4 and MRP5. Mol Pharmacol. 2003;63:1094-1103.
- Schrammel A, Behrends S, Schmidt K, Koesling D, Mayer B. Characterization of 1H-[1,2,4]oxadiazolo[4,3-a]quinoxalin-1-one as a heme-site inhibitor of nitric oxide-sensitive guanylyl cyclase. Mol Pharmacol. 1996;50:1-5.
- 18. Lau LC, Adaikan PG. Mechanisms of direct relaxant effect of sildenafil, tadalafil and vardenafil on corpus cavernosum. Eur J Pharmacol. 2006;541:184-190.
- 19. Gur S, Sikka SC, Pankey EA, Lasker GF, Chandra S, Kadowitz PJ, Hellstrom WJ. Effect of avanafil on rat and human corpus cavernosum. Andrologia. 2015;47:897-903.
- 20. McAuley IW, Kim NN, Min K, Goldstein I, Traish AM. Intracavernosal sildenafil facilitates penile erection independent of the nitric oxide pathway. J Androl. 2001;22:623-628.

- 21. Lies B, Groneberg D, Gambaryan S, Friebe A. Lack of effect of ODQ does not exclude cGMP signalling via NO-sensitive guanylyl cyclase. Br J Pharmacol. 2013;170:317-327.
- 22. Russel FG, Koenderink JB, Masereeuw R. Multidrug resistance protein 4 (MRP4/ABCC4): a versatile efflux transporter for drugs and signalling molecules. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 2008;29:200-207.
- 23. Hakim LS, Goldstein I. Diabetic sexual dysfunction. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am. 1996;25:379-400.
- 24. Musicki B, Burnett AL. Endothelial dysfunction in diabetic erectile dysfunction. Int J Impot Res. 2007;19:129-138.
- 25. Maher JM, Dieter MZ, Aleksunes LM, Slitt AL, Guo G, Tanaka Y, Scheffer GL, Chan JY, Manautou JE, Chen Y, Dalton TP, Yamamoto M, Klaassen CD. Oxidative and electrophilic stress induces multidrug resistanceassociated protein transporters via the nuclear factor-E2-related factor-2 transcriptional pathway. Hepatology. 2007;46:1597-1610.

Chapter VIII

Discussion and future perspectives

Chapter VIII Discussion and future perspectives

VIII.1 Modulation of vascular tone by perivascular adipose tissue

Blood flow to the organs and tissues is continuously adapted depending on their metabolic and functional needs. By changing the tone of the vascular smooth muscle cells, blood vessels alter their diameter and as a consequence blood flow to the organs and tissues is regulated. The regulation of blood flow has always been an important research topic, however the focus of vascular research has changed over the years. The earliest functional studies analyzed the effects of agents on vascular smooth muscle tone and identified receptor subtypes. With the discovery in the 1980s of nitric oxide (NO) as an endotheliumderived relaxing factor (EDRF) and its crucial role for normal vascular function, vascular research was reoriented. From then on it became clear that the endothelium is an important paracrine tissue that controls the homeostasis of the underlying vascular smooth muscle cells by producing and releasing several substances that control vascular tone [1]. Nowadays endothelial dysfunction is considered as a pivotal factor in the pathogenesis of several vascular diseases such as hypertension, atherosclerosis and erectile dysfunction which are often associated with obesity and diabetes [2-5]. The past decades, besides the endothelium and the nerve endings, perivascular adipose tissue gained attention as neighboring tissue that can control vascular smooth muscle tone through the release of vasoactive factors (adipo(cyto)kines). It has been shown that PVAT exerts a vasorelaxing ('anticontractile') effect due to the release of the 'adipocyte-derived relaxing factor(s)' (ADRF(s)) [6-10]. Dysfunctional PVAT (i.e. dysregulated adipocytokine release and structural changes in adipose tissue mass) has been observed in various disease states such as obesity and hypertension [11-15]. As a consequence besides the endothelium, PVAT is now considered as an important contributor for the development of obesity-related vascular complications [16-19]. Thus, interference with or prevention of adipose tissue dysfunction might offer a therapeutic option to treat or alleviate vascular complications as seen in for instance obese patients.

VIII.1.1 Can the relaxing influence of PVAT be positively or negatively modulated by resveratrol treatment and/or testosterone depletion?

Previously we have shown that acute hypoxia enhances the anticontractile effect of PVAT surrounding mouse aorta [20]. Since the relaxing influence of PVAT can be altered under acute hypoxia, our interest was driven to seek other circumstances that may modify the relaxing effect of PVAT. As both resveratrol and testosterone are known to influence adipose tissue function, the first part of this project studied the vasorelaxing effect of PVAT and evaluated whether this effect could be modulated by resveratrol or orchidectomy. First of all our study confirmed the importance of PVAT as paracrine regulator of vascular tone. The presence of PVAT clearly attenuated the contractile responses of the aortic segments to norepinephrine (NOR), confirming the beneficial anticontractile (vasorelaxing) effect of PVAT under physiological circumstances [6-10]. Moreover this anticontractile effect was independent of NO and cyclooxygenase (COX), suggesting potential involvement of ADRF(s) as indicated in literature [8]. Next we assessed the influence of acute addition of resveratrol on the vasorelaxing effect of PVAT. Resveratrol is a naturally occurring polyphenol found in the skin of grapes and thus highly abundant in red wine. For some years resveratrol has been broadly studied and diverse physiological actions have been ascribed including antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and anti-carcinogenic effects [21, 22]. In addition resveratrol was shown to exert anti-obesity effects through mechanisms involving down-regulation of adipogenesis and inflammatory processes [23]. Moreover resveratrol has been demonstrated to mimic the positive effects of calorie restriction in obese humans. These include improvement of insulin resistance, decreased levels of blood glucose, triglycerides and cytokines as well as decreased intrahepatic lipid content, and decreased systolic blood pressure [24, 25]. Furthermore several in vitro studies indicated that resveratrol alters the adipocytokine secretion profile of adipocytes towards a less inflamed one [24, 26-32]. Therefore it could be expected that resveratrol potentiates the vasorelaxing influence of PVAT. However, since in our study no enhanced 'anticontractile' effect of PVAT could be observed in the presence of resveratrol, our results could not confirm the beneficial potential of resveratrol addition on adipose tissue functioning as suggested by others. Instead, a lower anticontractile effect of PVAT was seen in the presence of resveratrol. In addition the beneficial relaxing effect of resveratrol was lost in presence of PVAT. These effects could be explained by a probably dual action of resveratrol: (i) a direct relaxant effect and (ii) an attenuation of vasodilatory adipo(cyto)kine production or secretion.

However, despite our 'negative' results concerning resveratrol addition, the results of this study do not allow us to draw firm conclusions with respect to resveratrol as potential therapeutic option in case of dysfunctional adipose tissue and subsequent vascular diseases. Several factors hamper addressing this question and should therefore be kept in mind.

First, experiments described in chapter IV were performed in normal, healthy conditions. As such, no dysfunctional PVAT was present that could be counteracted by resveratrol treatment. This could be important since resveratrol has been shown to alter adipo(cyto)kine secretion only in dysfunctional adipose tissue [24, 26-32]. In search of a method to render PVAT dysfunctional, we focused on the effect of orchidectomy on PVAT functioning since low levels of testosterone increase the risk of obesity, cardiovascular diseases, and even mortality in men [33, 34] through the increase of body adipose tissue mass deposition [35, 36]. In addition, testosterone depletion increases vasoreactivity of the arteries [37] and testosterone is thought to influence adipocytokine secretion [38-40]. Considering these facts, it was expected that testosterone depletion, using orchidectomy, would affect the normal functioning of PVAT leading to a decreased vasorelaxing effect of PVAT. Despite the orchidectomy that was successfully performed (indicated by atrophy of seminal vesicles), 4 weeks of testosterone depletion surprisingly did not alter the anticontractile effect of PVAT surrounding mouse aorta. The failure of orchidectomy to alter PVAT functioning in our experiments might be explained by a second point that needs to be kept in mind when investigating the paracrine role of PVAT, namely the vascular bed. Vascular beds are surrounded by PVAT that varies with anatomical location and which can be characterized either as white adipose tissue (WAT) or brown adipose tissue (BAT). While both types of PVAT share functions common with adipose tissue, such as the paracrine effects, some specific differences are present. For example, thoracic PVAT is distinct from mesenteric PVAT, as thoracic PVAT resembles BAT. All of the experiments described to evaluate the effect of resveratrol and orchidectomy on the vasorelaxing effect of PVAT, were performed on segments from the thoracic aorta, which is known to be surrounded by BAT [41]. However, unlike white PVAT, surrounding mesenteric arteries [6, 42], brown PVAT appears to be resistant to dysregulated adipocyte biology of obesity and subsequent inflammation [43]. This surprising regional difference in susceptibility to adipose tissue dysfunction is an interesting field for future research since it is currently unclear whether there are any differences regarding the paracrine (pro- or anti-contractile) effects between thoracic brown PVAT and mesenteric white PVAT, both under normal as well as under pathological conditions.

Since white PVAT surrounding mesenteric arteries, might be a more accurate model to investigate adipose tissue dysfunction as seen in obesity, a first attempt was made to explore whether the functional properties of PVAT vary among vascular beds with distinct PVAT types. Therefore additional experiments were set-up in which mouse mesenteric arteries with and without PVAT were investigated. In line with others [10, 44, 45], the presence of PVAT attenuated the contractile responses of mesenteric arteries to phenylephrine (PHE), indicating that the anticontractile effect of PVAT exists even in mesenteric arteries (Figure IX.1 in supplementary data). Next, several attempts were made to create an in vitro model for dysfunctional adipose tissue surrounding mesenteric arteries. Since oxidative stress has been found to underlie the functional changes in adipose tissue during obesity [12, 44-47], different protocols were used that are known to induce oxidative stress. Treating the mesenteric arteries with and without PVAT with palmitic acid (PA) or high concentration of glucose in combination with methylglyoxal both resulted in a loss of anticontractile effect of PVAT surrounding the mesenteric arteries. Unfortunately these promising results could no longer be reproduced systematically due to unexplained problems. As a consequence we were not able to investigate the effect of acute resveratrol addition on the functioning of PVAT surrounding mesenteric arteries under obese-like circumstances. The development of a solid in vitro method for adipose tissue dysfunction would therefore be of great value. It was reported that the anticontractile effect of PVAT in rat mesenteric arteries was lost after chronic experimental hypoxia [44, 48]. Therefore chronic hypoxia induction might offer an option to induce adipose dysfunction in our experimental set-up as well. These experiments along with future research should help to clarify whether the different PVAT depots (brown vs white) affect the overall paracrine effect of PVAT in normal as well as under pathological conditions.

Taken together, our first study suggests that acute resveratrol addition attenuates the vasorelaxing effect of PVAT. In contrast our results could not provide evidence for a modulatory role for orchidectomy on the functioning of PVAT.

VIII.2 New strategies to treat erectile dysfunction

The importance of the NO/cGMP as a key pathway for normal penile erection is well established [49]. Dysfunction of the NO/cGMP signaling pathway is believed to contribute to erectile dysfunction (ED) [49]. Currently different treatment options for ED are available, PDE- 5 inhibitors such as sildenafil, vardenafil and tadalafil being the first choice [50]. These PDE-5 inhibitors prevent the normal hydrolysis of cGMP by PDE5 and thereby cGMP accumulation is promoted, which facilitates penile smooth muscle relaxation. Therefore, PDE-5 inhibitors can reverse, to a certain degree, deficiencies in the NO/cGMP pathway. PDE-5 inhibitors have a known clinical efficacy in the treatment of ED with various etiologies and a broad range of severity [51-53]. However, the limitation in the efficacy of these agents is that a minimum or 'critical amount' of NO is necessary for these drugs to work. Nerves that are severely damaged will not be able the synthesize NO. In addition in conditions such as diabetes mellitus or in case of severe vascular disease, there is a decreased expression or activity of neuronal nitric oxide synthase (nNOS) or endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS), impaired NO release, or (reactive oxygen species (ROS)-induced) decreased bioavailability of NO which all hamper the production of sufficient amounts of cGMP [54]. If these alterations are severe, they cannot be compensated by PDE 5 inhibition. As a result 30-35 % of the patients suffering from ED fail to respond to PDE-5 inhibitors [54, 55]. Therefore the search for new and better alternatives is necessary and ongoing. Therapeutic strategies favoring NO synthesis, release or bioavailability may improve erectile function or at least enhance the efficacy of PDE-5 inhibitors when applied in combination.

VIII.2.1 Do resveratrol and/or quercetin exert positive effects on corpora cavernosa? How do they work?

The first candidates that we studied as potential new therapeutic option to treat ED, were the red wine polyphenols, resveratrol and quercetin. Both polyphenols are widely distributed in various plants, vegetables and fruit and are known for a variety of biological effects including anti-cancer, anti-inflammatory, and vascular protective effects such as a

Chapter VIII Discussion and future perspectives

vasodilatory and an antioxidant capacity [21, 22, 56, 57]. Therefore these compounds could also be of value for treating erectile dysfunction, however the effect of resveratrol or quercetin on erectile (dys)function is poorly understood. Thus the second and third study of this project evaluated whether resveratrol quercetin could also exert their beneficial vascular and antioxidant effects in erectile tissue. Our study showed that resveratrol, but not quercetin, relaxed mouse corpora cavernosa. Although we could not demonstrate a direct relaxant effect of quercetin on mouse corpora cavernosa, others found that quercetin was able to relax isolated human corpora cavernosa [58]. Several mechanisms have been proposed by which resveratrol relaxes arteries or corpora cavernosa from different species. These include both endothelium (NO/cGMP)-dependent and endothelium-independent mechanisms [59-64]. However in our study the involvement of NO in the relaxant effect of resveratrol on mouse corpora cavernosa could not be confirmed since treatment with the NOS inhibitor, L-NAME, did not decrease the relaxant effect of resveratrol on the corpora cavernosa. Moreover the contribution of cGMP in resveratrol's relaxant effect on mouse corpora cavernosa was further evaluated by focusing on soluble guanylyl cyclase (sGC), the enzyme that generates cGMP. Pharmacological inhibition of sGC using ODQ, did however not decrease the relaxant effect of resveratrol in mouse corpora cavernosa. In addition the role of sGC/cGMP in resveratrol-induced relaxations was determined more accurately using genetically modified mice. Despite the existence of two isoforms for each subunit of sGC, only the sGC $\alpha_1\beta_1$ and sGC $\alpha_2\beta_1$ heterodimers are catalytically active and found in vivo [65]. A deletion in the catalytic domain of the α_1 subunit selectively inactivates the sGC $\alpha_1\beta_1$ isoform [66]. Even in the corpora cavernosa from these $sGC\alpha_1^{-/-}$ mice, resveratrol induced concentration-dependent relaxations similar to those in the wild-type control mice. Although $sGC\alpha_1\beta_1$ is the predominant form in most tissues, including in the vascular and penile smooth muscle cells, residual activity of the $sGC\alpha_2\beta_1$ isoform should not be underestimated [67]. Hence, genetically modified knock-in mice (sGC $\beta_1^{ki/ki}$) were developed in which mutation of the histidine 105 residue of $sGC\beta_1$ to phenylalanine results in the expression of heme-free NO-insensitive sGC which affects both heterodimeric isoforms [68]. The results of the resveratrol-induced relaxations in these $sGC\beta_1^{ki/ki}$ mice are presented in a supplementary figure (Figure IX.2). However, no involvement of the sGC $\alpha_2\beta_1$ isoform could be observed. Taken together, all these results indicate that the relaxant effect of resveratrol on mouse corpora cavernosa occurs independently of NO/sGC/cGMP.

This conclusion is somehow surprising since the limited research on the effect of resveratrol on corporal tissue has provided evidence that resveratrol can elevate cGMP levels in corpora cavernosa smooth muscle cells through a NO-dependent pathway [69]. In addition, it has been reported that resveratrol normalizes the impaired endothelium-dependent relaxations of corpora cavernosa from hypercholesterolemic rabbits [70, 71]. Why our data show no involvement of the NO/cGMP pathway in corporal relaxation to resveratrol in mice, while other studies have clearly demonstrated the contribution of this pathway in the protective effect of resveratrol on corporal tissue could have several reasons. First, species differences could be an explanation. Second, our study focused on the acute effect of resveratrol on corpora cavernosa from 'healthy' mice, whereas the improvement of endotheliumdependent relaxations by resveratrol was observed in 'sick' animals as rabbits were hypercholesterolemic [70, 71]. Therefore it is possible that in resting conditions resveratrol does not induce corporal relaxations through activation of the NO/cGMP pathway or that in resting conditions this pathway and downstream effector mechanisms are not direct targets for the acute effects of resveratrol.

Next, several attempts were made to elucidate the exact underlying mechanism of resveratrol's relaxant effect in mouse corpora cavernosa. In addition to activation of the NOpathway, multiple modes of action have been identified for resveratrol. Unfortunately the use of several inhibitors of different potential molecular targets of resveratrol failed to prove the involvement of K⁺ channels, COX metabolites, heme oxygenase, adenosine receptors, the cAMP pathway or adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK). The results investigating the involvement of AMPK in the relaxant effect of resveratrol on mouse corpora cavernosa are represented in Figure IX.3. Recently a study demonstrated that the resveratrol-induced relaxations in mouse corpora cavernosa is partly dependent on H₂S formation and acts independent of eNOS pathway [72]. However only a small part of the relaxant effect of resveratrol seemed to be mediated by H₂S, suggesting that (an)other mechanism(s) must be involved as well. It thus seems that the exact mechanism(s) by which resveratrol relaxes corpora cavernosa is hard to characterize. The pleiotropic actions of resveratrol and its potential to activate distinct pathways, might explain why the relaxant effect of resveratrol on the corpora cavernosa could never be completely abolished. Maybe a cocktail of several inhibitors of different molecular pathways should be used.

Overall this study found a positive relaxant effect of resveratrol, but not quercetin, on mouse corpora cavernosa. However as yet the underlying mechanism remains elusive.

VIII.2.2 Do resveratrol and/or quercetin exert positive effects on corpora cavernosa under in vitro-diabetic conditions?

In a next step, we wanted to evaluate the effect of the red wine polyphenols on the contractility of the corpora cavernosa and arteries in conditions that are known to be associated with vascular and/or erectile dysfunction. Several reports already indicated that in diabetic or hypercholesterolemic animals resveratrol and quercetin restore impaired endothelium-dependent relaxations of different arteries and/or corpora cavernosa [70, 71, 73-76]. There is growing evidence demonstrating the role of oxidative stress in the pathophysiological mechanism of several vascular diseases including erectile dysfunction [54]. Hence, several protocols were set-up to create an oxidative stress-like environment in order to evaluate the potential positive effects of resveratrol and quercetin on the arteries and corpora cavernosa from mice in diseased conditions.

The first series of experiments were performed using palmitic acid, which is one of the most abundant saturated fatty acids in plasma. In addition, saturated fatty acids are found in elevated concentrations in obesity/diabetes [77]. It is well-documented that high levels of free fatty acid (FFA), including PA, cause oxidative stress [78-82] which is thought to underlie the impairment of endothelium-mediated relaxations after PA incubation [83, 84]. In our study PA significantly attenuated neurogenic mediated relaxations which might reflect the oxidative stress-induced damage. Of the polyphenols, only resveratrol was able to prevent PA-induced neurogenic damage. However, due to the small size of the corpora cavernosa, we were not able to perform direct oxidative stress measurement, therefore no clear conclusions could be made concerning the antioxidant capacity of resveratrol in this set-up. In addition, if PA induced oxidative stress, than it could be expected that the endothelium would be primarily affected considering its crucial role for normal vascular/corporal functioning. However in this study PA did not induce endothelial damage since endotheliummediated relaxations were not reduced. Moreover, the small restoring effect of tempol, a known antioxidant, and quercetin, which is thought to be a more potent antioxidant than resveratrol [85, 86], suggests that oxidative stress does not completely explain the PAinduced damage in our experimental set-up. Therefore another process must be involved as
well. Recently it has been suggested that in neuronal cells, PA inhibits normal autophagy [87], an important cellular process that removes damaged organelles or cellular constituents and provides energy under starvation conditions or repairs damage under stressed conditions. Interestingly resveratrol was shown to promote autophagy [88, 89] and thus this might explain why resveratrol protected the corpora cavernosa from PA-induced damage to the electrical field stimulation (EFS)-mediated relaxations.

Since PA damaged the contractility of the corpora cavernosa only to a minimal extent, a more effective way to mimick oxidative stress-like damage was sought. Therefore diabetic conditions were mimicked in vitro using the combination of high glucose and methyglyoxal (MGO), since both compounds are found in high concentrations in the plasma of diabetic patients. Moreover, both hyperglycemia and increased levels of MGO are thought to contribute to the development of the vascular complications seen in diabetes [90]. Our data with glucose/MGO indeed indicated that these acute diabetic conditions affect the endothelial and neurogenic mediated-relaxant responses of small arteries and the corpora cavernosa. In vivo this could eventually be translated into microvascular damage and erectile dysfunction. Tempol, ascorbic acid, resveratrol and quercetin were able to prevent glucose/MGO-induced damage in the mesenteric arteries. It was suggested that the degree of oxidative stress in the mesenteric arteries might be too high for both polyphenols to counteract, leading to their inability to protect these arteries from in vitro diabetic-induced damage.

In summary, in addition to a positive relaxant effect of resveratrol on mouse corpora cavernosa, the studies using PA and glucose/MGO revealed that both resveratrol and quercetin are able to protect mouse corpora cavernosa from obesity or diabetes-like damage to neurogenic and/or endothelium-mediated relaxant responses. These in vitro results suggest a potential role of both polyphenols for improving erectile function in diseased conditions. However, the study using glucose/MGO, investigated the effect of acute diabetes induction and acute polyphenol treatment in vitro and therefore the results cannot be simply extrapolated to chronic treatment or to an in vivo situation. Future experiments should confirm whether the same positive effects of resveratrol and quercetin in vitro also occur in vivo using for instance diabetic-induced mice. Until now we were unable to

Chapter VIII Discussion and future perspectives

establish a stable in vivo-model for diabetes and thus to study these compound in an in vivo set-up. However, some reports already demonstrated that chronic treatment of diabetic or hypercholesterolemic animals with resveratrol and quercetin alone or in combination with PDE-5 inhibitors significantly improved erectile function [69, 91-93]. Since we and others investigated the ability of resveratrol and quercetin to prevent diabetic-induced impairment of erectile function, the question still remains whether these polyphenols could be useful as therapeutic option for ED. This should be addressed in future experiments studying the effects of resveratrol and quercetin once erectile dysfunction is already established.

Moreover, we and others demonstrated the positive effects of resveratrol and quercetin in the cardiovascular system using preclinical studies. The next logical step would be to determine whether the observed beneficial effects are transferable to humans. However, evidence regarding the safety, optimal dosage and positive effects of polyphenols in humans is rather scarce. Only few studies demonstrated the cardioprotective activity of resveratrol and quercetin in humans through effects related to the improvement of inflammatory markers, glucose metabolism, endothelial function and the ability the lower blood pressure [94, 95]. As mentioned in the introduction, the therapeutic usage of resveratrol and quercetin is somewhat hampered by their low bioavailability. Therefore future research should focus on methods that are able to increase the bioavailability, delay the metabolism of the polyphenols or target their delivery. Currently, self-nano-emulsifying drug delivery systems (SNEDDS) and liposome- or nanotechnology based resveratrol/quercetin formulations are being developed to improve aqueous solubility and stability and to enhance targetability and the rate and extent of absorption of the polyphenols [96-100]. In addition both compounds could be used as blueprints to design and synthesize novel more potent drugs. For example, a newly developed resveratrol analog, HS-1793, does not contain the unstable double bond found in resveratrol and the positions of two of the three hydroxyl groups in the aromatic ring of HS-1793 are also different. It is found that HS-1793 is metabolically more stable and exerts cardioprotective effects [101]. Furthermore, since metabolites of resveratrol and quercetin were found to exert some biological effects as well [102-107], it would be interesting and physiologically more relevant to study the effects of resveratrol and quercetin glucuronides and sulfates on erectile function.

VIII.2.3 Does inhibition of cGMP export elicit positive relaxant responses in mouse corpora cavernosa?

It is a well-established fact that increasing cGMP is a cardinal event for normal penile erection. Therefore current therapies to treat ED are often targeted towards increasing these cGMP levels. Indeed, PDE-5 inhibitors, which inhibit cGMP degradation, represent an effective way to overcome ED. However, as previously mentioned, the urge for alternatives is necessary. In search for new therapeutic options to treat ED, the last part of this project focused on how cGMP levels could be increased in corpora cavernosa by inhibiting multidrug resistance protein (MRP)-mediated cGMP export. Recently it has become clear that in addition to degradation by PDE, export of cGMP out of the smooth muscle cells by MRP 4 and MRP 5 also determines the intracellular levels of cGMP [108-114]. Since both MRP 4 and MRP 5 expression were found in corporal smooth muscle cells [115, 116], they might represent an alternative way to increase cGMP content and thus to treat ED. Due to the lack of specific inhibitors for the different subtypes of MRPs we could only investigate the effect of MRP 4 inhibition using the leukotriene receptor inhibitor MK-571. Although MK-571 is a known leukotriene receptor inhibitor, several studies indicated that MK-571 potently inhibits MRP 4 mediated transport as well [117, 118]. MRP 4 has previously been reported as a potential target for therapeutic intervention of pulmonary arterial hypertension [119] and other cardiovascular diseases [120]. In addition the importance of cGMP export in the regulation of vascular relaxation was recently illustrated [112], suggesting that MRP 4 inhibition could be of value in corporal relaxant responses as well. However the functional effect of MRP 4 inhibition and the cGMP-dependency of this effect in corpora cavernosa was never explored. The results in our study on cGMP export, indeed showed for the first time that MK-571 potently relaxed corpora cavernosa through an increase of basal cGMP levels. This effect was less pronounced to that of sildenafil, suggesting the existence of both a degradation and a cGMP export pathway in the corpora cavernosa. Moreover, MK-571 enhanced cGMP-mediated relaxations even in diabetic mimicking conditions, suggesting that MRP 4 might be a valuable alternative target for treating (diabetic-related) ED. Although this study identified positive effects of MRP 4 inhibition on isolated cavernosal tissue, it is hard to extrapolate these in vitro findings to normal physiologic response of intact erectile tissue considering the absence of arterial flow, venous outflow, autonomic innervation and other homeostatic factors that might interfere with the cavernosal tone. As the in vivo experiments performed in this study already revealed that intracavernosal administration of MK-571 exerts pro-erectile effects, future in vivo experiments evaluating for instance oral administration should confirm the overall in vivo relevance of MRP 4 inhibition on erectile function in normal as well as in pathological conditions.

VIII.2.4 General future considerations

Based on our in vitro work, resveratrol, quercetin and MRP 4 inhibition are suggested to be useful for improving erectile function. So what concentration should be obtained in man to benefit from these positive effects? Several aspects hamper to answer this question. First, extrapolating the in vitro concentrations of for instance resveratrol used in this study that yielded beneficial effects on the erectile tissue (ranging from $10 - 100 \mu$ M) would mean that plasma concentration in man should reach about 2 250 - 22 500 ng/mL. As previously mentioned, due to the low bioavailability, these concentrations are however far above achievable considering that plasma levels of unchanged resveratrol only peaked to 539 ng/mL (or 2.4 μ M) after oral intake of 5 g of resveratrol. However due to possible species differences, the in vitro concentrations used in mouse tissues cannot be extrapolated as such to humans. Confirmation of the positive results of resveratrol, quercetin and MRP 4 inhibition found on mouse erectile tissues, is therefore necessary in human tissue. Second, in vitro concentrations of compounds needed to cause a direct relaxant effect in corpora cavernosa might be higher than their concentrations needed to exert an in vivo effect. For instance free plasma concentrations in man peak at 300 ng/mL, 400 ng/mL and 20 ng/mL after a single oral dose of sildenafil (100 mg), tadalafil (20 mg) and vardenafil (20 mg) respectively [121]. These concentrations are notably lower than the concentrations of these PDE-5 inhibitors causing direct relaxation of corpora cavernosa in vitro [122]. Thus, taken together although our studies could clearly indicate positive effects of resveratrol, quercetin and MRP 4 inhibition on the corpora cavernosa, in order to consider these compounds as potential therapeutic option to treat erectile dysfunction and to determine their effective dose, confirmation of these in vitro results is necessary in (i) human tissue and (ii) in vivo.

Resveratrol, quercetin and MRP4 inhibition showed positive effects on the erectile tissue, however, a major limitation of basically any compound that is under consideration as alternative for treating ED, is the unwanted systemic (side)effects. Indeed the perfect

therapy for treating ED is one that is specifically targeted towards the corpora cavernosa, not causing systemic (adverse) effects. At present such a compound is still an illusion. Even though the first-line therapy for ED, PDE-5 inhibitors, are widely used and have shown their efficacy in treating ED, there are several well-documented adverse effects associated with their use such as headache, facial flushing, nasal congestion, and dyspepsia [123]. These side effects are a result of their systemic dispersal following ingestion, and the target enzyme (PDE-5) being expressed in a variety of other tissues besides the corpora. Similarly the relaxant effect of resveratrol, quercetin and MK-571, that were studied in this thesis, was not restricted to the corpora cavernosa since all compounds possessed potent relaxant capacity in aorta. The results of the relaxant effect of MK-571 on mouse aorta are represented in Figure IX.5 in the supplementary data. Therefore it is not unlikely that a systemic hypotension effect would occur in vivo which would limit the use of resveratrol, quercetin or MRP 4 inhibition as alternative strategy for treating ED. However it should be noted that several PDE-5 inhibitors like sildenafil, vardenafil and taladafil also potently relax isolated aorta rings [124], yet their cardiovascular effects are usually minor [123]. Future research should clarify whether resveratrol, quercetin and MRP 4 inhibition cause, despite their in vitro vasorelaxant effect, similar minimal systemic effects. However, as systemic (side) effects might occur, other administration routes such as local application to the penis might represent a minimally invasive option to surpass potential systemic blood pressure lowering (side)effects. Recently, a new topical application and delivery method has been developed by which nanoparticles encapsulating erectogenic agents are applied as a gel to the glans and penile shaft [125]. This method has also been proven effective for the topical application of NO-releasing nanoparticles in a rat model of radical prostatectomy [126]. A topical application of nanoparticles containing erectogenic agents could avoid variation in absorption profiles, first-pass metabolism, and systemic effects, and might thus be an elegant and excellent alternative for oral medication in the future. Another way to overcome possible side effects might be to combine current PDE-5 inhibitors to the tested compound in this thesis. In chapter VII it was shown that MK-571 improved sildenafil-induced relaxations in corpora cavernosa, at least in vitro. Therefore coupling or combining MK-571 to sildenafil might be an option to specifically target the corpora cavernosa and thus limit systemic effects. Future research should reveal whether similar potentiating effects occur in vivo and whether these also account for resveratrol and quercetin.

In conclusion, our studies exploring new therapeutic options for the treatment of ED, demonstrated (i) an unraveled relaxant effect of resveratrol on mouse corpora cavernosa, even in diabetic mimicking conditions; (ii) an antioxidant effect of resveratrol and quercetin that protects mouse corpora cavenosa from diabetic-induced damage and (iii) a relaxant effect, enhancement of cGMP-mediated relaxations of mouse corpora cavernosa and proerectile effect of MRP 4 inhibition. Taken together, these results suggest that resveratrol, quercetin and MRP 4 inhibition might improve erectile function and be of value in the treatment and/or prevention of (diabetic-induced) ED. However, the in vivo relevance of resveratrol, quercetin and cGMP export still needs to be explored.

References

- 1. Furchgott RF, Zawadzki JV. The obligatory role of endothelial cells in the relaxation of arterial smooth muscle by acetylcholine. Nature. 1980;288:373-6.
- 2. Luscher TF, Yang ZH, Diederich D, Buhler FR. Endothelium-derived vasoactive substances: potential role in hypertension, atherosclerosis, and vascular occlusion. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 1989;14 Suppl 6:S63-9.
- 3. Raij L. Hypertension, endothelium, and cardiovascular risk factors. Am J Med. 1991;90:13s-18s.
- 4. Schalkwijk CG, Stehouwer CD. Vascular complications in diabetes mellitus: the role of endothelial dysfunction. Clin Sci (Lond). 2005;109:143-59.
- 5. Vanhoutte PM, Shimokawa H, Tang EH, Feletou M. Endothelial dysfunction and vascular disease. Acta Physiol (Oxf). 2009;196:193-222.
- 6. Gao YJ. Dual modulation of vascular function by perivascular adipose tissue and its potential correlation with adiposity/lipoatrophy-related vascular dysfunction. Curr Pharm Des. 2007;13:2185-92.
- 7. Gollasch M, Dubrovska G. Paracrine role for periadventitial adipose tissue in the regulation of arterial tone. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 2004;25:647-53.
- 8. Lohn M, Dubrovska G, Lauterbach B, Luft FC, Gollasch M, Sharma AM. Periadventitial fat releases a vascular relaxing factor. Faseb j. 2002;16:1057-63.
- 9. Soltis EE, Cassis LA. Influence of perivascular adipose tissue on rat aortic smooth muscle responsiveness. Clin Exp Hypertens A. 1991;13:277-96.
- 10. Verlohren S, Dubrovska G, Tsang SY, Essin K, Luft FC, Huang Y, Gollasch M. Visceral periadventitial adipose tissue regulates arterial tone of mesenteric arteries. Hypertension. 2004;44:271-6.
- 11. Achike FI, To NH, Wang H, Kwan CY. Obesity, metabolic syndrome, adipocytes and vascular function: A holistic viewpoint. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol. 2011;38:1-10.
- 12. Fernandez-Alfonso MS, Gil-Ortega M, Garcia-Prieto CF, Aranguez I, Ruiz-Gayo M, Somoza B. Mechanisms of perivascular adipose tissue dysfunction in obesity. Int J Endocrinol. 2013;2013:402053.
- 13. Galvez B, de Castro J, Herold D, Dubrovska G, Arribas S, Gonzalez MC, Aranguez I, Luft FC, Ramos MP, Gollasch M, Fernandez Alfonso MS. Perivascular adipose tissue and mesenteric vascular function in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2006;26:1297-302.
- Galvez-Prieto B, Dubrovska G, Cano MV, Delgado M, Aranguez I, Gonzalez MC, Ruiz-Gayo M, Gollasch M, Fernandez-Alfonso MS. A reduction in the amount and anti-contractile effect of periadventitial mesenteric adipose tissue precedes hypertension development in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Hypertens Res. 2008;31:1415-23.
- 15. Zeng ZH, Zhang ZH, Luo BH, He WK, Liang LY, He CC, Su CJ. The functional changes of the perivascular adipose tissue in spontaneously hypertensive rats and the effects of atorvastatin therapy. Clin Exp Hypertens. 2009;31:355-63.
- 16. Lynch FM, Withers SB, Yao Z, Werner ME, Edwards G, Weston AH, Heagerty AM. Perivascular adipose tissue-derived adiponectin activates BK(Ca) channels to induce anticontractile responses. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2013;304:H786-95.
- 17. Meijer RI, Bakker W, Alta CL, Sipkema P, Yudkin JS, Viollet B, Richter EA, Smulders YM, van Hinsbergh VW, Serne EH, Eringa EC. Perivascular adipose tissue control of insulin-induced vasoreactivity in muscle is impaired in db/db mice. Diabetes. 2013;62:590-8.
- 18. Padilla J, Vieira-Potter VJ, Jia G, Sowers JR. Role of perivascular adipose tissue on vascular reactive oxygen species in type 2 diabetes: a give-and-take relationship. Diabetes. 2015;64:1904-6.
- 19. Payne GA, Kohr MC, Tune JD. Epicardial perivascular adipose tissue as a therapeutic target in obesityrelated coronary artery disease. Br J Pharmacol. 2012;165:659-69.
- 20. Maenhaut N, Boydens C, Van de Voorde J. Hypoxia enhances the relaxing influence of perivascular adipose tissue in isolated mice aorta. Eur J Pharmacol. 2010;641:207-12.
- 21. Catalgol B, Batirel S, Taga Y, Ozer NK. Resveratrol: French paradox revisited. Front Pharmacol. 2012;3:141.
- 22. Yu W, Fu YC, Wang W. Cellular and molecular effects of resveratrol in health and disease. J Cell Biochem. 2012;113:752-9.

- 23. Kim S, Jin Y, Choi Y, Park T. Resveratrol exerts anti-obesity effects via mechanisms involving down-regulation of adipogenic and inflammatory processes in mice. Biochem Pharmacol. 2011;81:1343-51.
- 24. Olholm J, Paulsen SK, Cullberg KB, Richelsen B, Pedersen SB. Anti-inflammatory effect of resveratrol on adipokine expression and secretion in human adipose tissue explants. Int J Obes (Lond). 2010;34:1546-53.
- 25. Timmers S, Konings E, Bilet L, Houtkooper RH, van de Weijer T, Goossens GH, Hoeks J, van der Krieken S, Ryu D, Kersten S, Moonen-Kornips E, Hesselink MK, Kunz I, Schrauwen-Hinderling VB, Blaak EE, Auwerx J, Schrauwen P. Calorie restriction-like effects of 30 days of resveratrol supplementation on energy metabolism and metabolic profile in obese humans. Cell Metab. 2011;14:612-22.
- 26. Ahn J, Lee H, Kim S, Ha T. Resveratrol inhibits TNF-alpha-induced changes of adipokines in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2007;364:972-7.
- 27. Chuang CC, Martinez K, Xie G, Kennedy A, Bumrungpert A, Overman A, Jia W, McIntosh MK. Quercetin is equally or more effective than resveratrol in attenuating tumor necrosis factor-{alpha}-mediated inflammation and insulin resistance in primary human adipocytes. Am J Clin Nutr. 2010;92:1511-21.
- Kang L, Heng W, Yuan A, Baolin L, Fang H. Resveratrol modulates adipokine expression and improves insulin sensitivity in adipocytes: Relative to inhibition of inflammatory responses. Biochimie. 2010;92:789-96.
- 29. Pektas MB, Koca HB, Sadi G, Akar F. Dietary Fructose Activates Insulin Signaling and Inflammation in Adipose Tissue: Modulatory Role of Resveratrol. Biomed Res Int. 2016;2016:8014252.
- 30. Rosenow A, Noben JP, Jocken J, Kallendrusch S, Fischer-Posovszky P, Mariman EC, Renes J. Resveratrolinduced changes of the human adipocyte secretion profile. J Proteome Res. 2012;11:4733-43.
- Yen GC, Chen YC, Chang WT, Hsu CL. Effects of polyphenolic compounds on tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha)-induced changes of adipokines and oxidative stress in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. J Agric Food Chem. 2011;59:546-51.
- 32. Zhu J, Yong W, Wu X, Yu Y, Lv J, Liu C, Mao X, Zhu Y, Xu K, Han X, Liu C. Anti-inflammatory effect of resveratrol on TNF-alpha-induced MCP-1 expression in adipocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2008;369:471-7.
- 33. Navarro G, Allard C, Xu W, Mauvais-Jarvis F. The role of androgens in metabolism, obesity, and diabetes in males and females. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2015;23:713-9.
- 34. Traish AM, Miner MM, Morgentaler A, Zitzmann M. Testosterone deficiency. Am J Med. 2011;124:578-87.
- 35. Blouin K, Boivin A, Tchernof A. Androgens and body fat distribution. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2008;108:272-80.
- 36. De Maddalena C, Vodo S, Petroni A, Aloisi AM. Impact of testosterone on body fat composition. J Cell Physiol. 2012;227:3744-8.
- 37. Perez I, El Hafidi M, Carvajal K, Banos G. Castration modifies aortic vasoreactivity and serum fatty acids in a sucrose-fed rat model of metabolic syndrome. Heart Vessels. 2009;24:147-55.
- 38. Lanfranco F, Zitzmann M, Simoni M, Nieschlag E. Serum adiponectin levels in hypogonadal males: influence of testosterone replacement therapy. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2004;60:500-7.
- 39. Nishizawa H, Shimomura I, Kishida K, Maeda N, Kuriyama H, Nagaretani H, Matsuda M, Kondo H, Furuyama N, Kihara S, Nakamura T, Tochino Y, Funahashi T, Matsuzawa Y. Androgens decrease plasma adiponectin, an insulin-sensitizing adipocyte-derived protein. Diabetes. 2002;51:2734-41.
- 40. Sih R, Morley JE, Kaiser FE, Perry HM, 3rd, Patrick P, Ross C. Testosterone replacement in older hypogonadal men: a 12-month randomized controlled trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1997;82:1661-7.
- 41. Police SB, Thatcher SE, Charnigo R, Daugherty A, Cassis LA. Obesity promotes inflammation in periaortic adipose tissue and angiotensin II-induced abdominal aortic aneurysm formation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2009;29:1458-64.
- 42. Lohmann C, Schafer N, von Lukowicz T, Sokrates Stein MA, Boren J, Rutti S, Wahli W, Donath MY, Luscher TF, Matter CM. Atherosclerotic mice exhibit systemic inflammation in periadventitial and visceral adipose tissue, liver, and pancreatic islets. Atherosclerosis. 2009;207:360-7.

- 43. Fitzgibbons TP, Kogan S, Aouadi M, Hendricks GM, Straubhaar J, Czech MP. Similarity of mouse perivascular and brown adipose tissues and their resistance to diet-induced inflammation. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2011;301:H1425-37.
- 44. Greenstein AS, Khavandi K, Withers SB, Sonoyama K, Clancy O, Jeziorska M, Laing I, Yates AP, Pemberton PW, Malik RA, Heagerty AM. Local inflammation and hypoxia abolish the protective anticontractile properties of perivascular fat in obese patients. Circulation. 2009;119:1661-70.
- 45. Withers SB, Agabiti-Rosei C, Livingstone DM, Little MC, Aslam R, Malik RA, Heagerty AM. Macrophage activation is responsible for loss of anticontractile function in inflamed perivascular fat. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2011;31:908-13.
- 46. Marchesi C, Ebrahimian T, Angulo O, Paradis P, Schiffrin EL. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase uncoupling and perivascular adipose oxidative stress and inflammation contribute to vascular dysfunction in a rodent model of metabolic syndrome. Hypertension. 2009;54:1384-92.
- 47. Wang D, Wang C, Wu X, Zheng W, Sandberg K, Ji H, Welch WJ, Wilcox CS. Endothelial dysfunction and enhanced contractility in microvessels from ovariectomized rats: roles of oxidative stress and perivascular adipose tissue. Hypertension. 2014;63:1063-9.
- 48. Withers SB, Passi N, Williams AS, de Freitas D, Heagerty AM. Erythropoietin has a restorative effect on the contractility of arteries following experimental hypoxia. J Cardiovasc Dis Res. 2013;4:164-9.
- 49. Burnett AL. Nitric oxide in the penis: physiology and pathology. J Urol. 1997;157:320-4.
- 50. Williams SK, Melman A. Novel therapeutic targets for erectile dysfunction. Maturitas. 2012;71:20-7.
- 51. Jarow JP, Burnett AL, Geringer AM. Clinical efficacy of sildenafil citrate based on etiology and response to prior treatment. J Urol. 1999;162:722-5.
- 52. Rendell MS, Rajfer J, Wicker PA, Smith MD. Sildenafil for treatment of erectile dysfunction in men with diabetes: a randomized controlled trial. Sildenafil Diabetes Study Group. Jama. 1999;281:421-6.
- 53. Stuckey BG, Jadzinsky MN, Murphy LJ, Montorsi F, Kadioglu A, Fraige F, Manzano P, Deerochanawong C. Sildenafil citrate for treatment of erectile dysfunction in men with type 1 diabetes: results of a randomized controlled trial. Diabetes Care. 2003;26:279-84.
- 54. de Tejada IS. Therapeutic strategies for optimizing PDE-5 inhibitor therapy in patients with erectile dysfunction considered difficult or challenging to treat. Int J Impot Res. 2004;16 Suppl 1:S40-2.
- 55. McMahon CN, Smith CJ, Shabsigh R. Treating erectile dysfunction when PDE5 inhibitors fail. Bmj. 2006;332:589-92.
- 56. D'Andrea G. Quercetin: A flavonol with multifaceted therapeutic applications? Fitoterapia. 2015;106:256-71.
- 57. Nijveldt RJ, van Nood E, van Hoorn DE, Boelens PG, van Norren K, van Leeuwen PA. Flavonoids: a review of probable mechanisms of action and potential applications. Am J Clin Nutr. 2001;74:418-25.
- 58. Jansakul C, Tachanaparuksa K, Mulvany MJ, Sukpondma Y. Relaxant mechanisms of 3, 5, 7, 3', 4'pentamethoxyflavone on isolated human cavernosum. Eur J Pharmacol. 2012;691:235-44.
- 59. Chen CK, Pace-Asciak CR. Vasorelaxing activity of resveratrol and quercetin in isolated rat aorta. Gen Pharmacol. 1996;27:363-6.
- 60. Dalaklioglu S, Ozbey G. The potent relaxant effect of resveratrol in rat corpus cavernosum and its underlying mechanisms. Int J Impot Res. 2013;25:188-93.
- 61. Gojkovic-Bukarica L, Novakovic A, Kanjuh V, Bumbasirevic M, Lesic A, Heinle H. A role of ion channels in the endothelium-independent relaxation of rat mesenteric artery induced by resveratrol. J Pharmacol Sci. 2008;108:124-30.
- 62. Naderali EK, Smith SL, Doyle PJ, Williams G. The mechanism of resveratrol-induced vasorelaxation differs in the mesenteric resistance arteries of lean and obese rats. Clin Sci (Lond). 2001;100:55-60.
- 63. Novakovic A, Bukarica LG, Kanjuh V, Heinle H. Potassium channels-mediated vasorelaxation of rat aorta induced by resveratrol. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol. 2006;99:360-4.
- 64. Shen M, Zhao L, Wu RX, Yue SQ, Pei JM. The vasorelaxing effect of resveratrol on abdominal aorta from rats and its underlying mechanisms. Vascul Pharmacol. 2013;58:64-70.

- 65. Russwurm M, Behrends S, Harteneck C, Koesling D. Functional properties of a naturally occurring isoform of soluble guanylyl cyclase. Biochem J. 1998;335 (Pt 1):125-30.
- 66. Buys ES, Sips P, Vermeersch P, Raher MJ, Rogge E, Ichinose F, Dewerchin M, Bloch KD, Janssens S, Brouckaert P. Gender-specific hypertension and responsiveness to nitric oxide in sGCalpha1 knockout mice. Cardiovasc Res. 2008;79:179-86.
- 67. Mergia E, Russwurm M, Zoidl G, Koesling D. Major occurrence of the new alpha2beta1 isoform of NO-sensitive guanylyl cyclase in brain. Cell Signal. 2003;15:189-95.
- 68. Thoonen R, Cauwels A, Decaluwe K, Geschka S, Tainsh RE, Delanghe J, Hochepied T, De Cauwer L, Rogge E, Voet S, Sips P, Karas RH, Bloch KD, Vuylsteke M, Stasch JP, Van de Voorde J, Buys ES, Brouckaert P. Cardiovascular and pharmacological implications of haem-deficient NO-unresponsive soluble guanylate cyclase knock-in mice. Nat Commun. 2015;6:8482.
- 69. Fukuhara S, Tsujimura A, Okuda H, Yamamoto K, Takao T, Miyagawa Y, Nonomura N, Okuyama A. Vardenafil and resveratrol synergistically enhance the nitric oxide/cyclic guanosine monophosphate pathway in corpus cavernosal smooth muscle cells and its therapeutic potential for erectile dysfunction in the streptozotocin-induced diabetic rat: preliminary findings. J Sex Med. 2011;8:1061-71.
- 70. Murat N, Korhan P, Kizer O, Evcim S, Kefi A, Demir O, Gidener S, Atabey N, Esen AA. Resveratrol Protects and Restores Endothelium-Dependent Relaxation in Hypercholesterolemic Rabbit Corpus Cavernosum. J Sex Med. 2016;13:12-21.
- 71. Soner BC, Murat N, Demir O, Guven H, Esen A, Gidener S. Evaluation of vascular smooth muscle and corpus cavernosum on hypercholesterolemia. Is resveratrol promising on erectile dysfunction? Int J Impot Res. 2010;22:227-33.
- 72. Yetik-Anacak G, Dereli MV, Sevin G, Ozzayim O, Erac Y, Ahmed A. Resveratrol Stimulates Hydrogen Sulfide (H2 S) Formation to Relax Murine Corpus Cavernosum. J Sex Med. 2015;12:2004-12.
- 73. Ertug PU, Olguner AA, Ogulener N, Singirik E. Protective effect of quercetin, a polyphenolic compound, on mouse corpus cavernosum. Fundam Clin Pharmacol. 2010;24:223-32.
- 74. Machha A, Achike FI, Mustafa AM, Mustafa MR. Quercetin, a flavonoid antioxidant, modulates endothelium-derived nitric oxide bioavailability in diabetic rat aortas. Nitric Oxide. 2007;16:442-7.
- 75. Roghani M, Baluchnejadmojarad T. Mechanisms underlying vascular effect of chronic resveratrol in streptozotocin-diabetic rats. Phytother Res. 2010;24 Suppl 2:S148-54.
- 76. Silan C. The effects of chronic resveratrol treatment on vascular responsiveness of streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Biol Pharm Bull. 2008;31:897-902.
- 77. Boden G. Obesity and free fatty acids. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am. 2008;37:635-46, viii-ix.
- 78. Brodeur MR, Bouvet C, Barrette M, Moreau P. Palmitic acid increases medial calcification by inducing oxidative stress. J Vasc Res. 2013;50:430-41.
- 79. Broniarek I, Koziel A, Jarmuszkiewicz W. The effect of chronic exposure to high palmitic acid concentrations on the aerobic metabolism of human endothelial EA.hy926 cells. Pflugers Arch. 2016;468:1541-54.
- Chinen I, Shimabukuro M, Yamakawa K, Higa N, Matsuzaki T, Noguchi K, Ueda S, Sakanashi M, Takasu N. Vascular lipotoxicity: endothelial dysfunction via fatty-acid-induced reactive oxygen species overproduction in obese Zucker diabetic fatty rats. Endocrinology. 2007;148:160-5.
- 81. Lambertucci RH, Hirabara SM, Silveira Ldos R, Levada-Pires AC, Curi R, Pithon-Curi TC. Palmitate increases superoxide production through mitochondrial electron transport chain and NADPH oxidase activity in skeletal muscle cells. J Cell Physiol. 2008;216:796-804.
- 82. Zhou H, Liu X, Liu L, Yang Z, Zhang S, Tang M, Tang Y, Dong Q, Hu R. Oxidative stress and apoptosis of human brain microvascular endothelial cells induced by free fatty acids. J Int Med Res. 2009;37:1897-903.
- 83. Edirisinghe I, McCormick Hallam K, Kappagoda CT. Effect of fatty acids on endothelium-dependent relaxation in the rabbit aorta. Clin Sci (Lond). 2006;111:145-51.
- 84. Sainsbury CA, Sattar N, Connell JM, Hillier C, Petrie JR. Non-esterified fatty acids impair endotheliumdependent vasodilation in rat mesenteric resistance vessels. Clin Sci (Lond). 2004;107:625-9.

- 85. Iacopini P, Baldi M, Storchi P, Sebastiani L. Catechin, epicatechin, quercetin, rutin and resveratrol in red grape: Content, in vitro antioxidant activity and interactions. Journal of Food Composition and Analysis. 2008;21:589-98.
- 86. Lopez M, Martinez F, Del Valle C, Ferrit M, Luque R. Study of phenolic compounds as natural antioxidants by a fluorescence method. Talanta. 2003;60:609-16.
- 87. Portovedo M, Ignacio-Souza LM, Bombassaro B, Coope A, Reginato A, Razolli DS, Torsoni MA, Torsoni AS, Leal RF, Velloso LA, Milanski M. Saturated fatty acids modulate autophagy's proteins in the hypothalamus. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0119850.
- 88. Chen ML, Yi L, Jin X, Liang XY, Zhou Y, Zhang T, Xie Q, Zhou X, Chang H, Fu YJ, Zhu JD, Zhang QY, Mi MT. Resveratrol attenuates vascular endothelial inflammation by inducing autophagy through the cAMP signaling pathway. Autophagy. 2013;9:2033-45.
- 89. Park D, Jeong H, Lee MN, Koh A, Kwon O, Yang YR, Noh J, Suh PG, Park H, Ryu SH. Resveratrol induces autophagy by directly inhibiting mTOR through ATP competition. Sci Rep. 2016;6:21772.
- 90. Brouwers O, Niessen PM, Haenen G, Miyata T, Brownlee M, Stehouwer CD, De Mey JG, Schalkwijk CG. Hyperglycaemia-induced impairment of endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation in rat mesenteric arteries is mediated by intracellular methylglyoxal levels in a pathway dependent on oxidative stress. Diabetologia. 2010;53:989-1000.
- 91. Bai Y, An R. Resveratrol and sildenafil synergistically improve diabetes-associated erectile dysfunction in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Life Sci. 2015;135:43-8.
- 92. Yu W, Wan Z, Qiu XF, Chen Y, Dai YT. Resveratrol, an activator of SIRT1, restores erectile function in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Asian J Androl. 2013;15:646-51.
- 93. Zhang W, Wang Y, Yang Z, Qiu J, Ma J, Zhao Z, Bao T. Antioxidant treatment with quercetin ameliorates erectile dysfunction in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. J Biosci Bioeng. 2011;112:215-8.
- 94. Miles SL, McFarland M, Niles RM. Molecular and physiological actions of quercetin: need for clinical trials to assess its benefits in human disease. Nutr Rev. 2014;72:720-34.
- 95. Tome-Carneiro J, Larrosa M, Gonzalez-Sarrias A, Tomas-Barberan FA, Garcia-Conesa MT, Espin JC. Resveratrol and clinical trials: the crossroad from in vitro studies to human evidence. Curr Pharm Des. 2013;19:6064-93.
- 96. Basavaraj S, Betageri GV. Improved oral delivery of resveratrol using proliposomal formulation: investigation of various factors contributing to prolonged absorption of unmetabolized resveratrol. Expert Opin Drug Deliv. 2014;11:493-503.
- 97. Gokce EH, Korkmaz E, Dellera E, Sandri G, Bonferoni MC, Ozer O. Resveratrol-loaded solid lipid nanoparticles versus nanostructured lipid carriers: evaluation of antioxidant potential for dermal applications. Int J Nanomedicine. 2012;7:1841-50.
- 98. Jain S, Jain AK, Pohekar M, Thanki K. Novel self-emulsifying formulation of quercetin for improved in vivo antioxidant potential: implications for drug-induced cardiotoxicity and nephrotoxicity. Free Radic Biol Med. 2013;65:117-30.
- 99. Narayanan NK, Nargi D, Randolph C, Narayanan BA. Liposome encapsulation of curcumin and resveratrol in combination reduces prostate cancer incidence in PTEN knockout mice. Int J Cancer. 2009;125:1-8.
- 100. Wang S, Su R, Nie S, Sun M, Zhang J, Wu D, Moustaid-Moussa N. Application of nanotechnology in improving bioavailability and bioactivity of diet-derived phytochemicals. J Nutr Biochem. 2014;25:363-76.
- 101. Jeong SH, Hanh TM, Kim HK, Lee SR, Song IS, Noh SJ, Song S, Suh H, Kim N, Rhee BD, Ko KS, Han J. HS-1793, a recently developed resveratrol analogue protects rat heart against hypoxia/reoxygenation injury via attenuating mitochondrial damage. Bioorg Med Chem Lett. 2013;23:4225-9.
- 102. Calamini B, Ratia K, Malkowski MG, Cuendet M, Pezzuto JM, Santarsiero BD, Mesecar AD. Pleiotropic mechanisms facilitated by resveratrol and its metabolites. Biochem J. 2010;429:273-82.
- 103. Eseberri I, Lasa A, Churruca I, Portillo MP. Resveratrol metabolites modify adipokine expression and secretion in 3T3-L1 pre-adipocytes and mature adipocytes. PLoS One. 2013;8:e63918.
- 104. Lasa A, Churruca I, Eseberri I, Andres-Lacueva C, Portillo MP. Delipidating effect of resveratrol metabolites in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2012;56:1559-68.

- 105. Moon JH, Tsushida T, Nakahara K, Terao J. Identification of quercetin 3-O-beta-D-glucuronide as an antioxidative metabolite in rat plasma after oral administration of quercetin. Free Radic Biol Med. 2001;30:1274-85.
- 106. Shirai M, Kawai Y, Yamanishi R, Kinoshita T, Chuman H, Terao J. Effect of a conjugated quercetin metabolite, quercetin 3-glucuronide, on lipid hydroperoxide-dependent formation of reactive oxygen species in differentiated PC-12 cells. Free Radic Res. 2006;40:1047-53.
- 107. Walker J, Schueller K, Schaefer LM, Pignitter M, Esefelder L, Somoza V. Resveratrol and its metabolites inhibit pro-inflammatory effects of lipopolysaccharides in U-937 macrophages in plasma-representative concentrations. Food Funct. 2014;5:74-84.
- 108. Adachi M, Reid G, Schuetz JD. Therapeutic and biological importance of getting nucleotides out of cells: a case for the ABC transporters, MRP4 and 5. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. 2002;54:1333-42.
- 109. Borst P, de Wolf C, van de Wetering K. Multidrug resistance-associated proteins 3, 4, and 5. Pflugers Arch. 2007;453:661-73.
- 110. Chen ZS, Lee K, Kruh GD. Transport of cyclic nucleotides and estradiol 17-beta-D-glucuronide by multidrug resistance protein 4. Resistance to 6-mercaptopurine and 6-thioguanine. J Biol Chem. 2001;276:33747-54.
- 111. Jedlitschky G, Burchell B, Keppler D. The multidrug resistance protein 5 functions as an ATP-dependent export pump for cyclic nucleotides. J Biol Chem. 2000;275:30069-74.
- 112. Krawutschke C, Koesling D, Russwurm M. Cyclic GMP in Vascular Relaxation: Export Is of Similar Importance as Degradation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2015;35:2011-9.
- 113. Sager G. Cyclic GMP transporters. Neurochem Int. 2004;45:865-73.
- 114. van Aubel RA, Smeets PH, Peters JG, Bindels RJ, Russel FG. The MRP4/ABCC4 gene encodes a novel apical organic anion transporter in human kidney proximal tubules: putative efflux pump for urinary cAMP and cGMP. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2002;13:595-603.
- 115. Nies AT, Spring H, Thon WF, Keppler D, Jedlitschky G. Immunolocalization of multidrug resistance protein 5 in the human genitourinary system. J Urol. 2002;167:2271-5.
- 116. Rius M, Thon WF, Keppler D, Nies AT. Prostanoid transport by multidrug resistance protein 4 (MRP4/ABCC4) localized in tissues of the human urogenital tract. J Urol. 2005;174:2409-14.
- 117. Chen ZS, Lee K, Walther S, Raftogianis RB, Kuwano M, Zeng H, Kruh GD. Analysis of methotrexate and folate transport by multidrug resistance protein 4 (ABCC4): MRP4 is a component of the methotrexate efflux system. Cancer Res. 2002;62:3144-50.
- 118. Reid G, Wielinga P, Zelcer N, De Haas M, Van Deemter L, Wijnholds J, Balzarini J, Borst P. Characterization of the transport of nucleoside analog drugs by the human multidrug resistance proteins MRP4 and MRP5. Mol Pharmacol. 2003;63:1094-103.
- 119. Hara Y, Sassi Y, Guibert C, Gambaryan N, Dorfmuller P, Eddahibi S, Lompre AM, Humbert M, Hulot JS. Inhibition of MRP4 prevents and reverses pulmonary hypertension in mice. J Clin Invest. 2011;121:2888-97.
- 120. Belleville-Rolland T, Sassi Y, Decouture B, Dreano E, Hulot JS, Gaussem P, Bachelot-Loza C. MRP4 (ABCC4) as a potential pharmacologic target for cardiovascular disease. Pharmacol Res. 2016;107:381-9.
- 121. Bischoff E. Vardenafil preclinical trial data: potency, pharmacodynamics, pharmacokinetics, and adverse events. Int J Impot Res. 2004;16 Suppl 1:S34-7.
- 122. Lau LC, Adaikan PG. Mechanisms of direct relaxant effect of sildenafil, tadalafil and vardenafil on corpus cavernosum. Eur J Pharmacol. 2006;541:184-90.
- 123. Seftel AD. Phosphodiesterase type 5 inhibitor differentiation based on selectivity, pharmacokinetic, and efficacy profiles. Clin Cardiol. 2004;27:I14-19.
- 124. Teixeira CE, Priviero FB, Webb RC. Differential effects of the phosphodiesterase type 5 inhibitors sildenafil, vardenafil, and tadalafil in rat aorta. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2006;316:654-61.
- 125. Han G, Tar M, Kuppam DS, Friedman A, Melman A, Friedman J, Davies KP. Nanoparticles as a novel delivery vehicle for therapeutics targeting erectile dysfunction. J Sex Med. 2010;7:224-33.

126. Tar M, Cabrales P, Navati M, Adler B, Nacharaju P, Friedman AJ, Friedman J, Davies KP. Topically applied NO-releasing nanoparticles can increase intracorporal pressure and elicit spontaneous erections in a rat model of radical prostatectomy. J Sex Med. 2014;11:2903-14.

Chapter IX

Supplementary data



IX.1 Supplementary data of the effect of PVAT in mesenteric arteries

Figure IX.1 shows that phenylephrine (PHE, 1 nM – 10 μ M) elicited concentration-dependent contractions in mesenteric arteries without ((-)PVAT) and with ((+)PVAT) adherent adipose tissue. The presence of PVAT significantly attenuated contraction responses to PHE. Data are expressed as mN contraction; Mann-Whitney U test; *p<0.05; #p<0.01; n=6-7.

•





Figure IX.2 indicates the effect of resveratrol (10-100 μ M, 15 min) and corpora cavernosa from sGC $\beta_1^{ki/ki}$ mice after precontraction with norepinephrine 5 μ M. Resveratrol-induced corporal relaxations in sGC $\beta_1^{ki/ki}$ mice did not differ from those obtained in wild type controls. Data are expressed as % relaxation of the NOR-induced tone; Mann-Whitney U test; n=8.



IX.3 Supplementary data of the involvement of adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase in the relaxant effect of resveratrol on mouse corpora cavernosa

Figure IX.3 shows the relaxant effect of resveratrol on precontracted (5 μ M norepinephrine (NOR)) corpora cavernosa from Swiss mice in absence and presence of the adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase inhibitor, compound C (10 μ M). Data are expressed as % decrease of NOR-induced tone; Mann-Whitney U test; (n=9).



IX.4 Supplementary data of the effect of MK-571 on mouse aorta

Figure IX.4 shows the relaxant effect of MK-571 on precontracted (5 μ M Phe) aorta from Swiss mice versus time controls. Data are expressed as % decrease of Phe-induced tone; Mann-Whitney U test; #p<0.01 and *p<0.05; (n=4).

Chapter X

Summary

Summary

Blood flow to the organs and tissues is determined by a balance between relaxation and contraction of the smooth muscle cells in the walls of the blood vessels. Any disturbance of this balance, will result in impaired blood flow regulation which can lead to pathological conditions, such as hypertension and erectile dysfunction. Vasoactive factors released from neighboring cells (i.e. paracrine modulators) including the perivascular adipose tissue play a substantial role in the regulation of blood flow. Under physiological conditions the adipose tissue secretes vasodilatory and vasoconstrictory adipokines, which are described in **chapter III**, and elicit a net beneficial relaxing effect.

In **chapter IV**, possible alterations in the vasorelaxing effect of perivascular adipose tissue (PVAT) were investigated using an in vitro set-up based on isometric tension measurements in arteries mounted in a wire myograph. Resveratrol, a polyphenol present in the skin of grape and highly abundant in red wine, is a compound with known relaxant, antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties and exerts beneficial effects on adipogenesis as well as on adipose tissue function. We demonstrated that resveratrol decreases the relaxing influence of PVAT surrounding mouse thoracic aorta and that in presence of PVAT the positive effects of resveratrol are neutralized. This study could not provide evidence for resveratrol as potential candidate to alleviate complications associated with adipose tissue dysfunction. In addition testosterone depletion, known to affect adipose tissue distribution and functioning, did not alter the vasorelaxing effect of PVAT.

Like vascular function, erectile function depends on a delicate balance between smooth muscle contraction and relaxation. Nitric oxide (NO) with subsequent intracellular accumulation of cGMP, is generally accepted to be the main activator of arterial and corporal smooth muscle relaxation. The efficacy of phosphodiesterase-5 (PDE-5) inhibitors for the treatment of erectile dysfunction clearly demonstrate the importance of the NO/cGMP pathway for normal penile erection. However, some limitations and drawbacks in the use of PDE-5 inhibitors, necessitate research on other potential strategies and/or targets. Since the red wine polyphenols, resveratrol and quercetin have shown their beneficial effects in the cardiovascular system, the potential benefits for erectile function were explored using in vitro tension measurements. In **chapter V** it was demonstrated that

resveratrol, but not quercetin, relaxed mouse corpora cavernosa, however the underlying mechanism(s) remain(s) elusive. Furthermore, resveratrol and to a lower extent quercetin, prevented obesity-like induced damage to neurogenic-mediated relaxant responses of the corpora cavernosa. These data suggest a beneficial effect of resveratrol on erectile (dys)function.

To gain further insight whether resveratrol and quercetin could be beneficial in the treatment of diabetic-associated erectile dysfunction, an in vitro model was created to mimick the diabetic circumstances which lead to vascular and erectile dysfunction. In **chapter VI** it was found that treatment of mesenteric arteries and corpora cavernosa with high concentrations of glucose in combination with methylglyoxal, a reactive glucose metabolite, induced damage to endothelium- and neurogenic-dependent relaxations. Oxidative stress was suggested as underlying mechanism for these diabetic deficits. In the corpora cavernosa these defects were prevented by both resveratrol and quercetin. The results suggest a protective effect of both polyphenols on mouse corpora cavernosa against diabetic-induced damage.

Besides PDE's also multidrug resistance protein (MRP) 4 and MRP 5, that export cGMP out of the smooth muscle cells, determine intracellular cGMP levels. **Chapter VII** explored the functional effect of inhibiting MRP 4 in mouse corpora cavernosa in vitro to evaluate it as potential alternative target for the treatment of erectile dysfunction. Inhibition of MRP 4 relaxed mouse corpora cavernosa by increasing cGMP levels and exerted pro-erectile effects in vivo. In addition, MRP 4 inhibition enhanced cGMP-dependent relaxations, suggesting that inhibition of cGMP export might be a valid alternative strategy to treat erectile dysfunction.

In conclusion, this work demonstrates that the vasorelaxing influence of adipose tissue is not altered by testosterone depletion, while it was decreased by resveratrol administration. With respect to the erectile function studies, resveratrol, quercetin and MRP 4 inhibition exerted positive effects on the contractility of the mouse corpora cavernosa including a relaxant and/or antioxidant effect. Therefore it is suggested that resveratrol, quercetin and MRP 4 inhibition might improve erectile function and be of value in the treatment and/or prevention of (diabetic-induced) ED, alone or in combination with current therapies. **Chapter XI**

Samenvatting

Samenvatting

De doorbloeding van de organen en weefsels wordt in belangrijke mate bepaald door de balans tussen relaxatie en contractie van de gladde spiercellen in de wand van de bloedvaten. Een verstoring van deze balans leidt tot een ontregelde doorbloeding, wat op zich de ontwikkeling van verscheidene pathologische aandoeningen zoals hypertensie en erectiestoornissen in de hand kan werken. Vasoactieve substanties vrijgesteld uit naburige weefsels, ook wel paracriene modulatoren genoemd, zoals uit het vetweefsel dat de arteriën omringt (het perivasculair vetweefsel), spelen hierbij een belangrijke rol. Onder fysiologische omstandigheden stelt het vetweefsel vasodilaterende en vasocontraherende adipokines vrij (beschreven in **hoofdstuk III**) en oefent het vetweefsel hierdoor een netto positief relaxerend effect uit op de bloedvaten.

In **hoofdstuk IV** werd onderzocht welke omstandigheden het vasorelaxerend effect van het perivasculair vetweefsel kan versterken of aantasten. Hiervoor werd gebruik gemaakt van een in vitro techniek die gebaseerd is op het meten van isometrische spanningsverschillen in arteriën opgespannen in een draadmyograaf. Resveratrol, een polyfenol die voorkomt in de schil van druiven en dus teruggevonden wordt in rode wijn, is een component met gekende relaxerende, antioxidante en anti-inflammatoire eigenschappen, alsook met mogelijke gunstige effecten op de vorming en de functie van het vetweefsel. We toonden aan dat resveratrol het relaxerend effect van het vetweefsel rond de thoracale muis aorta verzwakt. Verder zorgde de aanwezigheid van het perivasculair vetweefsel ervoor dat de positieve effecten van resveratrol niet tot uiting kwamen. Deze studie kon niet bewijzen dat resveratrol complicaties die te wijten zijn aan stoornissen in de secretiefunctie van het vetweefsel zou kunnen verbeteren. Daarnaast had een tekort aan testosteron, wat de ophoping en de functie van het perivasculair vetweefsel.

Net zoals bij het functioneren van de arteriën, is het goed functioneren van het erectiele weefsel afhankelijk van een delicate balans tussen gladde spiercel contractie en relaxatie. Algemeen wordt aanvaard dat stikstofmonoxide (NO) met erop volgend een intracellulaire ophoping van het cGMP, de belangrijkste activator is van arteriële en corporale gladde spiercel relaxatie. De doeltreffendheid en het succes van fosfodiësterase-5 (PDE-5) inhibitoren bij de behandeling van erectiestoornissen illustreren duidelijk het belang van de

Chapter XI Samenvatting

NO/cGMP signaaltransductie cascade voor zowel inductie als aanhouden van een erectie. Omwille van sommige beperkingen of neveneffecten, is een behandeling met PDE-5 inhibitoren niet altijd aangewezen, wat verder wetenschappelijk onderzoek naar nieuwe potentiële strategieën en/of doelwitten noodzakelijk maakt. Aangezien de rode wijn polyfenolen resveratrol en quercetin verscheidene positieve effecten uitoefenen in het cardiovasculair systeem, werden hun mogelijke gunstige effecten voor de erectiele functie nagegaan gebruikmakend van in vitro spanningsmetingen. In **hoofdstuk V**, werd aangetoond dat resveratrol, maar niet quercetin, relaxatie veroorzaakte van corpora cavernosa van muizen. Het onderliggende mechanisme van dit relaxerend effect blijft echter ongekend. Daarenboven, kon resveratrol, en in mindere mate quercetin, de op obesitas-lijkende schade aan zenuw-afhankelijke relaxaties van de muis corpora cavernosa voorkomen. Deze resultaten suggereren dat resveratrol een positief effect kan uitoefenen op erectiele (dys)functie.

Om verder inzicht te verwerven of resveratrol en quercetin nuttig kunnen zijn bij de behandeling van diabetes-geassocieerde erectiestoornissen, werd een in vitro model gecreëerd waarbij de diabetes omstandigheden, die leiden tot vasculaire en erectiestoornissen, nagebootst werden. In **hoofdstuk VI** zagen we dat de behandeling van muis mesenterische arteriën en corpora cavernosa met hoge concentraties aan glucose in combinatie met methyglyoxal, een reactief glucose metaboliet, schade aan endotheel- en zenuw-afhankelijke relaxaties teweegbracht. Oxidatieve stress werd gevonden als onderliggend mechanisme van deze diabetische defecten. In de corpora cavernosa konden zowel resveratrol als quercetin deze schade voorkomen. Uit deze data blijkt dat beide polyfenolen de corpora cavernosa kunnen beschermen tegen schade veroorzaakt door diabetes.

Naast PDE's bepalen ook multidrug resistente eiwitten (MRP) 4 en 5 de intracellulaire hoeveelheid van cGMP, aangezien deze het intracellulair cGMP uit de gladde spiercellen kunnen transporteren. **Hoofdstuk VII** ging in vitro na wat het functioneel effect was van de belemmering van MRP 4 in de muis corpora cavernosa en evalueerde of MRP 4 een mogelijk alternatief doelwit zou kunnen zijn voor de behandeling van erectiestoornissen. Inhibitie van MRP 4 relaxeerde de muis corpora cavernosa door een stijging in cGMP te veroorzaken en lokte in vivo erectie uit. Daarenboven werden cGMP-afhankelijke relaxaties versterkt door remming van MRP 4, hetgeen doet vermoeden dat het verhinderen van cGMP export inderdaad een mogelijk alternatieve strategie kan zijn bij de behandeling van erectiestoornissen.

Samenvattend, toont dit werk aan dat de relaxerende invloed van vetweefsel onveranderd blijft door een tekort aan testosteron, terwijl resveratrol het relaxerend effect van vetweefsel afremt. Voor wat betreft de studies over de erectiele functie werd aangetoond dat resveratrol, quercetin en inhibitie van MRP 4 positieve effecten hebben op de contractiliteit van de muis corpora cavernosa via een relaxerend en/of antioxidant effect. Bijgevolg wijst dit erop dat resveratrol, quercetin en MRP 4 inhibitie de erectiele functie mogelijks zouden kunnen verbeteren en dat ze waardevol zouden kunnen zijn in de behandeling en/of preventie van (diabetes-geassocieerde) erectiestoornissen, in monotherapie of in combinatie met huidige therapieën.

Curriculum vitae

Curriculum vitae

I. Pers<u>onalia</u>

Name: Boydens Charlotte Date & place of birth: 7 June 1987, Oostende (Belgium) Address: Park ter Linden 12, B-9090 Melle Phone: +32 (0)496 34 86 00 E-mail: boydens.charlotte@gmail.com

II. Education

A. Secondary school

1999-2005 Latin-Sciences

Onze-Lieve-Vrouw College, Oostende (Great distinction)

B. University

- 2005-2008 Bachelor of Science in Biomedical Sciences Ghent University (Distinction)
- 2008-2010 Master of Science in Biomedical Sciences
 Ghent University (Great distinction)
 Master thesis: "Invloed van perivasculair vetweefsel op de bloedvattonus"
 Promotor: Prof. Dr. Apr. J. Van de Voorde
 2010-2011 Specific teacher training in Health Science

Ghent University

C. Training courses

Doctoral Training Program Health Sciences and Medicine:

Specialist course:

2015 Clinical studies: study design, implementation and reporting

Seminars in transferable skills:

2016 Knowledge for growth

III. Work experience

2011-2017 Assistant / *PhD candidate in Health Sciences* Heymans Institute of Pharmacology, Vascular Research Unit, Ghent University PhD thesis:

> "In vitro studies on the effect of red wine polyphenols and cyclic guanosine monophosphate export in the regulation of vascular and erectile tone" Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Apr. J. Van de Voorde

IV. Scientific publications in peer-reviewed journals

Boydens C, Maenhaut N, Pauwels B, Decaluwé K, Van de Voorde J. Adipose tissue as regulator of vascular tone. *Current Hypertension Reports*. 2012;14(3):270–8

Boydens C, Pauwels B, Decaluwé K, Brouckaert P, Van de Voorde J. Relaxant and antioxidant capacity of the red wine polyphenols, resveratrol and quercetin, on isolated mice corpora cavernosa. *Journal of Sexual Medicine*. 2015;12(2):303–12

Boydens C, Pauwels B, Van de Voorde J. Effect of resveratrol and orchidectomy on the vasorelaxing influence of perivascular adipose tissue. *Heart and Vessels*. 2016;31(4):608-15

Boydens C, Pauwels B, Vanden Daele L, Van de Voorde J. Protective effect of resveratrol and quercetin on in vitro-induced diabetic mouse corpus cavernosum. *Cardiovascular Diabetology*. 2016;15:46

Boydens C, Pauwels B, Vanden Daele L, Van de Voorde J. Inhibition of cyclic GMP export by multidrug resistance protein 4: a new strategy to treat erectile dysfunction? *Journal of Sexual Medicine*. In press

Maenhaut N, **Boydens C**, Van de Voorde J. Hypoxia enhances the relaxing influence of perivascular adipose tissue in isolated mice aorta. *European Journal of Pharmacology*. 2010;641(2-3):207–11

Decaluwé K, Pauwels B, **Boydens C**, Van de Voorde J. Divergent molecular mechanisms underlay CO- and CORM-2-induced relaxation of corpora cavernosa. *Journal of Sexual Medicine*. 2012;9(9):2284–92.

Van de Voorde J, Pauwels B, **Boydens C**, Decaluwé K. Adipocytokines in relation to cardiovascular disease. *Metabolism-Clinical and Experimental*. 2013;62(11):1513–21

Pauwels B, **Boydens C**, Decaluwé K, Van de Voorde J. NO-Donating oximes relax corpora cavernosa through mechanisms other than those involved in arterial relaxation. *Journal of Sexual Medicine*. 2014;11(7):1664–74

Van de Voorde J, **Boydens C**, Pauwels B, Decaluwé K. Perivascular adipose tissue, inflammation and vascular dysfunction in obesity. *Current Vascular Pharmacology*. 2014;12(3):403–11

Decaluwé K, Pauwels B, **Boydens C**, Van de Voorde J. Treatment of erectile dysfunction: new targets and strategies from recent research. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*. 2014;121:146–57

Pauwels B, **Boydens C**, Brouckaert P, Van de Voorde J. Oximes induce erection and are resistant to oxidative stress. *Journal of Sexual Medicine*. 2015;12(4):906–15

Pauwels B, **Boydens C**, Van de Voorde J. The influence of ruthenium on vascular tone. *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology*. 2015;67(9):1263–71

Vanden Daele L, **Boydens C**, Pauwels B, Van de Voorde J. Vasorelaxing effect of resveratrol on bovine retinal arteries. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*. 2016;57(4):1655–61

Pauwels B, **Boydens C**, Vanden Daele L, Van de Voorde J. Ruthenium-based nitric oxidedonating and carbon monoxide-donating molecules. *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology*. 2016;68(3):293-304

V. Abstracts and presentations

Decaluwé K, Pauwels B, **Boydens C**, Van de Voorde J. Mechanisms involved in the vasorelaxing influence of CO-releasing molecule-2 (CORM-2) on mice aorta. *Belgian Society of Physiology and Pharmacology*, Autumn meeting (2013)

Boydens C, Pauwels B, Decaluwé K, Van de Voorde J. Mechanisms involved in resveratrolinduced relaxation of isolated mice corpora cavernosa. Bullet presentation at the *Science Day Ghent University*, Gent, Belgium (2014)

Boydens C, Pauwels B, Decaluwé K, Van de Voorde J. Mechanisms involved in resveratrolinduced relaxation of isolated mice corpora cavernosa. Oral presentation at the 2nd Benelux congress on Physiology and Pharmacology (Physphar), Maastricht, The Netherlands (2014)

Pauwels B, **Boydens C**, Decaluwé K, Van de Voorde J. NO-donating oximes induce erection through mechanisms other than those involved in arterial vasodilation. 2nd Benelux congress on Physiology and Pharmacology (Physphar), Maastricht, The Netherlands (2014)

Boydens C, Pauwels B, Decaluwé K, Van de Voorde J. Mechanisms involved in resveratrolinduced relaxation of isolated mice corpora cavernosa. *Acta Physiologica*. Joint meeting of the Federation of European Physiological Societies (FEPS) and the Hungarian Physiological Society, Budapest, Hungary (2014)

Dankwoord

Pauwels B, **Boydens C**, Decaluwé K, Van de Voorde J. NO-donating oximes relax corpora cavernosa through mechanisms other than those involved in arterial relaxation. *Acta Physiologica*. Joint meeting of the Federation of European Physiological Societies (FEPS) and the Hungarian Physiological Society, Budapest, Hungary (2014)

Boydens C, Pauwels B, Decaluwé K, Brouckaert P, Van de Voorde J. Relaxant and antioxidant capacity of red wine polyphenols on isolated mice corpora cavernosa. Poster presentation at the *European Council for Cardiovascular Research* (ECCR), 18th Annual meeting, Garda, Italy (2014)

Pauwels B, **Boydens C**, Decaluwé K, Van de Voorde J. NO-donating oximes relax corpora cavernosa through mechanisms other than those involved in arterial relaxation. *European Council for Cardiovascular Research* (ECCR), 18th Annual meeting, Garda, Italy (2014)

Boydens C, Pauwels B, Van de Voorde J. Effect of resveratrol and orchidectomy on the vasorelaxing influence of perivascular adipose tissue. *Malta polyphenols*. International Society of Antioxidant in Nutrition and Health (ISAHN) (2015)

Boydens C, Pauwels B, Van de Voorde J. Effect of resveratrol and ochidectomy on the vasorelaxing influence of perivascular adipose tissue. Poster presentation at the 1st Joint meeting of the European society for Microcirculation (ESM) and European Vascular Biology Organization (EVBO), Pisa, Italy (2015)

Vanden Daele L, **Boydens C**, Pauwels B, Van de Voorde J. Vasorelaxing effect of resveratrol on bovine retinal arteries. *Belgian Society of Physiology and Pharmacology*, Autumn meeting (2015)

Boydens C, Pauwels B, Vanden Daele L, Van de Voorde J. Protective effect of resveratrol and quercetin on in vitro-induced diabetic mouse corpus cavernosum. Oral presentation at the *Belgian Society of Physiology and Pharmacology*, Spring meeting (2016)

Boydens C, Pauwels B, Vanden Daele L, Van de Voorde J. Effect of resveratrol and quercetin on in vitro-induced diabetic mouse corpus cavernosum. Poster presentation at *Knowledge for Growth* (2016)

Vanden Daele L, **Boydens C**, Pauwels B, Van de Voorde J. Vasorelaxing effect of resveratrol on bovine retinal arteries. *Knowledge for Growth*, Ghent, Belgium (2016)

Boydens C, Pauwels B, Vanden Daele L, Van de Voorde J. Protective effect of resveratrol and quercetin on in vitro-induced diabetic mouse corpus cavernosum. 7th European congress of Pharmacology (Ephar), Istanbul, Turkey (2016)
Vanden Daele L, **Boydens C**, Pauwels B, Van de Voorde J. Vasorelaxing effect of resveratrol on bovine retinal arteries. 7th European congress of Pharmacology (Ephar), Istanbul, Turkey (2016)

VI. Teaching and supervision

• Practical courses:

Spirometry (2nd Bachelor Pharmaceutical Sciences; 2nd Bachelor Dentistry; 2nd Bachelor Biomedical Sciences; 1st Bachelor Logopedics and Audiology) Blood pressure (2nd Bachelor Pharmaceutical Sciences; 1st Bachelor Logopedics and Audiology; 2nd Bachelor Biomedical Sciences) Reflexes (1st Bachelor Biomedical Sciences; 2nd Bachelor Medicine) Oxygen consumption (1st Bachelor Logopedics and Audiology, 2nd Bachelor Dentistry, 2nd Bacherlor Biomedical Sciences) Eye (2nd Bachelor Medicine) Neuro-muscular communication (2nd Bachelor Pharmaceutical Sciences)

- 'Is rode wijn drinken goed voor ons cardiovasculair system? Betekenis van resveratrol' Master thesis Pieter De Mulder (student Medicine 2013-2015)
- 'Effect van polyfenolen op glucose- en methylglyoxal-geïnhibeerde endotheel-en EVS gemedieerde relaxaties'

Master thesis John Tuypens (student Pharmaceutical Sciences 2014-2015